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INTRODUC TION

Chief Executive’s
report

Chair’s report
The COVID-19
pandemic has
presented
unprecedented
challenges which
have tested our
resilience and
will change the
way we live
and work.

Throughout this crisis, our overriding
priorities have been the safety of our staff
and visitors and protecting our horticultural
and scientific collections, across all three
Botanic Gardens and the Domain.
Our Chief Executive, Denise Ora, together
with the Executive Team, has steered the
organisation through what has been a very
challenging and complex period. I thank
Denise and all staff for their dedication
and commitment.
The pandemic has highlighted the
importance of public and outdoor
recreational spaces. Our Gardens have
remained open to continue to provide
essential green spaces to local communities.
In 2020-21, visitation to the Gardens and
Domain was significantly impacted by
COVID-19, particularly as a result of the
cancellation of events and other visitor
programs. Visitation and revenue will continue
to be affected by restrictions on assembly
and on local and international travel.
The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust is Australia’s oldest continuouslyoperating scientific institution. Following the
establishment of the Australian Institute of
Botanical Science, we have ambitious plans
to expand and elevate our role in botanical
science on a local, national, and global scale.
We are focussed on delivering great science
which has impact and on educating, training,
and inspiring the next generation of plant
scientists. We look forward to continuing to
work with our collaborators, partners, and
the community to ensure Australia’s precious
plant species are protected for generations
to come.

Philip Marcus Clark AO
Chair
Royal Botanic Gardens
and Domain Trust

The work of the Institute is supported
by our state-significant collections in the
National Herbarium of New South Wales,
the Australian PlantBank and the living
collection in our three Botanic Gardens.

The Herbarium collection will move from
its current home at the Royal Botanic
Garden Sydney, to a new state-of-the-art
facility at the Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan, in late 2021. Preparing for
the move has been a major focus this year
and is well advanced. We look forward to
opening the new facility, which is one of the
most significant botanical resources in the
Southern Hemisphere, early in 2022.
Looking to the future, long-term partnerships
with industry are key to expanding our
research and education efforts. Partnering
with the Australian Institute of Botanical
Science, a global leader in plant science,
conservation, horticulture, and environmental
education, is an excellent opportunity for
business to demonstrate its commitment
to sustainability, and to promoting science
and innovation.
The NSW Government and the Department
of Planning, Industry and Environment have
provided us with invaluable operational and
financial support during the year. We are
grateful for that support and, in collaboration
with the Department, we will be seeking to
develop new sustainable revenue sources
to better utilise our heritage assets and to
provide more opportunity for the public to
enjoy our great public spaces.

The impacts
of COVID-19
continue to test
us. Over the
last 12 months
we have made
significant
changes to the
way we operate
to ensure the
continued safety
and protection of
our staff, visitors
and of course our
state significant
collections.

Minister Stokes has confirmed the
appointment of each of the Trustees for
a further term. My colleagues and I thank
him for his continued support and
confidence in the Board of Trustees.
I thank my fellow Trustees for their hard work
and commitment during a difficult period.
Finally, I thank our philanthropic and
corporate supporters and our wonderful
volunteers for their continued support
during the year.

Denise Ora
Chief Executive
Royal Botanic Gardens
and Domain Trust

We are proud that we have been able to
remain open to support the community
during these challenging times. The
Gardens staff have shown incredible loyalty,
innovation, and resilience and I would like
to extend my sincere thanks to the entire
team for their support not just to me but
also to each other. I would also like to thank
the Trustees for their unwavering support to
management and staff.
Our public green spaces are vital to our
community. They benefit our physical and
mental wellbeing by providing opportunities
for recreation and socialising, for exercising,
for connecting with nature, or just enjoying a
change of scene. But our botanic gardens
are so much more than physical places.
Our three Botanic Gardens and the Domain
have a rich cultural heritage as significant
historical, ceremonial, and traditional trade
grounds for the Gadigal, Dharawal and
Darug peoples. Botanic Gardens have
a responsibility to lead, encourage, and
contribute to research into climate change,
and to support the United Nations
Sustainable Development Goals, particularly
relating to plants and their habitats,
biodiversity, and biosecurity. As fires,
droughts and other devastating events in
Australia have exemplified, protecting plants
is no easy task but indeed a vital one.
That is why this year we were so proud to
launch the Australian Institute of Botanical
Science. The Institute is poised to become
a world leader in plant science, established
to drive effective conservation solutions –
ensuring the survival of plants, and all life
that depends on them. The launch of the
Institute and the Institute’s Prospectus was a
momentous occasion for Australian botanical
science, and highlights the importance
of botanic gardens as critically important
scientific institutions globally.

Another stand-out achievement this year
has been the Herbarium Digitisation Project.
Digitisation of over 1 million specimens
is linked with the move of the National
Herbarium of New South Wales to a new
state-of-the-art facility at the Australian
Botanic Garden Mount Annan, planned
to be complete in late 2021 and marking a
significant milestone in the Gardens’ history.
October 2020 marked the completion of
the decoupling process of the former agency
known as Botanic Gardens and Centennial
Parklands. We are now pressing ahead with
an ambitious new Five-Year Strategic Plan,
and we are motivated by the opportunities
we see, driven by the challenges we will face,
and excited by the future we can imagine.
Our new Five-Year First Nations Engagement
Strategy aims to achieve crucial outcomes in
cultural awareness and change, employment
and retention, community engagement and
outcomes, and procurement and business
support. Our first Reconciliation Action Plan
will further advance our commitment to
reconciliation and outcomes for First Nations
cultures and peoples.
So much of our work is underpinned through
the unwavering support of the Foundation
& Friends of the Botanic Gardens, our
dedicated volunteers, our generous donors,
and valued corporate partners. Thank you
to all for your significant contribution to
botanical science and the Gardens.
The challenges of the pandemic remain many,
with direct impacts to the Trust’s tourism
offerings, major events, and educational
programs. These impacts naturally take
a financial toll. But through working with
partners, government, and stakeholders
to seek out new opportunities to sustain
the important scientific, horticultural and
education work of the Trust, I know that
our future impact will be bigger and more
positive than ever.
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Executive Team

Trustees

Philip Marcus Clark AO
Chair

Denise Ora
Chief Executive

Master of Business Law, GAICD,
Grad Dip Marketing & Communications,
Dip Project Management,
Cert Key Account Management

Carla Armanet
Director, Experiences,
Partnerships & Engagement
BA, Sport Studies, GAICD

Dr Brett Summerell
Director, Research & Chief Botanist
BScAgr (Hons), PhD

Penelope Diamantakiou

Mark Fleming

Professor Michelle Leishman

Tony Pearson

Debra Townsend

Giselle Collins

Tania Betts
Director, Corporate Services & Governance
(until 15 October 2021)
BBus, CA, AGIA, ACIS

Committee Members

Jo White
Director, Science,
Education & Conservation
BAppSC, GradDipBus

George Salouros
Director, Asset Management,
Planning & Projects
BA (Politics), LLB, MAICD, MIML

John Siemon
Director, Horticulture
B. Hort Sc (Hons)

Audit & Risk Committee

Australian Institute of Botanical Science Advisory Council

• Mark Fleming (Chair)

• Professor Michelle Leishman (Chair)

• Penelope Diamantakiou

• Giselle Collins

• Tony Pearson

• Graham Ross AM
• Richard Nunn
• Linda Broadhurst

Trustees and Committee Members are as at the date of this Annual Report
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ABOUT US

Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
Strategy 2021-2026

Our Vision

Our Purpose

Our Challenge

People, communities, institutions and
industries are informed and inspired
by our Botanic Gardens, public spaces
and the Australian Institute of Botanical
Science and are motivated to recognise
the importance of plants in their lives
and to support their conservation.

To provide solutions to critical
environmental challenges facing all
life on earth and improve the quality of
people’s lives through joyous connections
to our inspiring public spaces within our
Botanic Gardens and Domain.

To continue to build our influence,
communicate our expertise and ensure
our ongoing sustainability. To maximise
impact and protect our precious spaces
for future generations, through world
leading science, horticulture, education
and visitor experiences.

Strategic Priorities

Increase the
community’s
understanding
of our value and
rich cultural
heritage

Increase
our
engagement,
influence and
profile

Ensure a
sustainable
organisation

Solve critical
environmental
challenges

Have a truly
meaningful
effect on our
visitors and their
experiences

Build the
capacity of
our people
and strengthen
our culture

Our brand, value
and rich cultural
heritage is known
and strongly
advocated

Our expertise is
recognised, trusted,
shared and sought
out locally, nationally
and internationally
by communities,
governments and
industry

We have a
diverse, secure
and sustainable
business model
that meets Trust
objectives, maintains
and improves
the quality of our
science, horticulture,
visitor experiences,
and expands and
enhances our
existing capabilities

The Australian
Institute of Botanical
Science, our
facilities, research
capabilities, expertise
and collections are
recognised as a
global leader in plant
science

We enrich lives and
deliver positive,
memorable,
and enduring
experiences

Our people are
empowered,
engaged and
motivated, with the
capabilities, diversity
and expertise, to
deliver the strategy

WE ARE:

DARING

COLLABORATIVE

CREATIVE

KIND

INCLUSIVE

UNDERPINNED BY: Outstanding assets, safe workplaces and good governance

12

13

A N N UA L R E P O R T 2 02 0 -21
R OYA L B O TA N I C G A R D E N S A N D D O M A I N T R U S T

ABOUT US

The Royal Botanic Gardens
and Domain Trust

The Australian Botanic Garden Australian Institute of
Mount Annan
Botanical Science

The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust is the statutory body, established under
the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust Act 1980, to oversee the management
and stewardship of the Royal Botanic
Garden Sydney, the Domain, the Australian
Botanic Garden Mount Annan and the Blue
Mountains Botanic Garden Mount Tomah.

Recognised as Australia’s largest botanic
garden, the 416-hectare Australian Botanic
Garden Mount Annan is devoted to
showcasing the enormous diversity of
Australian flora.

The Royal Botanic Garden
Sydney
Occupying 30 hectares along the shores
of Sydney Harbour, the Royal Botanic
Garden Sydney is Australia’s oldest scientific
institution and one of the oldest botanic
gardens in the Southern Hemisphere.
Featuring an outstanding collection of more
than 26,000 plants from around the world,
the Garden is also home to the National
Herbarium of New South Wales with more
than 1.4 million plant specimens, including
scientific and historically significant samples
gathered by Banks and Solander during
the historic 1770 voyage of the Endeavour.
Within the Herbarium is the Daniel Solander
Library, which is the premier botanical and
horticultural library in Australia.

The Domain
Endowed with significant natural and cultural
heritage values, the Domain’s 34 hectares
of urban parkland wrap around the Royal
Botanic Garden Sydney on the edge of
Sydney’s CBD. The Domain plays a vital
role in the city’s large-scale festivals and
cultural events, in addition to the recreational
and sporting pursuits of city workers and
residents.

Located in Sydney’s south-west between
Camden and Campbelltown, the Garden
features horticultural displays in addition to
natural areas of remnant Cumberland Plain
Woodland, a critically endangered ecological
community of the region.
The Trust’s plant conservation research
facilities are based at the Garden, including
the award-winning Australian PlantBank
which houses the New South Wales
Seedbank.
The Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan will also become the new home
of the National Herbarium of New South
Wales. Construction of the new Herbarium is
currently underway and is due for completion
in 2021.
As part of the Herbarium project, a major
upgrade to the Garden’s nursery facilities
has occurred to improve plant production
infrastructure, particularly for threatened
species cultivation.

The Blue Mountains Botanic
Garden Mount Tomah
The Blue Mountains Botanic Garden Mount
Tomah is one of a kind — the only botanic
garden anywhere in the world to be located
within a UNESCO* World Heritage Site.
A showcase of local and imported cool
climate plants and alpine rainforest, the
Garden is situated 1,000 metres above sea
level in the Greater Blue Mountains and
encompasses 28 hectares of curated garden
and a further 244 hectares of wilderness.
*A World Heritage Site is a landmark or area which is selected
by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural
Organization (UNESCO) as having cultural, historical,
scientific or other form of significance, and is legally protected
by international treaties.

The Australian Institute of Botanical Science
comprises the physical and virtual scientific
collections, research services and facilities,
and staff at the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney,
the Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan and the Blue Mountains Botanic
Garden Mount Tomah. The Institute is one
of the nation’s premier botanical research
organisations and will help ensure the survival
of plants and build more resilient ecosystems
for future generations.

Department of Planning,
Industry and Environment
The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust is administered and managed by staff
employed by the Department of Planning,
Industry and Environment, who sit within the
Place, Design and Public Spaces Group led by
Alex O’Mara. Through its Place, Design and
Public Spaces group, the Department is:
• creating connected and thriving towns
and communities through place strategies
and infrastructure planning to facilitate
jobs, housing, infrastructure, services and
good growth
• enabling greener places and public spaces
that are shared
• putting place and design at the forefront
of development to sustain healthy,
thriving towns and communities into
the future
• enabling Sydney as a city within a park
and designing a sustainable future
• delivering vibrant urban places in key
Sydney precincts and regional areas.
The remit of the Place, Design and Public
Spaces Group is to influence, enable and
deliver great places for the people of NSW,
now and for the future.
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
2020-21
Global launch of the
Australian Institute
of Botanical Science

Digitising the
Herbarium collection

47

19

First Nations
Engagement Strategy
and Reconciliation
Action Plan

COVID-safe
public spaces
and events

42

44
Building a new
National Herbarium
of New South Wales

Your support

18

48
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AUSTRALIAN INSTITUTE
OF BOTANICAL
SCIENCE
The Australian Institute of
Botanical Science is one of the
nation’s premier botanical research
organisations and will help ensure
the survival of plants and build
more resilient ecosystems for
future generations.
The work is facilitated through and supported
by:
• The National Herbarium of New South
Wales
• The living collection and plant
conservation Nurseries at the Royal
Botanic Garden Sydney, Australian Botanic
Garden Mount Annan and the Blue
Mountains Botanic Garden Mount Tomah
• Research Centre for Ecosystem Resilience
• The Australian PlantBank
• Centre for Education and Engagement
• Daniel Solander Library.
Launched in March 2021, The Institute will
advance fundamental knowledge of flora
and drive effective conservation solutions
to ensure the survival of plants, and all life
that depends on them.
The launch of the Institute was marked by
the publication of a prospectus, outlining
our vision for our world leading research and
collections advancing fundamental knowledge
of plants and driving effective conservation.
The Institute’s flagship programs outlined
in the prospectus are:
• discovering, understanding and
documenting plants
• unlocking our collections
• long-term conservation
• no species need ever go extinct
• ensuring resilient ecosystems
• greening the urban environment
sustainably.

With the establishment of the Institute, we
have ambitious plans to expand and elevate
our role in botanical science on a local,
national and global scale.
As the fires, droughts and other devastating
events in Australia have exemplified,
protecting plants is no easy task but indeed
a vital one. By training and inspiring the
next generation of plant scientists, we
aspire to look forward and work with our
collaborators, partners and the community to
ensure Australia’s plant species are protected
for generations to come.

Science and Conservation
2018-2023 Strategic Plan
Significant progress was made this year in
delivering year three of the five-year Science
and Conservation Strategic Plan. There
was detailed planning for transitioning the
Herbarium Collection and staff to the new
National Herbarium of New South Wales
at the Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan. Staff input fed into design works
for the Herbarium, and good progress was
made towards completing the digitisation of
the Herbarium collection despite COVID-19
impacts.
The unprecedented 2019-20 bushfires
had severe impacts on many of Australia’s
native plants. Post-bushfire assessment and
monitoring, as well as accelerating plant
banking and conservation programs for
threatened and at-risk threatened plants,
was a major focus. A new flagship program
Securing NSW Plant Diversity was established
in 2020-21 with a supporting business case.

Global Strategy for Plant
Conservation
We are committed to contributing to the
objectives and targets set in the Global
Strategy for Plant Conservation 2011-2020,
which provides a framework for actions at
global, regional, national, and local levels to
conserve plants and vegetation communities.

The Strategy has
five key objectives:

plant diversity
is well understood,
documented and recognised

plant diversity
is urgently and
effectively conserved

plant diversity
is used in a sustainable
and equitable manner

education and awareness
about plant diversity, its role
in sustainable livelihoods and
importance to all life on
earth is promoted

the capacities and public
engagement necessary to
implement the Strategy
have been developed.

Key Performance indicators
2020-21

2019-20

2018-19

2017-18

2016-17

62 publications;
Peer reviewed scientific
publications, general articles
and presentations

98 publications;

98 publications;

79 publications;

102 presentations,
tours, lectures

113 presentations,
tours, lectures

103 presentations,
tours, lectures

22 presentations
to international
and national
conferences;

121

13 presentations to
general audiences
Species and other taxa
described or reassessed

128

69

31

24

24

Grant-funded research projects

58

37

34

32

31

Accessions of NSW threatened
species in the Seedbank

1,977

1,638

1,322

996

807

Acquisitions to
the Herbarium

3,393

4,841

5,800

7,640

9,661

Herbarium specimens
databased

4,250

11,607

10,714

10,079

5,669
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National
Herbarium
of New
South Wales
Building the new Herbarium
The work of the Institute is supported by
state significant collections found in the
National Herbarium of New South Wales.
The Herbarium will move from its current
home at the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
to a new state-of-the-art facility at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan
from late 2021. Preparing for the move
has been a major focus this year, and we’re
looking forward to opening one of the
most significant botanical resources in the
Southern Hemisphere in 2022. This complex
project requires care and planning and the
move will take at least six months.

Herbarium — planning for the
future

There are

847,474

SPECIMENS

DIGITISED

as at 30 June 2021

ABOVE:
Artist impression of the
new National Herbarium
of New South Wales

This year has seen the collections team
continue with preparation of herbarium
collections for digitisation and planning
for the move to the new Herbarium at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan
while onsite and working in the collections.
As a result of COVID-19, the balance of
work has shifted to a combination of work
onsite and from home. Databasing and data
integrity projects have taken priority for
work from home. Returning loans to other
institutions has remained a priority but has
been heavily affected by COVID-19 closures
worldwide. The loans officer has also focused
on data integrity and correspondence
working from home.
Curators have databased more than 4,000
specimens, updated geocodes for more
than 1,000 threatened species records and
continue to address user identified issues
through Atlas of Living Australia (ALA).
Approximately 200,000 specimen images
have been uploaded from the digitisation
program into our electronic collections
management system and Darwin Core
infrastructure has been updated to enable
sharing with ALA.
Pest management was a big issue over
the past year, however, with the specimen
attachers moving through the collection, and
the spot checking and triangulating of beetle

outbreaks, we were able to identify several
infestations in the collection and treat them.
By the end of the financial year, dedicated
and sustained efforts led to beetle numbers
in traps that were lower than they have been
for the past few years.
The mounting program suffered with the
absence of volunteers for extended periods
due to COVID-19. Supervisors maintained
connections with volunteers and prepared
detailed return to work plans, which saw a
staged return of volunteers to the mounting
program in late September 2020, increasing
to full team numbers in January 2021. The
team mounted more than 1,000 bulky and
complicated specimens for the digitisation
program, including Banksia, Xanthorrhoea
and cycads.
Detailed planning for the move of the
Herbarium has been progressing. Primary
projects include the development of a
tracking system to track locations of boxes by
family in the Brown Building to their location
at the new Herbarium. A tool has been
developed and implemented by botanists
and curators, that will enable removalists to
make pick lists, as well as facilitate a change
of the order of our herbarium collections to
reflect the latest taxonomic knowledge and
bring us in line with other global institutions.
We plan to have tracked 56,000 boxes ready
for the move by the end of October (subject
to COVID-19 lockdowns).

Herbarium Digitisation — the
largest digitisation project in
the Southern Hemisphere
The National Herbarium of New South
Wales continues its partnership with
Netherlands-based digitisation experts
Picturae to image over 1 million botanical
specimens housed in the collection and
transcribe the associated metadata from the
specimen labels. This is the largest digitisation
project in the Southern Hemisphere to
date and is being completed ahead of the
collection moving to the new Herbarium.
As a large volume of the collection was
unmounted, a program of attaching
specimens to their mounting sheet and
adding a bar code if needed, was developed.
As at 30 June 2021, more than 900,000
specimens had been prepared and 847,474
imaged.
Many tours were conducted to support
fundraising for the project. Unfortunately,
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the
volunteer program could not be reinstated
and a paid specimen preparation program
was established to build the stockpile of
prepared specimens for imaging.

20

21

A N N UA L R E P O R T 2 02 0 -21
R OYA L B O TA N I C G A R D E N S A N D D O M A I N T R U S T

More than 55 staff contributed to preparing
over 488,000 specimens for imaging, and a
total of 495,468 images were completed in
the 2020-21 fiscal year. Imaging remained
paused from July 2020, recommencing
mid October 2020. Work continued on
metadata transcriptions, quality control and
data processing, including uploading 800,000
images to the Amazon Web Services cloud
storage and uploading of 200,000 images to
the plant database EMu.

Plant diversity research
Staff, Honorary Research Associates and
students conducted and published research
on the taxonomy, nomenclature, systematics,
ecology and biogeography of a wide diversity
of plant groups, including, for example,
the flowering plant families Cyperaceae,
Eriocaulaceae, Fabaceae, Halagoraceae,
Myrtaceae, Lamiaceae, Lentibulariaceae,
Orchidaceae, Poaceae, Proteaceae,
Restionaceae, Rubiaceae and Rutaceae, the
liverwort (bryophyte) families Aneuraceae,
Lophocoleaceae, Lepidoziaceae and
Herzogianthaceae, and the red algal family
Rhodomelaceae. The team is conducting
more than 30 major and productive research
projects with local, state, national and/
or overseas collaborators. Projects range
from family and order wide revisions with
novel classifications published in Cyperaceae
and Myrtales, to the formal description of
genera, species, etc. new to science, novel
classification systems, species, as well as
reinstating previously synonymised taxa.
In addition, molecular and morphological
phylogenetic techniques are used to
investigate taxonomic limits of species,
genera and families, biogeography, the
evolution of plant traits, and conservation.

Funding was actively sought, with 25 grant
applications submitted, nine of which
were successful. Two fulltime postdoctoral
positions are externally funded. Student
supervision includes that of Honours, Masters
and Doctorate students, as well as providing
lectures at various universities.
Field collections provide essential material
for research and add significantly to our
knowledge of Australia’s biodiversity.
Physical collections are continuously added
to the National Herbarium of New South
Wales that are then available to researchers
worldwide. The data associated with these
collections are made available to the public
and other researchers through the NSW
Flora Online (PlantNET), Australia’s Virtual
Herbarium (AVH), the Atlas of Living
Australia (ALA), BioNET, and through our
scientific and general publications and
presentations.
Staff, Honorary Research Associates, and
students did not complete much of their
planned field work due to the COVID-19
restrictions on interstate and intrastate travel.
Nevertheless, staff travelled extensively in
NSW to collect material for various grant
funded projects. In addition, much field work
was conducted in the Greater Sydney region
for various research projects, including that of
students, and to collect material for various
outreach programs. Dr Richard Jobson,
Research Scientist – Systematic Botanist and
PhD candidate Paulo Baleeiro (Uni. Qld)
travelled to Doongmabulla mound spring
complex on the Carmichael River (Qld) to
survey Eriocaulon carsonii subsp. orientale
populations across the 160 individual springs,
as well as the Northern Territory. On some
trips, extensive general collecting was also
completed as part of our new program

AU S T R A L I A N I N S T I T U T E O F B O TA N I C A L S C I E N C E

to develop a collection targeting poorly
collected areas and taxa. Opportunistic
collections have identified species possibly
new to science, new records for NSW, as well
as significant range extensions or locations of
poorly collected taxa.

This year saw a highly significant culmination
in the systematics of Cyperaceae (sedges),
with Dr Russell Barrett, Research Scientist
and Karen Wilson AM, Honorary Research
Associate being part of an international
collaboration that saw several papers
being published that included a novel
classification for this large and important
family that included the formal description
of three novel genera (Ammothryon,
Netrostylis, Scleroschoenus) and five
subtribes (Anthelepidinae, Caustiinae,
Gymnoschoeninae, Lepidospermatinae,
Oreobolinae), as well as numerous new
combinations. Dr Kerry Gibbons, Botanical
Information Botanist formally described
Dolichocarpa, and Paranotis, that were
segregated from the Hedyotis-Oldenlandia
group in Rubiaceae, while Dr Marco Duretto,
Manager Plant Diversity and Margaret
Heslewood, Project Officer (Plant Molecular)
reinstated Cyanothamnus that had been
included in Boronia (Rutaceae).

New records for NSW and Australia, as
well as significant range extensions of many
species, are regularly documented, which
is particularly important in relation to
threatened species. In addition to Indigenous
flora, new records of alien and sometimes
potentially invasive and/or weedy species are
regularly recorded for NSW and Australia.
Botanical Information Service
— more than 700 enquiries
The Botanical Information Service (BIS)
received 734 jobs and enquiries from
the public, which included 928 physical
specimens, and retained and lodged 441 of
those specimens in the National Herbarium
of New South Wales collection. Many of
these collections are regarded as highly
significant and include 65 threatened species,
as well as significant extensions of range,
significant weeds, new records for NSW
or Australia, or species that do not have a
formal scientific name. COVID-19 restrictions
impacted the service, and new ways of
working were developed to keep
progressing jobs and enquiries.

Digitisation Project has included updating the
herbarium collections to be in line with the
Australian Plant Census and the Angiosperm
Phylogeny Group (APG IV) classification
system and while this is occurring the
NSW Flora Online has been updated
substantially with many species, genera and
family concepts added (or removed). NSW
Flora Online is heavily utilised by scientists,
students, consultants, and other users, with
more than 270,000 users over the year
(up 5.3% from 2019–20) and approximately
5 million pageviews (up 24.2% from
2019-20). Many users access the website
on a regular basis throughout the year. Daily
correspondence with our users of NSW Flora
Online is ongoing, with public input being
imperative in adding to the development
and refining of the NSW Flora Online.
Margaret Flockton Award — shining
the spotlight on botanical illustration
Curated by our Botanical Illustrators, the
17th annual Margaret Flockton Award
Exhibition for excellence in scientific
botanical illustration was launched in June.
Our Illustrators were joined on-site by
Landscape Architect and Gardening Australia
Host Costa Georgiadis and Chief Executive
Denise Ora for this Facebook Live event.
The exhibition comprised 103 artworks (43
hung, 60 on digital display) by 80 artists from
25 countries. Excited winners received their
news and responded in real time, which was
heart-warming and a fantastic experience for
all involved. More than 10,000 people have
watched the launch, many thousands have
visited the Flickr gallery and nearly 3,000
people visited the exhibition in person.

Results of our research were communicated
in 64 scientific publications and 14 seminars
and other presentations to the scientific
community. Staff also communicated
their research through floras, including the
NSW Flora online, and in more general
publications, talks to the community and
through the media.

In addition, 12 taxa warranting taxonomic
recognition but requiring further research
were identified and given standard phrase
names to ensure they were visible to the
research community and the public through
the NSW Flora Online, Australian Plant
Census and the Atlas of Living Australia.
These included Pittosporum sp. Coffs
Harbour (A.S.Benwell 342, NSW1102028)
and Fontainea sp. Coffs Harbour (A.S.Benwell
341, NSW1102027), two species that are
possibly new to science identified through
material sent to the Botanical Information
Service.

Staff and Honorary Associates provide a
significant service to the scientific community
by being editors of 103 papers in several
national and international journals, including
the house journal Telopea, as well as
conducting external peer reviews of
67 scientific papers.

Herbarium acquisitions and achievements during 2020-21 financial year

New to science: discovery and
formal description of taxa
(genera, species, subspecies, etc.)
Taxa (families, genera, species, subspecies,
etc.) that are new to science are discovered
and formally described every year by our
scientists who investigate the relationships
of various plant and algal groups. These
scientific discoveries are made through
careful examination of herbarium collections,
field and laboratory research, and data
analysis. The botanists formally described
five subtribes, five genera and 16 species new
to science, and made 96 new formal novel
combinations in the year. Additionally,
six new species of fungi were described
during 2020-21 by our mycologists.

NSW Flora Online (PlantNET) —
more than 28,000 users per month
The review of the NSW Flora Online
(PlantNET) has continued, with the intent
to identify user and contributor needs, as
well as plan for the future of this invaluable
resource. Work on the NSW Flora Online
has continued through the year with
updates as we incorporate new taxonomic
revisions, as well as species and genera that
are new to science or have been discovered
and collected in NSW or Australia for the
first time. Preparation for the Herbarium

Herbarium specimens databased

4,250

Specimen records updated

739,325

Specimens imaged

495,468

Specimen acquisitions to the National Herbarium of
New South Wales staff collections
External collections
Specimens sent by National Herbarium of New South Wales
to collaborating institutions as part of exchange programs
Daniel Solander Library

1,147 vouchers
2,246
367
395 items catalogued and 243 enquiries
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The living
collection

The living collection across our estate
is a living lab with documented
collections of plants for the purposes of
research, conservation and education.

Behind the scenes, our nurseries and
propagation facilities are critical in
the production of plants for use in
supplementing at risk plant populations.

Size ha

Taxa

% wild
collected

Total
Accessions

Accessions
added

Total
Trees*

64

8,300

17%

13,801

897

3,963

Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan

416

3,357

80%

17,561

8,341

15,488**

Blue Mountains Botanic Garden
Mount Tomah

252

5,841

34%

8,993

821

3,129

Location
Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
and the Domain

Daniel
Solander
Library
The focus for the Daniel Solander Library

Established in 1852 and
located at the Royal
Botanic Garden Sydney,
the Daniel Solander
Library is the oldest
botanical research library
in Australia and home to
a world-class collection
containing more than
250,000 items.

*Arborist managed trees (does not include trees in natural areas at Mount Annan and Mount Tomah).
**7,691 trees were planted at the Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan funded by the Climate Change Fund as part of the Greening Our City Premier’s Priority program.

continues to be on cataloguing collections,
processing donations and addressing
enquiries, much of which has been conducted
from home due to COVID-19. Volunteer
programs did not resume this year.
Donations to the library this year amounted
to a value of approximately $20,000 and
included a Wardian case book; personal
library donations from Beverly Allen, John
Thomson and Carrick Chambers; three
Batkov framed works, a Jan Woodman
painting and an algae book donation.

A B O V E : Topiary Echidna
L E F T: The living collection at the
Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
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Horticulture design
Key achievements throughout the last
financial year for the Horticulture Design
team include:

 ed refurbishments and improvements
• B
have been made to the Orchid beds,
a new Bromeliad bed and significant
enhancements to the Yellowwood
Garden to aid educational uses and
program delivery.

• development of National Herbarium
of New South Wales Landscape
Construction Plans and specifications
(Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan)

• S ue Barnsley Design has been appointed
to commence design development of an
amphitheatre for Lawn 50.
Yurong Gardens

• development of Draft Horticultural
Landscape Style Guide for the Australian
Botanic Garden Mount Annan, Blue
Mountains Botanic Garden Mount
Tomah and Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
(under development)

• T
 he Yurong precinct has seen major
pruning and clearing in Oriental Beds
97 and 112.

• development of the next Calyx 2021
exhibition design, including the green
wall and bed display (Royal Botanic
Garden Sydney)

• T
 he native border and Victoria Lodge
gardens have recently had major
plantings.
Bennelong Gardens

• a variety of horticultural refurbishments
and bed redesigns, including Bed 60 –
Camellia Garden (Royal Botanic Garden
Sydney)

• B
 ennelong precinct completed large
plantings in the native rockery.
• In July 2020 the Bennelong team ceased
maintenance of Government House
gardens.
Nursery and The Calyx

• appointment of a landscape architecture
firm to design an amphitheatre on Lawn
50 at the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
• appointment of a temporary Landscape
Designer, Sitthichat Bamrung.

• T
 he Nursery team is working on a
major propagation project to ensure
rare and threatened single accessions
are propagated and not lost from the
collection.

Special projects
• Perennial seed mixes were sown in the
Wildflower Meadow after a sustained
weed eradication program in 2020.
• Seven native beehives have been
introduced to the Garden, adding to the
population of pollinating insects.
• N
 ew Echidna topiary and ant colony
were installed in Bed 60 to replace the
much-loved Koala topiary which has
been relocated to the Australian Botanic
Garden Mount Annan.
Domain precinct
 he Robbie Burns garden has been
• T
renovated with the addition of more
flowering perennials.
• The Woolloomooloo Bay revegetation
project has seen major weed eradication
and replanting completed.
• A new lawn was installed at Mrs
Macquaries Point to resolve many
areas of extensive wear and tear in
high usage areas.

Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan

• F unding of $1,229,000 (ex GST) received
from the Minderoo Foundation for a
four-year Cultural Burning Project at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan,
with expansion to the Blue Mountains
Botanic Garden Mount Tomah in future
years.
• After an extended closure the Mountain
Bike Trail was fully restored by Wollondilly
Macarthur Mountain Bike Club, in
collaboration with the Horticulture,
Assets and Experiences, Partnerships
& Engagement teams. Beginner,
intermediate and advanced loops are
now in operation, totalling 11km of trail.
• Campbelltown City Council funded a
small extension of the Macarthur Region
Recreational Trail. The Trail is 3m wide
shared pedestrian and cycle path which,
once complete, will link Campbelltown
to Camden through the southern end of
the Garden.
• E xtensive negotiations have been held
with Sydney Water to retire an old utility
and install a 1.7km long, dual DN500
pipeline along the southern boundary
of the Garden. This work is part of the
Prospect to Macarthur upgrade, which
commenced in August 2021, with
completion in November 2021.

• T
 he inBLOOM exhibit was successfully
established and launched at the Calyx,
and an exciting new horticultural
exhibition is due to launch in late 2021.

Stage One of the Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan’s Concept Master Plan has
commenced, with the engagement of wellrenowned industry consultants to develop
a high-level strategic document to outline
the future direction of the Garden.

Landscape and open spaces

Natural areas and open spaces

Production horticulture

• T
 he Landscape team completed a
number of projects, including cleaning
of statues, building espalier fences,
installing steps and retaining walls,
paving installations and heritage repairs.

• A further $750,000 in funding received
from the Climate Change Fund, bringing
the total funding received over the last
two years to $1,416,000 (ex GST) to
enable tree planting and African olive
works, including:
-	removal, through forest mulching,
of 15ha of dense African olive on
the Mount Annan Summit. To date,
approximately 70ha of dense African
olive has been treated (a reduction
of 82%), with 15ha requiring more
tailored and expensive treatment
strategies
- 7,200 trees have been installed on the
lower slopes of Mount Annan Summit
for the Greening Our City Premier’s
Priority program. This represents the
commencement of a reforestation
project that looks to restore the
ecological value of degraded areas,
post woody weed treatment. A
further 15,300 trees are expected to
be planted next financial year.

• Completion of the new 7,000m2
production nursery, including nine 380m2
shadehouses, constructed of various
exterior material weaves, to provide
flexible production spaces to meet the
Garden’s growing conservation and
research projects.

Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
and the Domain
Palace Gardens
• Improvements have been made in the
Palace precinct, with the Rose Garden,
Bed 65a, the Herb Garden, the Native
Rainforest and the Conservatorium Beds
undergoing major renovations.
• Announcement of the annual ‘Top 40’
plants in the Trial Garden and program
expansion to include edible plants.

• N
 ew turf and irrigation were installed in
Lawn 1, and lawn improvements were
completed throughout the site during
periods of low visitation arising from
COVID-19.

Middle Gardens
• Renovations have been undertaken in the
Palm Grove, Spring Walk and Camellia
beds.

• T
 he Arboriculture team completed a
tree population survey and is working
on a tree succession plan to ensure the
Garden maintains a healthy, diverse
tree canopy percentage. The team has
improved tree health across the Garden
and the Domain with a combination of
fertiliser applications and extension of
several mulch tree pits.

• A strong partnership has been forged
with the International Camellia Society
and Camellia Ark, including nominating
International Camellia Society President,
Dr Stephen Utick, as a ‘Visiting Curator’.
• In the Fernery, plant health has been
greatly improved through the installation
of a new canopy irrigation misting
system.
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• The development of a Horticulture
Waste Management Strategy focusing
on pesticide treatment, green waste
processing, concrete recycling, steel
recycling and soil reuse.

• F unding support from the Foundation
& Friends of the Botanic Gardens of
$67,000 for the purchase of an electric
vehicle and Shadehouse 3 for the new
nursery.
• $ 150,000 secured to fund the
development of a Stage 2 nursery
business case to examine the feasibility
of upgrading the remainder of the
nursery’s critical infrastructure, including
obsolescent propagation greenhouse
infrastructure that underpins the
propagation of rare and threatened
Australian native species.

• The new nursery has propagated more
than 17,000 plants for the 5,000m2 new
National Herbarium of New South Wales
landscape.
• Continuing to work with Federal
Government agencies to save three
threatened species at the Western
Sydney International Airport site and
continue work on collaborative Save
our Species projects with the Science &
Conservation business unit.
 rivate industry partnerships with
• P
the nursery, ongoing work to capture
threatened species for State Significant
Developments. Several hundred plants of
two species presumed extinct. (Hibbertia
fumana and Hibbertia puberula) have
now been produced.

Blue Mountains Botanic
Garden Mount Tomah
Staff recruitment, training, and
development
• Horticulture staff from all three Gardens
provided expert assistance to the
National Parks and Wildlife Service
Wollemi Pine Translocation Project. This
involved three of our arborists joining
teams flown into remote locations in
the Wollemi Wilderness to carry out
replanting of translocation sites burned
in the 2019-20 bushfires.
Open space
•

A
 ll event lawns renovated and reseeded
twice to improve turf health, quality
and recovery time from events and
high visitation periods.

• A
 ll fine turf (7,615m2) monitored and
treated for broadleaf weeds, pests and
annual soil testing completed to inform
nutrition program and reduce nonessential inputs.
• Approximately 350kg of controlled
release fertiliser, 515kg of Dolomite and
90kg of Lime applied to fine turf.
• A
 ll lawns brought under control following
extended closure of the Garden due to
heavy rain landslips.
Natural areas
• C
 ompleted 12-month post-bushfire
impact assessment of natural areas burnt
in the 2019-20 bushfires. This included
quarterly photo monitoring and species
counts in 50 x 1m2 monitoring plots at
10 sites located across various ecological
communities and burn severities.

• Significant weed incursions across
approximately 30ha of the bushfire
affected natural areas brought under
control. Significant weed incursions with
biosecurity duty include Crofton Weed,
Blackberry and Lilium formosanum.
• G
 arden escapee weeds identified in
natural rainforest were removed from the
Garden’s living collection and controlled.
• All fire trails cleared and monitored.
• P
 hyto-sanitation stations and signage
installed at key entrance points to natural
areas and special areas.
• C
 arried out post bushfire monitoring
and data collection of the Garden’s
Wollemi Pine translocation site.
Arboriculture
 collection of super advanced Wollemia
• A
nobilis was relocated from the Australian
Botanic Garden Mount Annan to the
Blue Mountains Botanic Garden Mount
Tomah as part of the demolition of
the old nursery in preparation for the
construction of the National Herbarium
of New South Wales. Thirty four of the
semi-mature trees have been planted in
various locations across the natural areas.
This involved the entire Natural Areas
& Arboriculture team assistance from
several teams across all three Botanic
Gardens. Complex rigging systems
were used to lift and lower trees down
cliffs and safely into position through
the support of the National Parks and
Wildlife Service helicopter which was
used to lift seven of the trees into a semiremote location.
• All naturally occurring Eucalyptus
fastigata and E. blaxlandii within the
cultivated Garden perimeter have
been surveyed and added to the living
collection management system, IrisBG.
A total of 562 trees had measurements
taken and were geolocated by the
Plant Mapping and Records team.
• A
 pproximately 49 trees were removed
from the living collection due to
risk, death, over-representation or
insignificance in collection.
• F ollowing substantial rainfall and a major
landslip, in late March the Garden’s
arborists undertook a thorough site
assessment of tree risk across the Garden.
Inspections around the landslip sites at
the Sunrise Property Dam identified
19 unstable trees requiring removal.
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Research
Centre for
Ecosystem
Resilience

Blue Mountains Botanic Garden
Mount Tomah

Our rapidly changing world
requires rapidly evolving
science-based solutions.

Nursery
• C
 ompleted a long-overdue inventory of
plants in the nursery, followed by records
update in IrisBG.
• O
 verhauled and rearranged nursery
bench system, including development
of thematically organised benches and
plant-out workflow.
• 1
 ,773 new items accessioned through the
nursery.
Ornamental horticulture
 lanted 14,984 annual plants. These
• P
included:
-	over 5,000 annual plants for spring/
summer display; species included
Coleus, Calendula, Lobelia, Cleome,
Linaria and Alternanthera.
• P
 lanted 1,152 trees, shrubs, perennials
through the cultivated garden. These
included:
-	200 Digiplexis, 150 Agastache planted
in bed redevelopment opposite
Visitor Centre
-	approximately 600 plants installed for
rejuvenation of the Bog Garden – the
majority suitable plant material from
Plants with Bite display along with
5,000L of peat moss
-	14 additional Puya spp. planted out in
the Chilean garden around pond and
beach
-	192 Hydrangea comprising 70
different cultivars and some species.
• 60m3 of fine grade Euchi mulch was used
to re-dress secondary paths through the
Garden.

• 5
 0m3 of cow manure was incorporated
into both the formal display beds and
through the Rhododendron species
garden.
• Redevelopment of BBQ shelter
surrounds, Bog Garden, Chilean rock,
and Brunet area below lower road.
• 450 rare and threatened plants were
procured via the Tropical Mountain
Plant Science and ex situ Conservation
Project, a collaborative project with other
institutions, including the Royal Botanic
Gardens Victoria and Australian National
Botanic Gardens.
General, community engagement and
other
• S taff art exhibition Through the
Smoke, Through our Eyes gave staff an
opportunity to exhibit artworks reflecting
on their personal experience of the
2019-20 Black Summer bushfires.
• Community support following the fires,
including:
-	advice on plant identification and
reassurance for local residents
recovering from 2019-20 bushfires
-	walk and talk with local residents
in their gardens following the
2019-20 bushfires; assisting with
plant identification, removal,
weed identification and advice on
managing garden recovery
-	Arboriculture team installed habitat
boxes in trees at Katoomba Public
School after receiving request letter
and artworks from students.

• 2
 40m2 of consolidated green waste was
collected, cleaned up from around the
site and removed. In its place we received
90m2 of recycled green waste that was
distributed over malnourished garden
beds.
• The Garden was closed to the public
and staff for three weeks in late March
2021 as a result of extreme rain,
causing flooding and landslips on roads
surrounding the Garden. Major landslips
also occurred at the Sunrise property
around the Garden’s dam, in the
rainforest below the Lady Nancy Fairfax
Walk and in the lower Heath & Heather
Garden. Once the Garden was safe to
access, staff worked rapidly to bring it
under control and monitored the site
for additional landslips.

The Research Centre for Ecosystem
Resilience aims to use innovative science
and technology to investigate the factors
impacting the distribution and assembly of
plant species. Our research outcomes inform
the restoration and conservation of resilient
ecosystems. We establish technologically
advanced large-scale knowledge infrastructure
systems that inform the preservation and
restoration of plant diversity.
Restore & Renew
Restore & Renew responds to the need
for ecological restoration practitioners to
incorporate the latest science into their
toolkit, helping them to restore diverse,
resilient and adaptable ecosystems. Resilient
ecosystems need to be made up of species
that are not only adapted to the local
geology, climate and soil, but to future
conditions as well. Restore & Renew acquires
empirical knowledge on genetic diversity,
habitat availability and distributional patterns
across multiple species to deliver restoration
guidance to practitioners in easy to use
publicly available web tools.

Machinery, plant and equipment

Conservation genomics for
Saving our Species

• In collaboration with the Assets team,
successfully procured replacement
plant/machinery to upgrade fleet.
This included:
-	replacement of aging 3 x Kawasaki
Mule ATVs with Kubota models.
Improvements to fleet capacity
included increased load capacity,
lower emissions, improved ergonomics,
safety and reduced noise pollution
-	replacement of aging Gianni Ferrari
ride-on catcher mower with Toro
Proline. Improvement to quality of
cut, safety, lower emissions, improved
ergonomics and reduced noise
pollution
-	replacement of aging Toro
Groundmaster ride-on mower.

The Research Centre for Ecosystem
Resilience supports the NSW Government’s
Saving our Species Program through the
provision of genomic information to
help guide the recovery and long-term
management of threatened flora. Owing to
decreasing costs and increased efficiency, it is
now conceivable that conservation genomic
information can be used to improve the
effectiveness of recovery programs for many,
if not most, threatened plants. To support
biodiversity managers, we developed and
published a simple, standardised workflow
for genomic research that guides the
efficient collection, analysis and application
of genomic information across disparate
threatened plants. We argue for a shift away
from asking whether genomic information

is needed or justified, towards consideration
of the questions that need to be addressed.
Genomic information for nine threatened
species was generated over 2020-21 and
applied to the practical conservation of those
species with four final reports leading to
direct onground activities.
Supporting evolutionary resilient
germplasm collections
The long-term success and resilience of
ecological restoration and conservation
relies heavily on the quality of the material
available through germplasm collections.
High quality material will survive the initial
establishment phase and will be able to adapt
to future challenges. Whether stored seed,
living collections or seed production areas,
germplasm collections that maximise genetic
diversity are more likely to facilitate adaptation
than collections that are evolutionarily
unrepresentative. We are using a combination
of genomic and experimental data to deliver
collecting strategies that will optimise genetic
diversity of germplasm collections.
Rainforest evolution and conservation
Australian rainforests are highly diverse,
with the subtropical forests of northern
NSW being particularly rich in Gondwanan
lineages. Unfortunately, during the last
150 years, the impacts of logging, clearing,
urbanisation and fire have significantly
reduced the condition and extent of
rainforest vegetation in Australia. Climate
change further threatens the integrity and
long-term sustainability of these ecosystems.
Understanding how rainforest communities
are assembled, and why these assemblages
change through time can guide rainforest
preservation and restoration. In particular,
we are interested in the impact of dispersal,
historical climatic shifts, associations between
genes and environment, floristic exchanges
between continental floras, and in identifying
which rainforest areas have persisted through
time (ie. which areas are long-term refugia).
Identifying refugia and understanding the
characteristics that make vegetation persist
can help us understand which areas are
more vulnerable, and identify priority areas
for biodiversity conservation. Working with
the Big Scrub Landcare group we are also
developing evolutionary informed Seed
Production Areas for over 20 rainforest trees
commonly used in restoration projects across
northern NSW.
Myrtle rust management
We are helping to conserve plant species
that are being impacted by myrtle rust.
Myrtle rust is a disease caused by a fungus,
Austropuccinia psidii, that was first detected
in Australia in 2010. Many Australian species

in the myrtle family can be infected, and four
species have become critically endangered
due to the impacts of the disease. We are
partnering with NSW Government officers
and university researchers, with funding
from the Australian Research Council and
Saving our Species, to protect genetically
diverse collections of these plant species,
while exploring options for promoting their
resistance to the disease.
Genome research
Our research is increasingly conducted at
whole genome scale, and we have partnered
with university researchers to develop genomic
resources for a number of our study species.
We are currently working in externally funded
(Genomics for Australian Plants, Threatened
Species Initiative, Australian Research Council),
collaborative projects leading to the assembly
of a range of representative genomes
(including threatened species such as the
Wollemi Pine, and common species such as
the NSW Waratah). These resources enable
studies that aim to identify parts of the
genome that influence important outcomes,
such as conferring resistance to a disease,
or limiting reproduction between different
groups of plants (leading to the formation of
separate species).
Aboriginal food plant dispersal
This multidisciplinary project aims to retrace
the dispersal of native food trees by precolonial Aboriginal people, with a focus
on Black Bean (Castanospermum australe)
and Bunya Pine (Araucaria bidwillii). In an
Australian Research Council funded project,
we are combining plant whole-genomesequence data with biocultural evidence
to investigate whether population genetic
links within each species correspond with
Aboriginal cultural pathways. We will also
estimate the timing of dispersal events with
coalescent models to determine whether
ancient people expanded the natural range
of the two species. The findings from this
project will deepen our understanding of
ancient plant cultivation practices and how
Aboriginal custodianship has influenced the
ecology and evolution of the Australian flora.
Environmental microbiome
Microbial communities are an essential
component of natural ecosystems, associated
with increasing ecosystem function and
productivity, but are often overlooked in
our understanding of ecosystem resilience
and conservation. While we are aware of
the multitude of roles microbes play in the
maintenance of ecosystem processes, little is
known about the hidden microbial diversity
in Australian native plants and what roles they
play. With a focus on endophytes – fungi or
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bacteria that live within plants, we combine
traditional culturing and cutting edge DNA
technologies, to increase our understanding
of the patterns of microbial diversity,
abundance and spatial dynamics in different
host tissues across a range of ecosystems.
This knowledge provides a more complete
understanding of the complexities and
diversity in natural ecosystems and how
this should be considered in restoration
and conservation management.

Australian
PlantBank

Speciation and species delineation

The 2020-21 season was the third for the
Royal Botanic Garden Sydney’s ex situ seed
program with Department of Planning,
Industry and Environment (DPIE), Saving
our Species (SoS), a project concentrating
on seed banking of NSW’s most threatened
plants. This season saw the first favourable
conditions after the recent years of fire and
drought, and the opportunity for collecting
was seized by the Seedbank team, who made
over 300 new threatened species collections
representing 120 species from across the
state. These included 14 species new to the
PlantBank vault for which collections are
fully databased and processed. Key collecting
areas included Western NSW, the Monaro
Plain, Australian Alps and the New England
Tablelands. Many of these areas were heavily
affected by the Black Summer bushfires of
2019-20 and the affected plant communities
were in critical regrowth phase that offered
collecting opportunities for key target species
during 2020-21.

Threatened species research
and conservation — across a
diverse range of projects

Defining speciation processes by integrating
genomic, morphological and environmental
data across a range of native species is
critical for understanding evolutionary
processes and supporting conservation and
management of our unique flora. We explore
recent radiations, hybridisation fronts,
polyploidisation, adaptive divergences and
much more with a recent focus on eucalypts,
banksias and other species-rich native genera.
Weed genomics for improved management
Invasive plants cost millions of dollars in
economic and environmental impacts
every year. Understanding a weed’s origin,
genetic make-up, and reproductive processes
enables more effective management by
unlocking targeted control methods (such
as natural enemies, ie. biological control
agents). We deliver fundamental insights
into the population genomics of invasive
plants, which help to advance evidencebased approaches to weed management.
Our findings support research partners
and stakeholders to develop and adopt
innovative solutions to improve control of
established weeds. Funding was secured from
the Australian Government’s ‘Advancing
Pest Animal and Weed Control Solutions’
program to generate genomic resources for
lantana (Lantana camara), one of the worst
environmental weeds in Australia.

Significant collections made during 2020-21
include:
 he first targeted wild seed collections
• T
of endangered Goodenia nocoloche,
an ephemeral wetland herb only known
from remote, often dry lakes in the Paroo
and Bulloo River systems west of Bourke.
As these wetlands rarely fill, Goodenia
nocoloche has only been observed in
the wild a handful of times prior to these
collections.

Phytophthora management
Phytophthora is a soil borne plant pathogen
that causes devastating root rot and dieback.
Phytophthora cinnamomi infects a broad
range of plant species (>2000) and occurs
widely across Australia. Recognised by both
the NSW and Commonwealth Governments
as ‘a key threatening process’ to our
biodiversity, its impact in natural ecosystems
includes changes in floristic structure,
diversity, and ecological processes, along with
changes in animal species abundance and
population structure. We are focussing on
managing phytophthora in NSW by further
understanding its biology and ecology,
determining its susceptibility to threatened
species, assessing ways to control its spread
and analysing its risks at the landscape scale.

• First collections of seed and herbarium
vouchers of several orchid taxa from
the Southern Tablelands and Riverina,
including critically endangered
Prasophyllum innubum, a poorly known
and difficult to identify orchid only known
from a few small areas on the Bago
Plateau near Tumbarumba. This work was
done in collaboration with other research
institutes investigating pollination ecology
and population dynamics.
Joel Cohen collecting leaf
tissue samples for DNA
analysis of Elaeodendron
australe fruit in Planchonella
Nature Reserve

• T
 he securing of seed of endangered
Acacia carneorum for the first time from
south west of Menindee, Western NSW.
Collecting seeds from this rare shrub
is extremely difficult because it occurs

mostly in sterile, clonal clumps with only
a single population known to sporadically
produce fruit.
• T
 he Black Summer bushfires of 201920 attracted significant public and
social media, but also gave rise to the
appearance of the rare and ephemeral
Pink Flannel Flower (Actinotus forsythii).
The Seedbank team made the most of
this rare and spectacular appearance
to secure six collections from five
populations in the Blue Mountains and
the Southern Tablelands. It is anticipated
that this species will be incorporated
into the summer flower displays at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan.
Threatened species translocations
The establishment of additional wild
populations (via conservation translocations)
is necessary to secure some species in the
longer term and safeguard against extinction.
Under the SoS program, the Trust delivered
an integrated approach to conservation
translocations which brings together expertise
in conservation genetics, seedbanking,
germination research and nursery production
resulting in plants being reintroduced into the
wild, including a second planting of Wollemia
nobilis. The severe and extensive summer
fires of 2019-20 had significant impact on
the initial translocation, and the potential
recovery of plants in the wild is being
monitored. Translocations were conducted
for two endangered Persoonia species on
mining rehabilitation areas in May 2021. A
total of 90 Persoonia hirsuta plants and 80
Persoonia hindii plants were translocated by
the Germplasm Conservation team and will
be monitored for growth and survival over
the coming years. These translocations are
a testament to our long-term partnership
with the Australian Coal Industry’s Research
Program (ACARP) and the success of
our research program to propagate these
notoriously difficult-to-grow plants.
Terrestrial orchid conservation
The Germplasm Conservation team’s current
SoS research projects continue to have a
strong focus on threatened terrestrial orchids,
which have complex seed germination
requirements and symbiotic soil fungi
associations. Dr Zoe Joy Newby, Scientific
Officer and Jessica Wait, Technical Officer
made multiple field trips to hand pollinate
and collect seed for three threatened orchid
species. These projects aim to improve
propagation techniques and produce
plants for ex situ populations and future
translocations. Significant progress was made
for a number of species, and further work
is planned to investigate the steps required
to return these species to the wild. Work
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commenced on establishing propagation
techniques for two species of underground
orchids, Rhizanthella slateri and R. speciosa,
with a view to establishing ex situ populations
of these two highly threatened species,
and to provide material for the training of
detection dogs.
The Australian Rainforest Seed
Conservation Project — providing global
solutions to critical issues
The world’s rainforests are under threat of
extinction due to habitat fragmentation,
plant disease and climate change, and were
further impacted by the bushfires. If current
rates of deforestation continue, they will
disappear completely within the next 100
years. More than 80% of the Greater Blue
Mountains World Heritage Area and 54%
of the Gondwana Rainforest World Heritage
Area was impacted by the 2019-20 bushfires.
Funding was received in mid 2021 from the
Minderoo Foundation to research the ex situ
conservation of species from this area. This
includes assessing the storage potential of
seeds from rainforest species. If the seeds
cannot be stored by conventional means –
dry and in the freezer, alternative techniques
are being explored to conserve them, such
as tissue culture, cryogenic storage of tissues
(ultra-cold temperatures), as well as using our
botanic garden networks to provide refuge
for the most vulnerable species. Our current
focus is on species from the Myrtaceae
family, which are dying out in the forests due
to a fungus called myrtle rust, which only
came into Australia a few short years ago. A
number of once common species are now
considered threatened with extinction in
the wild. We have been collecting, growing
and conserving as much material of the
most threatened of these plants as possible,

working with other experts to alleviate
this existential threat to our rainforests.
Dr Karen Sommerville, Rainforest Conservation
Scientist gave presentations on The
other pandemic: Can we save our native
plants from extinction? at TEDxSydney in
November 2020 and another talk on our
work at the National Myrtle Rust Symposium
in Ballina in March 2021.
Through complex scientific analysis, our
scientists are working to discover the best
ways to grow and store rainforest seeds for
future conservation purposes. The team,
led by Dr Karen Sommerville and Dr Cathy
Offord, Manager of Germplasm Conservation,
is working to deliver real solutions to this
critical environmental and biodiversity issue.
The findings from this project are providing
global solutions to the conservation of
rainforest plants. A paper was published in
the journal Biodiversity and Conservation that
summarises our work to date and provides
a key to assessing whether the seeds of a
rainforest species can be seedbanked.

Seed collection development
The five yearly stocktake was completed in
May and June 2021. While this is an extensive
task on its own, staff took the initiative to
introduce a new barcode labelling system
that will improve the accuracy of record
management and reporting and will assist in
streamlining stock movements and future
stocktakes.
Post bushfire seed collections and ecological
recovery has provided additional external
funding opportunities through the Australian
Seedbank Partnership, including Federal
and UK government funding to support
conservation seed collections and post-fire
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species assessments. The PlantBank team
developed rapid post-fire assessment
methodology which was subsequently
adopted nationwide by the partners to the
Australian Seedbank Partnership.
Staff from the Seedbank and Germplasm
Conservation teams provided significant
contributions (including lead authorship on
several chapters), to both the revision of the
Florabank Guidelines and the 3rd edition of
Plant Germplasm Conservation in Australia
– strategies and guidelines for developing,
managing and utilising ex situ collections.
These documents are significant national and
international contributions to the utilisation
and conservation of native seed.
The Seedbank program expanded into DNA
sampling, with a focus on species from the
Brigalow Belt (NE NSW and Queensland) as
part of a three-year HSBC funded project.
Over 400 plant DNA samples were gathered
from across the state to support population
genomic analysis to guide seed collecting and
restoration for this restricted vegetation type.
Outgoing seed exchanges continue to be
significant, with the Seedbank providing large
quantities of mainly local wild-provenance
accessions for major new tree plantings
across the Mount Annan summit following
African olive removal and for the new
herbarium landscape. Local provenance
seed has been supplied to a research project
investigating the use of drone technology
in on site ecological restoration work and
will support work over the next three years
following the announcement of an Australian
Research Conservation Linkage Grant in
conjunction with Western Sydney University.

NSW Seedbank statistics
Current as at 30 June 2021
Total number NSW seedbearing species
NSW threatened plant species (DPIE website)

632

Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act (EPBC) Act plant species

1,336

In Seedbank
Australian accessions

11,931

Australian species

5,242

NSW accessions

7,215

NSW species

2,872

NSW threatened species accessions

1,977

NSW threatened species

437

Number of new collections 2020-21

549

Number of new NSW threatened species 2020-21

14

% NSW species

48.13%

% NSW Biodiversity Conservation Act species

69.15%

% of EBPC Act species in Seedbank

26.35%

Seed exchange statistics
Seed outgoing category

Tissue culture is the
propagation of small
pieces of plant material
in sterile conditions
to produce new
plants. This technique
is extremely useful
for species that are
difficult to propagate
from seed.

5967

Number of exchanges

Number of accessions each exchange

Royal Botanic Garden Sydney Education

1

4

Other Botanic Gardens

1

21

Royal Botanic Garden Sydney Living Collection

21

135

Research (internal and external)

10

68

Translocation

2

10
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Centre for Education
and Engagement
The Centre for Education and Engagement brings together
community engagement programs, Aboriginal cultural knowledge,
education and volunteering.
Through engagement, we create a community of people who exchange ideas, share
knowledge, collaborate, innovate, and celebrate our connection to the natural world
with science, culture, sustainability and horticulture.
Throughout 2020-21, over 159,000 people engaged across our three Botanic Garden
sites, at home, at school and online, an increase of 75% on the previous year. Our
programs inspire environmental stewardship and enable a connection to country,
enacting positive changes to overcome the critical challenges facing our world.

Key achievements include:

Community Greening celebrated 20 years and reached a
milestone of over 200,000 people participating in the program.

Participation
Program

2020-2021

2019-2020

23,365

15,925

8,376

22,891

Digital learning participants

112,414

29,295

Volunteer tours participants

1,399

3,678

Youth Community Greening participants*

8,394

9,435

Community Greening participants*

5,618

10,009

159,566

91,233

Education participants
Community participants

Total
*Face to face only, digital participation captured in digital figures.

Aboriginal knowledge

Digital learning

We recognise and respect Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander culture as the world’s
oldest continuing culture. Working with
local communities, we created places,
events and engagement across our three
Botanic Gardens sites and online that
celebrate culture, customs, traditions and
contemporary practices.

Living Learning online hub and Sydney
Science Trail has enabled over 112,000
teachers, students, children and families to
engage with our science, education, culture
and sustainability resources without leaving
the classroom or their home. Established
to bring our science and understanding
and protection of nature to audiences who
are unable to visit us, the programs are
interactive and include lesson plans, quizzes,
360 degree virtual tours and activities.

Key achievements include:

48,712 people enjoyed Science, Technology, Engineering
and Mathematics (STEM) focused talks, tours and interactive
games through the inaugural Sydney Science Trail
developed for National Science Week 2020.

Over 2,400 attendees participated in First Nations art,
weaving, tours, excursions and professional development
during Reconciliation Week and NAIDOC Week.

Digital engagement and learning increased to 112,414 people,
an increase of 284% over the previous year, and was
a major focus during COVID-19 restrictions.

Over 400 volunteers dedicated 32,437 hours
in 2020-21. See page 37 for volunteers.

• 24,000 people participated in the
NAIDOC Week 2020 program, with
1,936 enjoying hands on workshops,
presentations, professional development,
excursions, and demonstrations on site.
• 5
 30 attendees participated in Aboriginal
cultural programs for Reconciliation
Week.
• The introduction of three new Bush
Food Experiences highlighting the
importance of Aboriginal people’s value,
care and connection to country and
other life it provides and nourishes.
 ver 450 local community members
• O
commemorated National Sorry Day at
the Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan in May.

Inspiring Australia NSW, University of
Technology Sydney, Macquarie University
and City of Sydney. It is supported
by ABC Radio Sydney and the NSW
Government Department of Education
– DART Connections.
• New virtual excursions were introduced
for Reconciliation Week, National Sorry
Day and to mark the 1967 Referendum.

Key achievements include:
• D
 igital learning increased by 284% on
the previous year, with over 112,000
people engaging online. This was a major
program pivot in response to COVID-19
restrictions.
• 2
 8,000 new users engaged with our
Living Learning resources, with topics
ranging from plant adaptations to
pollination aiming to engage and
connect online to schools globally.
• O
 ver 48,000 people engaged online
with our Sydney Science Trail program
to celebrate National Science Week.
Sydney Science Trail is a partnership of
the Australian Museum and the Royal
Botanic Garden Sydney, supported by
funding from Australian Nuclear Science
and Technology Organisation (ANSTO),

“The tour is a
perfect chance
to develop some
understanding
of the Aboriginal
culture around
that part of Sydney
Harbour. Highly
recommended for
anyone with an
interest in history
and food.”
Aboriginal Cultural Tour Participant
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Community programs
Key achievements include:
• The launch of Seedlings Nature School
across all three sites, including the
creation of a dedicated Nature Play space
at the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney.
 new partnership with Playgroup NSW
• A
to deliver ‘Nature Pals’ inclusive Nature
Play sessions to children and their families
at the Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan. ‘Nature Pals’ sessions were
conducted in Term 2 of 2021 for children
of all abilities to play and learn together.
• A
 successful season of events funded by
Inspiring Australia, including:
-	Musica Viva’s For the Beauty of
the Earth, marrying music and science
in a sold-out community event at
The Calyx
-	
500 Queer Scientists community
event held in The Calyx as part of the
Mardi Gras Festival – third sold-out
year
Bats in the Gardens at the Australian
-	
Botanic Garden Mount Annan

-	Astronomy evenings at the Royal
Botanic Garden Sydney and
Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan.
• D
 irect engagement with more than
500 people from the Macarthur region
in western Sydney through a stall at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan
Lakeside Markets, focusing on the
Trust’s important scientific work.

Schools and education
programs
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• Finalising the review of primary education
programs against the curriculum with
a focus on STEM. This included the
development of two new excursions,
Growing Sustainable STEMs and Project
Codium.

Community outreach
Our outreach programs Community
Greening and Youth Community Greening
are committed to taking our expertise
‘beyond the Garden walls’ to serve the
broader community through innovative
programs.

 59 senior science students participated
• 4
in the Biological Diversity Study Day
Program, with 325 on site and an
additional 134 students joining virtually.

With over 200,000 participants to date,
this successful program facilitates the
establishment of community gardens,
primarily in Department of Communities
and Justice social housing estates and
Youth Community Greening targeting less
privileged youth across NSW. Community
Greening is a longstanding partnership
between the Trust and the NSW Government
Department of Communities and Justice
(DCJ).

• The development of a new school
education program at The Calyx,
due to open in late 2021.

Key achievements include:
• O
 ver 23,000 students participated in on
site excursions in 2020-21, an increase
of 47% on the previous year.

Community Greening’s key achievements
include:

• The development of a Poem Forest
with Red Room poetry – a national
nature-themed poetry prize for students
and teachers, linking poems to newlyplanted saplings at the Australian Botanic
Garden Mount Annan. More than 5,300
people accessed the Poem Forest learning
resources and over 1,200 poems were
submitted.

• 2
 02,128 participants have been involved
over the 20 years, totalling 1,042 projects
since inception.
• T
 he Australian Institute of Horticulture
recognised the commitment,
professionalism, leadership and
innovation of Community Greening’s
work with Mission Australia at Benjamin
Short Grove in Orange by awarding the
Green Space Regional Award.
• O
 btained two years funding – $300,000
for a new role under the Sowing Seeds of
Hope program, supporting communities
in southern NSW to create community
gardens in fire affected LGAs.

“Thank you for
a wonderful day.
Students and
teachers enjoyed
every moment
of our excursion,
from a very
warm welcome,
to very wellstructured and
guided learning
experiences, all
the way to the
farewell. I am
looking forward
to our next visit.”

• Obtained 12 months more funding for
Master Gardener Volunteer Program.

Interpretation
Storytelling through signage is a powerful way to enlighten, inform and delight visitors,
creating deep emotional connections to the Garden. Through stories, we can evoke
a sense of wonder about plants and the natural world, grow awareness of plants’
relevance to humanity and individuals, celebrate our collections and our scientific and
horticultural expertise, and extend an invitation to join the Gardens community.
Key achievements include:
• i nBLOOM exhibition interpretation delivered for August 2020 opening, including
new high-impact large-scale banners and graphics outside and inside The Calyx.
• N
 ew National Herbarium of New South Wales – interpretation developed in
collaborative process with Science and Horticulture teams, highlighting innovative
and inspirational research and conservation projects. Installation scheduled for
building opening in late 2021.
• Interpretative signage developed for the Hello Koalas Sculpture Trail at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan, launched April 2021.
• G
 arden Interpretation Signage capital works project commenced in May 2021.

• Camperdown Food System Grant funded
by City of Sydney to create an equitable
food system and work experience
opportunities.
• In April 2020 the annual Community
Greening survey was conducted, with
over 2,000 responses. Highlights included
over 22% of participants starting a course
since becoming involved in the program
and over 600 people requesting support
or expressing interest in being involved in
the program in the future.
• The year presented many new challenges,
with people out in communities further
isolated or impacted by physical or
mental health issues associated with
COVID-19 restrictions. To tackle these
issues, the Community Greening team
delivered ‘virtual’ tasks, seedling-sharing
challenges, online workshops and
continued resource delivery to groups.
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• U
 rban Ag month, Lunch and Learn
sessions and the First Nations food
enterprises in conversation panel session
live at The Calyx event streamed and
viewed 4,600 times with a reach of
over 11,000. The grant was delivered
in partnership with Sustain Australia,
Foodswell and funds from the City of
Sydney to reactivate the CBD.
• Master Gardener Volunteer Program
took place at seven locations across
NSW, including Illawarra Aboriginal
Employment Warrigal, Wilmot Hub,
Bega Community, Sydney (all sites)
Mentoring, Wollongong-Yallah food
forest, Wilcannia and Nowra.
Youth Community Greening key
achievements include:
• Targeting less privileged urban and
regional youth celebrated 12 years and
the creation of 4,509 garden-based
projects since it commenced in 2008.
• The program worked at 57 new sites in
2020-21 on a variety of garden types,
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with schools and other centres using the
process of designing and establishing
these gardens as valuable learning
opportunities and the garden providing
an ongoing resource.
• Youth Community Greening worked
with Cobargo Public School and
community to create a bush tucker garden.
Stage 2 students assisted in designing
and creating the bush tucker garden
through an extensive program with Youth
Community Greening staff and local
Aboriginal Education Officers. The ashen
remains of the grounds at the front of the
school were transformed into a themed
Indigenous garden space, with sections
of the garden dedicated to food, fibre,
grain, medicine, tools and weapons. The
program was funded by Plant Biosecurity
Research initiative.
• The annual ‘Sustainable Outreach’
tour took place in the Boggabilla and
Barraba regions of Northern NSW.
Youth Community Greening teamed up
with Warrumbungles, Wambangalang,

Cascade and Red Hill regional
Environmental Education Centres to
deliver sustainability focussed educational
programs. Over three days, almost 400
students from 10 regional and remote
schools were involved in the program at
three different school sites.
• For the last seven years, Youth
Community Greening has continued to
support the extensive garden program
at the Reiby Youth Justice Centre. The
success of the program is evident by its
longevity and the fact it is continually
expanding to provide the youth within
the centre skill building opportunities
and time in healthy green space
environments. There are multiple layers
to the garden program, which caters
for all incarcerated youth on various
risk levels. The youth learn a variety of
horticultural skills from propagation to
plant ID and these skills are put to good
use in creating gardens and green spaces
within the centre.

Participants

Gardens/projects

Sessions

Site visits

Community Greening

5,618

53

867

779

Youth Community Greening

8,394

57

472

240

92

7 sites

Master Gardener

Youth Community
Greening at Cobargo
Public School

Volunteering
Volunteer program
Participants

No of tours

Revenue

1,399

143

$ 13,128

Hours

In kind

7,333

$ 307,986

Volunteer hours Foundation & Friends

25,735

$ 1,080,870

Total

32,437

$ 1,362,606

Volunteer tours

Volunteer hours RBGDT

Volunteer highlights

Royal Botanic Garden Sydney

Horticultural volunteers

National Herbarium of
New South Wales

• Volunteers assisted general public
enquiries at the Visitor Centre and
The Calyx inBLOOM display.

• V
 olunteer Peter D’Olier, orchid specialist,
assisted in the repotting and re-slabbing
of the nursery orchid collection. This
ensures optimum plant growth for the
collection.

Volunteers play a vital role in the operations
of the Trust, working tirelessly with staff to
maintain landscapes, engage visitors, support
our science, conservation and environmental
projects, and much more. Their collective
dedication, support and commitment
throughout the year has been extraordinary
and is greatly appreciated.
Daniel Solander Library
• F ollowing COVID-19 restrictions, library
volunteers returned in May and assisted
in digitising historic photographs and
accompanying notes, cataloguing rare
books, field collecting books and records
and accessioning journals.
Herbarium Mounting Room
• D
 uring 2020-21, volunteers mounted
bulkier plant families in preparation for
digitisation, including all of Cycadaceae,
Zamiaceae and the Banksias, mounting
specimens from 1,000 herbarium boxes.
Plant Pathology
 olunteers continued to assist from
• V
home, contributing close to 200
hours during 2020 21, and assisted in
completion of Project Boots – a series
of experiments on hygiene measures
to prevent disease spread in soil.
Herbarium Digitisation
 olunteers contributed over 1,000 hours
• V
to assist with preparing specimens for
digitisation.

• A
 ssisted visitors at 500 Queer Scientists,
Musica Viva and Flockton Exhibition
events at The Calyx.
• Assisted in developing and delivering,
with the Coordinator Volunteer
Programs, a new series of Wednesday
Themed Walks to engage local visitation.

• Peter’s expertise and willingness to share
has enhanced the skills of horticulturalist,
Valerie Pintilli and apprentices working
in the nursery by assisting with general
nursery operations including watering,
weeding, repotting and propagation.

• Partnered with Foundation & Friends
to deliver Perfume Walk and Fascinating
Fungi walks.

Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan

• D
 eveloped monthly Must See self-guided
tours and Plant of the Month information
that was distributed from the Visitor
Centre, The Calyx, Garden Explorer, the
website and content used for RBGS
social media.

• T
 he living collection photography
project began in March at the suggestion
of horticulturalist, Lesley Neuhold.
Volunteer Glenn Smith has uploaded
1,110 images of 94 taxa to the Iris BG
plant database.

• COVID-19 created the opportunity to
use content developed by volunteers
for the Must See self-guided tours
and Professional Development Theme
Walks to create a monthly series of
videos delivered to the public via the
Royal Botanic Garden Sydney website
and YouTube Channel. A total of 104
videos were created by Volunteer Site
Coordinator, Paul Nicholson and had a
total of 57,938 views on the Garden’s
YouTube Channel. In addition, videos
were played on large screens at The
Calyx, potentially seen by 80,818 visitors.

• A new project assisting the Plant
Mapping and Records team produce
plant tags and plant labels began in April.
Volunteer Virginia McDowell helped the
team produce safety and work protocols
and contributed 46 hours of time.
• Conducted free walks of the Garden.
• Alan Leishman continued monitoring the
birdlife in conjunction with Garden and
Australian Bird and Bat Banding Scheme.
Alan presented to fellow volunteers on
33 years of research conducted at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan.
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Blue Mountains Botanic Garden
Mount Tomah
• Volunteers conducted free walks for
visitors and assisted horticulturalist
with general nursery duties of weeding,
watering and repotting.

Farewell event for Donna Osland
Volunteer Manager
• After being awarded the Public Service
Medal earlier in the year for services to
community education and volunteering,
Donna Osland announced her
retirement.
• A major event was held in The Calyx with
100 volunteers to celebrate Donna’s
achievements and legacy. Chief Executive
Denise Ora spoke at the event, and for
many of our volunteers it was a highlight
of the last two years. It was particularly
moving to see retired volunteers at
this event and once again highlight the
significant contribution that volunteers
provide to the Gardens.

Impact of COVID-19
• V
 olunteer programs began returning
in July and August 2020 with limited
numbers of programs and non-public
facing volunteers. Public facing volunteers
returned from October, but further
lockdowns in December/January
and late June once again led to the
suspension of programs.
 uring COVID-19 lockdowns, the
• D
opportunity has also been grasped to
move many of our volunteer meetings
and presentations to the digital platform
Zoom. With the return of volunteers
to face to face meetings in reduced
numbers, hybrid meetings were
implemented to connect them virtually
with other meeting attendees.
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Volunteer Guides Meetings
Royal Botanic Garden Sydney
• Due to COVID-19 restrictions, this year
required a hybrid approach to Volunteer
Guides Meetings at the Royal Botanic
Garden Sydney. While some meetings
were able to be held in person, we also
hosted virtual events online, resulting
in an overall increase in meeting
participation compared to previous years.

Grants and science funding
Research grants and other
science funding 2020-21
ACARP
• D
 r Cathy Offord. Inclusion of high interest
native plants in mine site restoration
programs – $79,710 (year three of a
three-and-a-half-year $444,055 grant).
Australasian Systematic Botany Society –
Marlies Eichler Postdoctoral Research Grant
• Dr Trevor Wilson. A new key for
Australia’s Bugle Subfamily (Ajugoideae:
Lamiaceae): a phylogenetically informed
taxonomy assisted by next generation
sequencing methods – $10,000
(year two of a two-year $20,000 project).

Donna Osland
speaking at
her retirement
event

Australian Biological Resources Study
(ABRS)
• Dr James Clugston, Dr Russell Barrett,
Dr Matt Renner, Dr Peter Weston,
Dr Lyn Cook, Dr Mike Crisp. Building
the eFlora: Generic and species-level
resolution in Fabaceae tribe Mirbelieae
using next-generation sequencing –
$100,000 (year one of a three-year
$300,000 grant).

 r Richard Jobson, Dr Greg ch.
• D
A comprehensive systematic study and
floristic account of Australian Eriocaulon
(Eriocaulaceae) – $10,000 (year two of
a three-year $30,000 grant).
• D
 r Matthew Renner, Dr Lei
Shu. An integrative systematic
revision of Australian Aneuraceae
(Jungermanniopsida) – $10,000 (year
two of a four-year $30,000 grant).
• Dr Trevor Wilson, Dr Elizabeth James,
Mr Neville Walsh, Dr Chun-Lei Xiang,
Dr Bo Li. A new key for Australia’s Bugle
Subfamily (Ajugoideae: Lamiaceae): a
phylogenetically informed taxonomy
assisted by next generation sequencing
methods
– $90,000 (year two of a three-year
$270,000 grant).
Australian Flora Foundation
• D
 r Nathan Emery and Dr Cathy Offord.
Determination of the horticultural
potential of the endangered Persoonia
hirsuta – $6,263 (year three of a
three-year $9,845 grant).

• Dr Ganesha Liyanage and
Dr Cathy Offord. Understanding
seed and reproductive biology of
Geijera parviflora and its implications for
conservation and restoration – $6,820
(year two of a $19,998 grant).
Australian Seedbank Partnership (ASAP)
• Dr Peter Cuneo. UK government
Australian bushfire recovery funding for
seed collections and post-fire assessments
– $15,000.
• Dr Peter Cuneo. Garfield Weston/
Millennium Seed Bank bushfire recovery
funding – $6,000.
• Dr Peter Cuneo. Greening Australia
Project Phoenix (federal government
bushfire recovery) funding for seed
collections and post-fire assessments
– $80,000.
• Dr Peter Cuneo. Department of
Agriculture, Water and the Environment,
Banking on seeds for bushfire recovery
– Tranche 2 grant $26,500.
• Dr Peter Cuneo. World-Wide Fund for
Nature Australia, Rare Bloom Project.
Seed collections and post-fire
assessments – $15,000.
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Bioplatforms Australia Pty Ltd (Threatened Species Initiative)
• Dr Jason Bragg, J Mallee, Prof Maurizio Rossetto.
Conservation genomics of Lenwebbia – $21,000.
• R Henry, J Mallee, Prof Maurizio Rossetto.
Conservation genomics of Eidothea – $11,000.
Bioplatforms Australia Pty Ltd (Phylogenomics Initiative)
• Dr Hervé Sauquet, Dr Russell Barrett, Dr Marco Duretto,
Dr Pat Lu-Irving, Dr Richard Jobson, Ms Kristina McColl,
Dr Hannah McPherson, Dr Matthew Renner, Ms Ifeanna Tooth,
Dr Trevor Wilson, Ms Lisa Woods, Dr Rose Andrew,
Dr Jeremy Bruhl, Dr Ian Telford. (2020) Genomics for Australian
Plants (GAP): Australian Angiosperm Tree of Life (AAToL).
[2 plates of Angiosperms353-sequencing.] – $18,000.
Hermon Slade Foundation
• Dr Peter Wilson and Margaret Heslewood. A next generation
sequencing approach to investigate paralogy in Xanthostemon
(Myrtaceae) – (year three of a four-and-a-half-year $90,000 grant).
HSBC Bank Australia
• Dr Peter Cuneo, Dr Cathy Offord and Prof Maurizio Rossetto.
Investigating Rainforest Resilience, Brigalow Belt $67,000
– (year one of a three-year $540,000 grant).
The Ian Potter Foundation
• Dr Karen Sommerville and Dr Cathy Offord. Looking inside
rainforest seeds: fast-tracking rainforest seed conservation to
protect this disappearing ecosystem – $100,000 (year three of
a three-year $300,000 grant).
NSW Environmental Trust
• Dr Nathan Emery and Dr Cathy Offord. Northwest NSW
Rainforest & Woodland Relict Conservation Project – $90,541
(year three of a five-year $343,042 Environmental Trust & Saving
our Species contestable grant).
• Robert Kooyman, K Donovan, T Parkes, Prof Maurizio Rossetto,
M Dunphy. Improving genetic diversity to secure rainforest
restoration outcomes – (year two of a three-year $200,000
grant awarded to Big Scrub Landcare).
• Borevitz, McKinnon, Bothwell, Andrew, Dr Jason Bragg,
Prof Maurizio Rossetto. Climate and dieback resilience of
tableland and mountain eucalypt species of southeast Australia
– (year one of a three-year $200,000 grant awarded to ANU).
Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment –
‘Advancing Pest Animal and Weed Control Solutions’ scheme
• Dr Patricia Lu-Irving, Encinas-Viso, Le Roux, Day. Weed
genomics to improve lantana biocontrol – (year one of a
two-year $390,000 project).
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment (DPIE),
New South Wales Government, Saving our Species Program
• Dr Peter Cuneo. RBG ex situ seed program, statewide threatened
species seed collections – $150,000 (year three of a three-year
$450,000 grant).
• Dr Edward Liew. Forging an effective fight against Phytophthora
in NSW – $78,100 (year three of a four-year $191,400 grant).
• Dr Cathy Offord. Developing ex situ propagation techniques and
supporting future translocations for threatened orchids in South
Hub – $24,000 (year three of a three-year $197,312 grant).
• Prof Maurizio Rossetto and Dr Samantha Yap. Proposal for
conservation genetic project on Persoonia pauciflora P.H.Weston
(Proteaceae) – $25,000.

AU S T R A L I A N I N S T I T U T E O F B O TA N I C A L S C I E N C E

• P
 rof Maurizio Rossetto and Dr Samantha Yap. Conservation
genetic project on Lenwebbia (Myrtaceae) – $20,000.
• Prof Maurizio Rossetto and Dr Samantha Yap. Conservation
genetic project on Wollemia nobilis – $21,000.
• Prof Maurizio Rossetto and Dr Samantha Yap. Conservation
genetic project on Halogarodendron lucasii – $23,000.
• Dr Karen Sommerville and Dr Cathy Offord. Improving ex
situ techniques to support threatened orchid translocations
(Genoplesium and Prasophyllum) – $34,097 (year-two of a
three-year $101,321 grant).
• Dr Edward Liew and Dr Cathy Offord. Wollemi pine research,
translocation and maintenance of ex situ germplasm – $95,048.
• Dr Cathy Offord and Dr Zoe-Joy Newby. Establish propagation
procedures for Rhizanthella species (underground orchids) – $16,500.
• Dr Nathan Emery. Post-fire monitoring of the critically
endangered Persoonia hirsuta – $11,000.
DPIE, New South Wales Government
• Prof Maurizio Rossetto. The Gondwana adaptation project
– (year one of a two-year $142,000 project).
• P
 rof Maurizio Rossetto. The Cumberland Plain Woodland
Knowledge Infrastructure (CPWKI) – (year one of a three-year
$570,000 project).
Local Land Services
• D
 r Peter Cuneo and Gavin Phillips. Local Land Services,
Northern Tablelands. Regional Land Partnerships Program.
Threatened flora of the Torrington region – $10,000.
Rio Tinto
• D
 r Richard Jobson. Phylogenetic resolution of Themeda triandra
in the Pilbara region of Western Australia: What is the taxonomic
status of Themeda sp. Hamersley Station (M.E. Trudgen 11431)
– $2,340 (year two of three-year $20,471 project).

Collaborative grants awarded to other agencies
Australasian Systematic Botany Society- Hansjorg Eichler Scientific
Research Grant
• M
 r Aiden Webb, Dr Jo Birch, and Dr Russell Barrett. (2020–2021)
Phylogenomic inference of Caesia and Corynotheca (Asphodelaceae)
and taxonomic clarification of an Australian species complex,
Caesia parviflora – $5,500. (Administered by Melbourne University.)
Australian Biological Resources Study (ABRS) - National Taxonomy
Research Grant Program (Masters Scholarship Grant)
• Mr Aiden Webb, Dr Jo Birch, and Dr Russell Barrett. (2020–
2021) Phylogenomic inference of Caesia and Corynotheca
(Asphodelaceae) and taxonomic clarification of an Australian
species complex, Caesia parviflora – $11,000. (Administered
by Melbourne University.)

Australian Research Australian Research Council - Discovery
Project
• Dr Emilie Ens (Macquarie University), Dr M Raven,
Prof Maurizio Rossetto, Dr P Clarke. How did those trees
get there? Rediscovering Aboriginal dispersal pathways
(DP180102188) – (year three of a three-year $192,000 grant).
• Prof Marcel Cardillo (Australian National University),
Dr Hervé Sauquet, Dr Austin Mast, Dr Peter Weston
(2020-2022) Evolutionary history and conservation of an
iconic Australian plant group – $65,000 (first half-year of a
three-year $390,000 grant postponed to 2021 due to COVID-19).
(Administered by Australian National University.)
Bioplatforms Australia Pty Ltd (Conservation Genomics
Partnership)
• M Bayly, L Guja, T McLay, A Schmidt-Lebuhn, D Taylor,
Prof Maurizio Duretto, H Orel. (2020) A complex of rare
Zieria species from the south coast of NSW: Z. buxijugum-Z.
parrisiae-Z. formosa-Z. granulata-Z. tuberculata. Genomics for
Australian Plants. Conservation Genomics. Administered by the
University of Melbourne.
• J Bruhl, A Andrew, S Rowntree, Dr Russell Barrett, Karen Wilson
(2020). Lepidsperma laterale sens. lat. (Cyperaceae). Genomics
for Australian Plants. Conservation Genomics. (Administered by
the University of New England.)
• J Bruhl, A Andrew, Dr Russell Barrett, Karen Wilson. (2020)
Lepidsperma fimbriatum sens. lat. Genomics for Australian Plants.
Conservation Genomics. (Administered by the University of
New England.)
Australian Research Council - Linkage Projects
• D
 r Janine Deakin, Dr Jason Bragg, Prof Craig Moritz,
Dr Mark Eldridge and Dr Mark Kirkpatrick. Do chromosomal
rearrangements drive genomic evolution and speciation?
– (year four of a four-year $408,900 grant).
• R
 Edwards, J Borevitz, Dr Jason Bragg, Prof Maurizio Rossetto,
Dr Brett Summerell, Dr Marlien van der Merwe. Optimising
plant populations for ecological restoration and resilience
(LP180100721) – (year three of three-year $374,000 grant).
• P
 rof Ricardo Mancera, Prof Gary Bryant, Dr Shane Turner,
Dr Cathy Offord, Dr Chris Garvey, Dr Christina Walters,
Prof Karen Koster, Dr Eric Bunn. Advanced cryobanking for
recalcitrant-seeded Australian rainforest plants – (year four of a
four-year $592,514 grant. (Administered by Curtin University.)
• N
 icotra, A Leigh, Dr Cathy Offord, L Guja, Prof Maurizio
Rossetto, K McDougall, L Bravo, B Horton. Living on the edge:
how do Australian plants cope with extreme temperature?
(LP180100942) – (year three of four-year $710,000 grant).
• L Cernusak, M Breed, A Cheesman, S Laurance, D Crayn,
Prof Maurizio Rossetto. Integrating climate adaptation into
rainforest restoration plantings (LP190100484) – (year two of a
three-year $410,000 grant).
Australian Research Data Commons
• Assoc Prof Daniel Falster, Dr Rachael Gallagher, Dr Hervé Sauquet,
and 23 partners (incl. Dr Russell Barrett). (2021-2023) AusTraits:
a national database on the traits of Australia’s complete flora.
Australian Research Data Commons (ARDC) Australian Data
Partnerships program – $100,000 (first half-year of a two-and-ahalf year $500,000 grant.) (Administered by the University of
New South Wales.)

Centre for the Synthesis and Analysis of Biodiversity (CESAB)
 rof Sylvain Glémin (Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique
• P
[CNRS], Rennes, France), Assoc Prof Jos Käfer [CNRS, Lyon,
France], and 13 collaborators (including Dr Hervé Sauquet).
(2019-2021) From reproductive strategies to species diversity:
how evolution of breeding systems and associated traits shapes
plant species diversity – EUR83,860 (final year of a two-and-ahalf-year EUR167,720 grant). (Administered by CNRS.)
Joint Genome Institute, Community Science Program. CSP 2021
 r Alex Harkess, (Lead PI). Co-Investigators: Dr Michael Barker,
• D
Dr Russell Barrett, Dr P Bundock, Dr Robert Van Buren,
Dr Margaret Byrne, Dr Sarah Carey, Dr Gavin Conant,
Dr John Conran, Dr Patrick Edger, Dr K Greenham, Dr Yue Hao,
Dr Jocelyn Hall, Dr Julian Hibberd, Dr Ella Katz, Dr Steve Kelly,
Dr Graham King, Dr Daniel Kliebenstein, Dr Ilia Leitch,
Dr Frederic Lens, Dr Martin Lysák, Dr Mackenzie Mabry,
Dr Terry Macfarlane, Dr Alex McAlvay, Dr Michael McKain,
Dr Richard Moore, Dr Daniel Murphy, Dr Chris Pires, Dr A Platts,
Dr Eric Roalson, Dr Eric Schranz, Dr Joshua Trujillo, Dr Nora Walden,
Dr Jennifer Wisecaver, Dr Qingyi Yu. (2020–2021) ‘The Brassicales
Genome Initiative’ Proposal 506992 – [Generation of 25 PacBio
Hi-Fi genomes funded by JGI] Funded 10 September 2020.
c. US$1,000,000. (Administered by Auburn University.)
National Science Foundation (China)
• International team led by Dr Joeri S Strijk (Guangxi University,
China) and including Dr Marlien van der Merwe,
Dr Hervé Sauquet, and Prof Maurizio Rossetto. LaurasianGondwanan vicariance and ecological reconnection:
Phylogenomics of Sino-Australasian Lauraceae – (year four
of a four-year 420,000 RMB [approx AU$85,000] grant).
(Administered by Guangxi University, China.)
US National Science Foundation
• A
 ssoc Prof Stacey D Smith (University of Colorado, Boulder, USA)
and 16 collaborators (including Dr Hervé Sauquet). (2019-2021)
Fossils, fruits and seeds: an integrative approach to estimating a
time-tree for the nightshades – US$99,956.5 (year two of twoyear US$199,913 project). (Administered by Univ. of Colorado,
Boulder, USA.)

Contracts and consulting services
Transport NSW
• P
 rof Maurizio Rossetto. Conservation genomics study on
Pittosporum sp. ‘Coffs Harbour’ (Pittosporaceae)’ – $34,000.
RPS Consulting
• Prof Maurizio Rossetto. Pilot conservation genomics study
on Caesia parviflora var. minor R.Br.(Anthericaceae) – $31,000.
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Our First Nations Engagement
Strategy aims to achieve
crucial outcomes across the
organisation, in the following
key action areas:

Cultural awareness and change

Employment and retention

Community engagement
and outcomes

ENGAGEMENT,
COMMUNITIES
AND PUBLIC SPACE
ACTIVATION

Procurement and
Business Support.

First Nations
First Nations Engagement
Strategy 2021-2026
For over 200 years, the Royal
Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
has been dedicated to discovering,
researching and protecting plants.
Integral to our plant knowledge
and our stewardship of these green
spaces for the community is the
Trust’s relationship with the land’s
Traditional Custodians and
its rich cultural heritage.

Our three Botanic Gardens are significant
historical, ceremonial and traditional trade
grounds for the Gadigal, Dharawal and Darug
peoples of the Greater Sydney region. We
acknowledge that Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander cultures are the oldest,
living, continuous cultures in the world.
In early 2020, the organisation set upon a
new chapter in its history – to embed cultural
understanding and knowledges throughout
all the work we do, and to remind people
that First Nations knowledge, practices
and lore is critical to solving a range of
environmental, social and economic
issues we face at present.

Our Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust First Nations Engagement Strategy
2021-2026 mission statement is to be
A leading organisation for embedding
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultural
protocols, knowledge and perspectives in
all aspects of our activities. We will embark
on meaningful and authentic avenues for
learning, collaboration and support with, and
respecting the knowledge of, all First Nations
communities, Cultures & Country.

Innovate Reconciliation
Action Plan 2021-2023

Cultural Fire Burning &
Land Management program

The Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP)
program, administered by Reconciliation
Australia, provides a framework for
organisations to support the national
reconciliation movement.

There has been growing interest in
Aboriginal cultural fire management, which
has accelerated since the Black Summer
bushfires. The renewal of Aboriginal people’s
involvement in cultural land management
is itself transformative for influencing how
we manage fire and the environment in
NSW to a new desired state. It is equally
as important for Aboriginal people – their
identity, responsibilities and lore. To ensure
country will be more resilient to the pressures
of climate change and maintaining healthy
country, a shift in land management practices
requires harnessing both cultural and western
scientific perspectives.

As a key action of our First Nations
Engagement Strategy, and with the support of
a key external partner, David Liddiard Group,
the Trust is participating in this vital program
to further demonstrate its commitment to
reconciliation and advancing outcomes for
First Nations cultures and peoples.
We are beginning our RAP program journey
at the second level of Innovate, due to having
already implemented a variety of programs
and processes internally that demonstrate
our expertise and ongoing commitment to
reconciliation.
Our goal for the RAP program is to reach the
Elevate level by 2026 to provide leadership,
expertise and guidance for organisations and
executives wanting to enhance reconciliation
outcomes for their staff, stakeholders and
community members.
We would like to thank all past and current
members of our First Nations Engagement
Strategy and RAP working group, chaired by our
Manager Aboriginal Strategy and Development,
Josh Brown, for their expertise and hard work in
the development and future implementation
of these inaugural strategic plans.

The Trust’s Cultural Fire and Land
Management program commenced this
year and initially focuses on the Australian
Botanic Garden Mount Annan (416 ha), and
in subsequent years, the Blue Mountains
Botanic Garden Mount Tomah (272 ha). The
program, in partnership with the University
of New England’s (UNE’s) Aboriginal Land
and Sea Hub and the NSW Department
of Planning Industry & Environment’s
Environment, Energy and Science group,
will engage our Aboriginal community and
establish a community led vision to revive
First Nations land management practices,
with an emphasis on cultural burning, to
manage fuel loads and enhance conservation
outcomes and biodiversity.
The outcomes that this four-year program
will aim to achieve are:
• r ecruitment of an Aboriginal identified

Project Manager position to lead
development and implementation
of the overall program
• implementation of a training program
on country using local Aboriginal
cultural burning practitioners to
share knowledge, enabling Aboriginal
communities to relearn, and re-engage
with, traditional practices
• r ecruitment of one four-year Aboriginal
identified apprenticeship to train in
Conservation Land Management
• a ppointment of two Aboriginal PhD
candidates, in partnership with the
University of New England’s ‘Land
and Sea Hub’, who have committed to
supporting the appointment and delivery
of two three-year postgraduate programs
to measure, document and publish
data arising from cultural burning and
ecological monitoring of the
Mount Annan landscape.
By the completion of the program, we
anticipate the Royal Botanic Gardens
and Domain Trust will have established a
comprehensive and self-sustaining land
management protocol that is embedded
in the operations of the Australian Botanic
Garden Mount Annan and the Blue
Mountains Botanic Garden Mount Tomah.
Through this program, the Aboriginal
community will have trained and skilled
cultural fire practitioners who can be
engaged to deploy their knowledge to
achieve healthy landscapes near and far.
The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust’s sites always was, always will be
Aboriginal land.
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Events
and venues
Visitation
Visitation in 2020-21 reflected
the importance of our public green
spaces for the community during
a challenging year of rolling
COVID-19 restrictions.
Visitation was enhanced by an innovative
program of events and cultural activities
during periods of eased restrictions, along
with ongoing investment to improve and
upgrade our facilities and services.
The Blue Mountains Botanic Garden Mount
Tomah saw an increase in visitation of 11.5%
on the previous year. This was attributed
to increased domestic and regional travel
because of COVID-19 restrictions.

The Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan also saw growth of 10% yearon-year, with the Public Health Order
permitting exercise outdoors during times
of restrictions.
In 2020-21, the Garden welcomed more
than 2.5 million visitors and more than
96,000 patrons attended public events at
the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney and the
Domain. The COVID-19 pandemic has
significantly impacted visitation, with a usual
year around 5.4 million (a decrease of 41%
year-on-year). The pandemic resulted in
reduced international and interstate tourism
and periods of Sydney-wide or specific
LGA lockdowns, together with the absence
of major events (such as the cancellation
of New Year’s Eve, Field Day, Carols in the
Domain and the Sydney Morning Herald
Half Marathon) and reduced capacity at
the limited number of events that were
able to proceed. Whilst there was an overall
decrease, in comparison to the previous
year when COVID-19 restrictions were
introduced, the Royal Botanic Garden
Sydney saw a 10% growth in visitation
over the April to June period.

E N G AG E M E N T, C O M M U N I T I E S A N D P U B L I C S PAC E AC T I VAT I O N

Royal Botanic Garden Sydney

Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan

The Domain

The Calyx

• Westpac Open Air Cinema successfully
delivered its 25th season to a COVID
Safe audience and hosted the red-carpet
Premiere of The Dry. Up to 37,000 people
experienced the world’s most beautiful
cinema. Due to the pandemic, 43 of the
67 scheduled screenings were delivered.

• The monthly Lakeside Markets
continued to be extremely popular
with the local audience drawing good
visitation numbers.

• In 2020-21 the major event season was
significantly impacted by COVID-19,
with the NSW Public Health Order
imposing tight restrictions on major
outdoor gatherings. The highlight events
were Westpac Open Air Cinema and
Handa Opera at Fleet Steps, The Garden
Social in the Tarpeian precinct and the
Summer in the Domain concert series
in the Philip precinct.

• O
 ver 80,800 visitors enjoyed the
inBLOOM exhibition which opened in
August 2020, despite the Calyx being
significantly impacted by the COVID-19
venue closures.

• N
 SW Treasury funded the Summer
in the Domain concert series as part
of the CBD Revitalisation initiative to
encourage visitation and boost the CBD
economy. The series was successfully
delivered in a custom built COVID Safe
format which included specialised multilane entry processing stations, QR coded
picnic table seating, buggy bar service
points and contactless information
facilities on site. The event was the first
of its kind, paving the way for industry
to deliver COVID Safe concert events.
Over 6,500 people enjoyed live music
in the Domain over two weekends and
Sydney got to enjoy dancing at an event
for the first time in 12 months.
• The Treasury funded The Garden
Social, a free pop-up outdoor festival,
debuted in January, featuring live music,
uninterrupted views, a pop-up Fever Tree
Gin Bar and 15 Food Trucks throughout
the event. The Garden Social attracted
more than 7,000 people over 20 event
days and employed 130 musicians from
the Conservatorium of Music.

• L overs by Lakeside was well received
in February bringing in over $14,000
revenue.
• The Hello Koalas travelling exhibition,
supported by Campbelltown City
Council, featured at the Garden and in
the Campbelltown Local Government
Area. The exhibition was a huge success
with over 50,000 visitors to the Garden
in April.

• The Calyx hosted the launch of the
Australian Institute of Botanical Science,
the 2020 Event Summit, i4give Day and
500 Queer Scientists as well as a series
of education workshops and programs.

• Summer in the Domain and The
Garden Social were two of the NSW
Government’s funded initiatives to
revitalise the CBD and economy.

Blue Mountains Botanic Garden
Mount Tomah
• The Garden hosted up to 1,000
participants of the weekly Wellness
Community Outreach program in
response to the 2019 bushfires.
• Nature Therapy Tours debuted and
were later successfully rolled-out
across all Garden estates.
• The staff curated bushfire recovery
exhibition Through the Smoke,
Through our Eyes attracted 70,000
visitors over two months.

Hello Koalas exhibition at
the Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan

Location

The Garden Social outdoor festival

2020-21

2019-20

2018-19

2017-18

2016-17

Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan

611,299

556,690

469,270

441,325

409,697

Blue Mountains Botanic Garden Mount Tomah

218,453

195,981

205,139

226,033

195,379

Royal Botanic Garden Sydney

2,560,874

4,340,022

5,425,120

5,437,902

5,222,464

The Domain*

3,363,388

5,811,860

7,098,891

6,906,136

6,632,529

*Estimated visitation to the Domain is calculated using a visitation ratio compared to gate-counter data from the neighbouring Royal Botanic Garden Sydney, plus data from sports bookings
and organised public events.
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Digital engagement
and communications
As an internationally renowned
scientific institute, international
tourism drawcard and local
destination, digital engagement
and communications are vital
to ensure our visitors are well
informed about what our three
Gardens and the Domain have
to offer.
During 2020-21 there was a
continuous focus on improving how
we communicate to our audience,
particularly through digital channels.
Substantial infrastructure work was
undertaken on a botanicgardens.org.au
web domain, consisting of domain name
security, content audit, Search Engine
Optimisation (SEO), User Experience
(UX), sitemap and wireframes.

Further digital engagement
highlights for 2020-21:

A suite of digital communications across
web, social media, YouTube and audio,
connected people of all ages with our
vital scientific work. These included the
podcast series Branch Out, new video
series What the Flora?! and the official
launch of the Australian Institute of
Botanical Science.

Branch Out released eight
engaging episodes and
What the Flora?! released
five episodes, with combined
20,000 views.

While the primary purpose of our
digital content is to educate and inform
audiences about the important scientific
work of the Gardens, it also regularly
features a variety of external, high-profile
guests. Since it launched, Branch Out
has received over 141,000 listens from
countries all over the world, including
Japan to Brazil.

 The Royal Botanic Garden
Sydney Facebook page attained
more than 130,000 followers
and our overall social media
community grew by 13%.

More than 850,399 users
visited the Royal Botanic
Garden Sydney website.



We saw an increase of
26% and 29% in sessions
for the Blue Mountains
Botanic Garden Mount Tomah
and Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan websites
respectively.

Global launch: Australian
Institute of Botanical Science
 More than 12,000 customer
messages, queries and
feedback were received via
social media channels, with our
customer satisfaction rates
consistently remaining
above 90%.

Launching the new Australian Institute
of Botanical Science and through its
establishment, the Royal Botanic Gardens and
Domain Trust is delivering on ambitious plans
to expand and elevate Australia’s botanical
science on a global scale.
Due to COVID-19, the launch of the Institute
was adapted to a digital model. The global
launch video and associated digital content
is playing a key role in helping to expand,
elevate and communicate what this new
NSW-based Institute is, and its vital role in
global botanical science.
The online launch premiered as a livestream on
Facebook, YouTube and other digital channels,
allowing a global audience to tune in remotely.
Being pre-recorded but with a “live” feel, the

production provided an opportunity to span
multiple filming locations and feature invited
international guests. The experience also
allowed viewers to reflect on the significance
of the Institute and their hopes for the future
of plant science, from their own homes.
The Institute’s launch was bolstered through
a dedicated video series, entitled What the
Flora?! This engaging series, designed for a
broad audience, incorporates world-class
NSW research with behind-the-scenes access
to scientists, showcasing the Institute’s work
in an enjoyable and engaging manner. The
Institute’s digital launch and What the Flora?!
series also built on the award-winning
Branch Out podcast series.
The online launch enabled the Institute
to collaborate with high profile individuals
and global thought leaders leveraging their
support for this important initiative. These
included His Royal Highness, The Prince of

Wales (also Patron of London’s Royal Botanic
Gardens, Kew), Stephen Fry (also a Vice
President of Fauna and Flora International),
Author Kathy Lette, Gardening Australia
host Costa Georgiadis; Chief Scientist at
Washington DC’s Smithsonian Institute
Dr Rebecca Johnson and radio broadcaster and
television gardening presenter Graham Ross.
The team was able to deliver a high impact
global launch at a time when our world most
needs botanical science. As fires, droughts
and other devastating events in Australia
have exemplified, protecting plants is no
easy task, but indeed a vital one. By training
and inspiring the next generation of plant
scientists and delivering world-class botanical
science research with our local, national
and international partners we aim to ensure
Australia’s unique plant species are protected
for generations to come.
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P H I L A N T H R O P Y A N D PA R T N E R S H I P S

PHILANTHROPY
AND PARTNERSHIPS
Support

Foundation & Friends of the Botanic
Gardens Ltd is a not-for-profit
membership-based organisation
which serves as an important link
between the Royal Botanic Gardens and
Domain Trust and the community, and
promotes, supports and contributes to
the development of the Gardens. The
Foundation’s mission is to grow a strong
supportive community to advocate and
raise funds for our Botanic Gardens.

The Trust and the Foundation & Friends
of the Botanic Gardens are committed to
securing funds to ensure the Gardens remain
places of outstanding horticultural beauty,
the Australian Institute of Botanical Science
continues to be at the forefront of research,
and our education and learning experiences
are accessible to all.

Highlights for 2020-21
In the wake of extreme weather events
and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic,
we continue to be encouraged by the
generosity of our supporters who have
shown an unwavering commitment to the
Gardens during this period of hardship and
uncertainty. Their support has contributed
to the Gardens’ vital work in plant science,
horticulture, conservation and education.
Our ambitious Herbarium Digitisation project
has been a standout achievement this year.
Digitising more than 1 million specimens into
images and data is creating a very significant
scientific resource that will be made
accessible to everyone. This project would
not have been possible without the generous
support of the Foundation & Friends of the
Botanic Gardens. The Foundation & Friends
and Trust supporters have together raised
more than $2.2m for this historic project,
including more than $500,000 in 2020-21.
The project is underpinned by a $1.2m
contribution from the NSW Government.
The Gardens received a number of
significant gifts from individuals, government
partners and foundations throughout the
year, including extended support from the
Department of Social Services for the Master
Gardener Volunteer and Leadership program.
This initiative aims to strengthen and improve
resilience within high-need communities, with
a particular focus on low socio-economic
areas across NSW.
We are grateful to The Ian Potter
Foundation for their support of the Rainforest
Conservation research at the Australian
PlantBank over the last three years. The project

Looking inside rainforest seeds: fast-tracking
rainforest seed conservation to protect this
disappearing ecosystem is investigating what
happens inside seeds as they freeze and thaw,
that makes them difficult to conserve using
standard seed banking techniques.
We would also like to acknowledge the
steadfast commitment of our corporate
partners during this challenging time. We
are so grateful for their continued support,
personal advocacy and dedication.
The significant support from our Principal
Environmental Partner HSBC has enabled
key programs to continue and thrive, and we
thank them for their leadership, vision and
ongoing investment in our shared goals. In
between lockdowns we worked with HSBC to
stage Opera in the Garden, a celebration of
bringing opera back to Sydney.
This year we welcomed new Principal Partner
MetLife Insurance. MetLife employees
engaged through volunteering and cultural
awareness training, contributing to both
the company’s global 2030 Environmental
Goals and Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan
commitments.
We were also fortunate to secure an
important grant for the newly created
program Sowing Seeds of Hope, a Bushfire
Community Recovery and Resilience Fund
project through the joint Commonwealth
and State Disaster Recovery Funding
Arrangements. This program supports
communities in bushfire affected areas
in NSW.
Our Community Greening outreach program,
targeting social housing residents and funded
by the Department of Communities and

Justice, continues to be a lifeline for many
in lockdown. Furthermore, we were able
to continue to fund Youth Community
Greening through the generous support of
new Major Partner Liberty Specialty Markets.
We welcome them into our family of partners
and look forward to growing the partnership
over the years.
Despite the lockdowns we were able to
deliver many meaningful programs and
activities for our partners:
• L ong-term Major Partner Bloomberg
enthusiastically contributed volunteer
hours with the Garden’s Horticulture
team, as well as planting trees at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan.
• K
 lorane Botanical Foundation once again
delivered the free Herbarium on Stage
workshops – a fun mix of education and
exploration for young children.
• T
 ogether with Seedlip, we delivered a
highly successful sunrise KAAIAA class
for World Meditation Day.
• W
 ith the support of Solar Energy
Enterprises, we installed a 50kW solar
PV system on the roof of the Australian
PlantBank, which will save the Australian
Botanic Garden Mount Annan an average
of 60,000kWh in avoided energy use
annually.
• W
 e would also like to thank our
community of Support Partners City of
Sydney, Garden Grown Gin, University of
Sydney, Hoselink and Atelier Lumira who
contribute to the strength and vitality of
our programs and green spaces.
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Our thanks
Helen Devenish-Meares

Jennifer Iversen

Martin Paynter

Sancha Dickson

AJ & BM Irvine

Pamela Pearce

Gail Dihm

Ella Lee

Joseph Pike

Julie Drew

Debra Jensen

Robyn Pinzone

Sarah Aldington

Eleanor Dunn

Simon Peter Price

Beswick Family Fund

Maria Ambegaokar

EG Funds Management

Dr Keith Lethlean and
Dr Heather Johnston

Family of LCDR (Ret’d) and
Mrs David Joseph Angus

Robert and Betty Joss

Robert Constable and
Janet Constable

John and Margot Egan

Ann Quinlan

Dr Anne Eggins and the late Jean Allen

Lesley Kernaghan

Jean Roberts

We would like to make special mention of
the volunteers of the Royal Botanic Gardens
and Domain Trust and Foundation & Friends.
Volunteers donate their time and skills to
assist the programs and work across the
organisation, covering horticulture, science,
visitor engagement and information services,
herbarium specimen-mounting, bush
regeneration, wildlife monitoring and
asset restoration.

The late James O Fairfax AC

Geraldine Arnott and
Christopher Arnott OAM

Sarah Eljerman

James N Kirby Foundation LTD

Beverley Roden

Jerry Ellis AO and Ann Ellis

Nicholas Korner

Karen Roser

Dr Jodie Ellis-Clark and Robert Grainger

Andrew Knop

Susan Rothwell

Jessica Ernst and Toni Delai

Steven Kossard

Elisabeth Ruef

Marco Favaro

The Laidlaw Foundation

Noriko Sakagami

Family Frank Foundation

Marcelle Lawrence

Mark and Ruth Sampson

Raoul de Ferranti and Dr Merilyn Sleigh

Liv-Better Foundation

Family of Caterina Scarcella née Gallico

Dr Dorothy Forster

Dr Vera Li

Johanna Schmeling

We are so grateful for the opportunity to
partner with such a dedicated network of
supporters, past and present.

Barry Kinnaird

Michelle Frankel

Loh Family

Penelope Seidler AM

Dorothy Galvin

Jenny Lourey

Mark Sheridan

The Hon Justice Peter Richard Garling
RFD and Jane Garling

Kathryn Lovric

Ashvat Shetty

Mrs J Ludowici

Jean Siegel

Gibbard family

Lysicrates Foundation

Alice Simpson and Robbie Feyder

Bruno Giuffre

Marita MacMahon Ball

Brenda Skinner

Matthew Glascott

Manildra Flour Mills Pty Ltd

Fiona Snith

Theresa Gock

Pauline Markwell and Dr Shann Turnbull

Andrew Spark

Robert Golik, René Golik
and Michelle Golik

Cheryl Martin

Chris Strang

Darren Mason

Eleanor Sydney-Jones

Les Cahill

Judith Gowland and
the late Neville Grace

Holly Mathews

Elisabeth Thilo

Chase Carleton

Greatorex Foundation

Adele McDonald

Treak Real Estate Pty Ltd

Dr Alex Robertson and
the late Dorothy Robertson

Jennie Churchill

David Groves and Kathryn Groves

John and Judith McKernan

Stephen Utick

Philip Marcus Clark AO

Georgina and Christopher Grubb

Rosemary Millar

Kay Valder AO

John Siemon and Robynne Siemon

Joseph and Sarah Constable

Edward Vellacott and Morna Vellacott

Prof Colin Sullivan AO and
Janette Sullivan

Jim Cotis and Patricia Wason

His Honour Judge Stephen Hanley SC
and Pauline David

Caroline Minogue
Moore Family Philanthropic Foundation
Limited

Meiqiong Wa

We sincerely thank the individuals,
corporate partners, government
entities and philanthropic trusts and
foundations who have generously
supported our work this year. We
also extend our sincere thanks to the
members and donors of Foundation
& Friends for their ongoing and
generous support.

Finally, we would like to especially honour
those who have chosen to support the
Gardens by leaving a gift in their Will.

Major donors

Donors

Ruth Armytage AM

Barbara Abrahart

Roslyn Baker
Belalberi Foundation

Andreasans Nursery
– Maurice and Christina Green

Greg Bell and Myra Bell

John B Fairfax AO
Tim Fairfax AC

Simone Arnott and the
late Robert Arnott

Helen Clift

Anne Arnott

Shaneen Crouch and
the late Michael Crouch AC

Clive Austin AM and Patricia Austin

Douglas Jackson and Tim Jackson
Jamoca Foundation
Dr Ann Long and Dr Geoffrey Long
Susan Maple-Brown AM and
the late Robert Maple-Brown AO

The Australian 49ers Association Inc
Dr Charles Barnes
Lindsey Baudinet
Brigitte Beck
Robert and Joy Bee
Judith Bell

Robyn Godlee and
the late Tony Maxwell

Clive Blazey

Ian McLachlan and
the late Helen McLachlan

Peter Brennan

The Neilson Foundation

Nicholas Boyd

Geoffrey O’Conor and
Rachel O’Conor

Tom Breen and Dr Rachael Kohn AO

Pace Foundation
Dr Jan Roberts and
Prof Ken Roberts AM

Tieck Family
Sally White OAM and
Geoffrey White OAM
Mary Whitton
Colin Wilson
Anonymous

Ian and Clare Breedon
Mattia Bondanza

Mr Paul Carroll

Jennifer Crivelli
Warwick Cumming
Dr Ian Daly and Diana Daly
Denbigh Philanthropic Fund
Prof Noel Dan AM and Adrienne Dan
Ian Daly
Michael Davies
Vincent De Lorenzo
Sir Roderick Deane and
Lady Gillian Deane
Anne De Salis and Martin Barge

Michelle Maskard
Hansen Family and Staikos Family
Ian Hardy
Jennifer Harris
Jill Hawker
Dr Alistair Hay
Dr James Hayes
Mabel Hayes
David Healey
Dr F Max Hooper and Tess Hooper
Kate Horrobin

Greta Moran
Alexander Morcos
Glenn Moss
Miranda Montrone
Mundango Abroad
Elizabeth Murray
Janil Norton
Patricia Novikoff
Dianne O’Connell
Juvie Ormonde

Proud family

Mark Wakely
Emma Wallhead
Bret Walker AO SC
Dr Richard Walsh and Sue Walsh
Michael Watson
West Woollongong Garden Club
Nell White and the late James White
Jill Wran AM
Dr CL Wong
Julie Wong
Dr Stephen Wong
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Australian Seed Bank Partnership/
Royal Botanic Gardens Kew
– Millennium Seed Bank

Major Partners

Anonymous

Australasian Systematic Botany Society
(ABRS)

Liberty Specialty Markets

Legacy Supporters

Centre for the Synthesis and
Analysis of Biodiversity (CESAB)

Estate of Christine Armour

Bioplatforms Australia Pty Ltd

Woods 5 Foundation
David Yates
Yeend Family

Estate of Clive and Lorna Backhouse
Estate of Herbert Born
Estate of the late Margaret Esson

Climate Change Fund
Eucalypt Australia
FIL Foundation

Bloomberg Australia
Pierre Fabre Australia
The Klorane Botanical Foundation
Solar Energy Enterprises

Partners and Supporting
Organisations

Hermon Slade Foundation

Alpine Nurseries

Inspiring Australia

Atelier Lumira

Ian Potter Foundation

Budget Direct

John T Reid Charitable Trust

BioTech Water

Minderoo Foundation

Campbelltown City Council

Modest Expectations Foundation

City of Sydney

National Geographic Species
Recovery Grants

Eden Gardens

National Science Foundation (China)

Garden Grown Gin

Estate of Maureen Manuel

NSW Department of Responsible
Gambling

Hermes Paris

Estate of Cliffina Thersey Rathborne

NSW Environmental Trust

Estate of Miss Beryl Raymer

NSW Government – Saving Our Species

The Centenary Foundation
– Scott Family Bequest

Rio Tinto

Estate of Elizabeth Helen Gainey
Estate of Patricia Hammond-Reid
Harcourt Family Bequest
Estate of Paul Albin Herzberg
Estate of Barbara Hill
Estate of Stephen Victor Jupp
Estate of Jian Kun Niu
Estate of Helen Lyons
Estate of Nancy Malfanti

Estate of Jean and Jock Smail

RPS consulting (Rural Planning Services)

Estate of Lois Stewart

Transport for NSW
(Pittosporum project)

Estate of Paul Victor Willoughby

US National Science Foundation

Charitable, Government
and Research Grants
ACARP
Australian Academy of Science
Australian Biological Resources Study
Australian Flora Foundation

Vincent Fairfax Family Foundation
Western Sydney Airport Threatened
Flora Program (GHD Pty Ltd)

Evergreen Garden Care

Horticulture Innovation Australia
Lord of the Trees
Oasis Horticulture
Proteaflora
Toolijooa Environmental Restoration

The Royal Botanic Gardens and
Domain Trust is committed to
the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals. The Trust
is working to align our planning,
strategies and plans with the
Sustainable Development Goals
over the next 12 months.
We are committed to working within a
sustainability framework which embraces
waste reduction and increased resource
recovery. Key focus areas for 2020-21
continued in water, energy and waste
management across our sites.
In June 2020 the Trust Board adopted
a Resource Sustainability Strategy (20192039) to improve the environmental
sustainability of the organisation and
support the NSW Government’s
zero-carbon emissions goal.
The Strategy has been prepared to ensure
the Trust has considered the environmental
impacts of its current operations, and
through implementation of improvement
measures will strengthen the sustainability
performance of our sites.

Seedlip
Tourism & Transport Forum Australia
Tyrrell’s Wines

The key targets within
the Strategy with regards to
emissions, water and waste are:

The University of Sydney
Vegepod

Waterloo Residents Market Grant

WaterUps®

Wollemi Pine Royalty Funds

Yates

CO2
75% reduction in operational
greenhouse gas emissions
by 2040

Principal Partners

Australian Government, Dept
Environment and Energy (Threatened
Species Commission Fund)

HSBC Bank Australia

Australian Government Department
of Industry, Innovation and Science

Government Partners

Australian Government Department
of Social Services

NSW Government Department
of Communities & Justice

Australian National Botanic Gardens/
NSW Environmental Trust

Commonwealth and State Disaster
Recovery Funding

Australian Research Council

SUSTAINABILITY

MetLife Insurance



100% water security

80% diversion from
landfill by 2040.

Environmental sustainability
Water management
Water management and sustainability are
critical activities for the Trust, with each
Garden relying on different water sources:
• T
 he Royal Botanic Garden Sydney uses
mainly potable (drinking) water in
addition to tank water in the nursery.
• T
 he Blue Mountains Botanic Garden
Mount Tomah uses water collected
on site — water for irrigation and toilet
flushing is sourced from the dam, which
collects rainwater and run-off, and all
potable water is harvested from roof
tops.
• T
 he Australian Botanic Garden Mount
Annan, with approval from WaterNSW,
draws water directly from the canal that
supplies the Prospect Reservoir Water
Filtration Plant.

With the easing of drought conditions since
the last reporting period, measures continue
to be taken to conserve water, including:
• installation of smart timers (with rain
sensor override) to time-restrict water
delivery and ‘pulse’ water to improve
infiltration rates and reduce wasted water
• night-time irrigation for selected lawns.

Energy management
The Trust’s electricity usage is bought under
the State Contract Control Board electricity
contract (numbers 776 and 777). These
contracts minimise costs and allow for the
purchase of Green Power generated from
renewable sources.
During 2020-21 the Trust purchased a
minimum 6% Green Power under the State’s
776 and 777 contracts. The Trust also had
three locations under the 777 Contract
that purchased 10% Green Power.
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Solar panels are operational at the Royal
Botanic Garden Sydney’s Central Depot
(24kW system), the Australian Botanic
Garden Mount Annan (100kW system)
and the Blue Mountains Botanic Garden
Mount Tomah Visitor Centre (26.97kW
system) and Depot (60kW system).

Commercial sustainability

Restaurants

In 2020-21 we had 14 leases and licences
across our three sites – a reduction of five
agreements predominantly as a result of the
past cumulative impact of the December
2019 bushfires and the COVID-19 outbreak.

An additional 50kW system was installed in
late 2020 for the Australian PlantBank at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan.

The nature of the leases and licences are
predominantly food and beverage related as
well as a car parking station and tourist reliant
experiences such as retail shop, trackless train
and telescopes.

Whilst the larger principal food and
beverage venues reopened to the public
from mid-June 2020, with reduced trade
days and hours (typically Wednesday to
Sunday), patronage rebuild has been very
slow, especially in light of closed international
air and sea travel routes and ongoing
COVID-19 hotspots impacting on patronage,
necessitating further controls and trading
restrictions.

In addition to the photovoltaic system, a
program of replacement of public domain
lighting took place between April and June
2021 to move to LED lights from traditional
street and bollard lighting systems.
A further 100kW system is planned to be
installed in the next financial year as part
of the construction of the new National
Herbarium of New South Wales at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan
as well as continuing the replacement of
office lighting with LED lamps.
A key energy management achievement for
2020-21 includes the generation of more
than 246.1MWh of electricity by the Trust’s
combined photovoltaic systems — a saving
of 199 tonnes in CO2 emissions.

Waste management
Across our three sites, waste is managed in
varying ways according to needs and the
waste management services available. The
waste streams are clearly identified and
quantities are monitored. Organic and green
waste is separated and either collected for
recycling or reused on site as mulch. We
continue to reduce our office waste through
recycling paper and cardboard, ink cartridges
and mobile phones.

All revenue for the commercial activities of
the Gardens goes back into maintaining and
upgrading our assets, services and facilities
across our sites.

COVID-19
The impacts of COVID-19 continue to have a
significant effect on businesses on Trust lands,
and contributed to the closure/surrender
of leases for food and beverage offerings by
operators at the Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan (June 20) and the Blue
Mountains Botanic Garden Mount Tomah
(August 20).
Other businesses affected included the
cessation of the trackless train due to the
lack of tourist numbers and cessation of
accommodation leases.
The Trust continues to work with all
remaining tenants to ensure we achieve
optimal outcomes in accordance with the
principles of the National Code of Conduct
in terms of rent relief and rent waiver.

Approaches to market to address the vacated
premises at the Australian Botanic Garden
Mount Annan and the Blue Mountains
Botanic Garden Mount Tomah have been
explored, and while the environment seemed
promising at the end of the reporting period,
the rise of the Delta strain has required
rethinking of the approaches.
Interim food and beverage offerings continue
to be activated in spaces to capture current
passing trade.

Other operators
Larger operators such as the Domain Carpark
and the Garden Shop continue to be affected
by the COVID-19 pandemic and the resultant
decline in visitors to the CBD, particularly
where the international tourist market is
a significant contributor to the operator’s
viability.

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
Royal
Botanic
Gardens and Domain Trust
To Members of the New South
Wales
Parliament

Opinion
I have
auditedofthe
financial
statements of Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
To
Members
theaccompanying
New South Wales
Parliament
(the Trust), which comprise the Statement by the Accountable Authority, the Statement of
Opinion
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021, the Statement of Financial Position as at
30
June
2021, the
the accompanying
Statement of Changes
Equity andofthe
Statement
Cash Flows,
for the year
I have
audited
financialinstatements
Royal
BotanicofGardens
and Domain
Trustthen
ended,
notes
comprising
a
Statement
of
Significant
Accounting
Policies,
and
other
explanatory
(the Trust), which comprise the Statement by the Accountable Authority, the Statement of
information.
Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021, the Statement of Financial Position as at
30
June
2021, the
the financial
Statement
of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows, for the year then
In my
opinion,
statements:
ended, notes comprising a Statement of Significant Accounting Policies, and other explanatory
information.
•
have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the applicable
financial reporting requirements of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 (GSF Act), the
In my opinion,
the financial
statements:
Government
Sector Finance
Regulation 2018 (GSF Regulation) and the Treasurer's Directions
•
presents
fairly
the
Trust's
financial
financial
performance
and cash
flows
have been prepared in accordanceposition,
with Australian
Accounting
Standards
and
the applicable
financial reporting requirements of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 (GSF Act), the
My opinion
should be
read Finance
in conjunction
with the
rest
of this
report. and the Treasurer's Directions
Government
Sector
Regulation
2018
(GSF
Regulation)
•
presents fairly the Trust's financial position, financial performance and cash flows

Basis for Opinion

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements’
Basis
formyOpinion
section of
report.
II conducted
my audit
in accordance
with Australian
Auditing
Standards.
My responsibilities under the
am independent
of the
Trust in accordance
with the
requirements
of the:
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements’
section
of my report.
•
Australian
Auditing Standards
•I am independent
Accounting of
Professional
Ethical Standards
Board’s APES
the Trust inand
accordance
with the requirements
of110
the:‘Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ (APES 110).
•
Australian Auditing Standards
I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.
•
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for
Professional
Accountants
(including
Independence
Standards)’and
(APES
110). Office of
Parliament
promotes
independence
by ensuring
the Auditor-General
the Audit
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:
I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.
•
providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an
Parliament
promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of
Auditor-General
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:
•
mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
providing that
Parliament, and
the executive
government,
••
precluding
theonly
Auditor-General
fromnot
providing
non-audit
services. can remove an
Auditor-General
I• believe
the auditthe
evidence
I have obtained
is sufficient
appropriate
mandating
Auditor-General
as auditor
of publicand
sector
agenciesto provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
•
precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.
I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.

Other Information
The Trust’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021 includes other information in addition to the
financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. The Trustees of the Trust are
responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other
information I have received comprise the draft annual report.
My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other
information, I must report that fact.
I have nothing to report in this regard.

The Trustee’s Responsibilities for the Financial statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the GSF Act, GSF Regulations and Treasurer's
Directions .The Trustee's responsibility also includes such internal control as the Trustees determine is
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial statements
My objectives are to:
•
•

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error
issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take
based on the financial statements.
A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The
description forms part of my auditor’s report.
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The scope of my audit does not include, nor provide assurance:
•
•
•
•

that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
about the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial
statements
about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial
statements on any website where they may be presented
about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

ROYAL BOTANIC GARDENS AND DOMAIN TRUST

Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2021
Michael Kharzoo
Director, Financial Audit
Delegate of the Auditor-General for New South Wales
14 October 2021
SYDNEY
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Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust

Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 30 June 2021

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Pursuant to Part 7.6 of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 , we state that:
(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and any other requirements specified by the Act, the regulations or the
Treasurer's directions.
(b) the statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position, and the financial
performance and cash flows of the year then ended; and
(c) we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars included in the
financial statements to be materially misleading or inaccurate.

Continuing operations
Expenses excluding losses
Personnel services expenses
Other operating expenses
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Total expenses excluding losses

Notes

Actual
2021
$'000

Budget
2021
$'000

Actual
2020
$'000

2(a)
2(b)

26,861
26,222
4
7,592
60,679

32,497
22,195
4
6,726
61,422

27,972
22,580
5
6,461
57,018

3(a)
3(b)
3(c)
3(d)
3(e)

5,538
8,009
587
88,532
698

6,364
7,576
783
80,321
1,634

10,010
8,180
726
60,412
1,634

3(f)

2,419
105,783

677
97,355

362
81,324

45,104

35,933

24,306

(385)
(212)
(1,709)
42,798

(331)
35,602

(573)
(58)
(165)
23,510

42,798

35,602

23,510

14,919
14,919

-

9,932
9,932

57,717

35,602

33,442

2(c)

Revenue
Sale of goods and services from contracts with customers
Investment revenue
Retained taxes, fees and fines
Grants and other contributions
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and
other liabilities
Other income
Total revenue

Philip Marcus Clark AO
Trust Chairman

Mark Fleming
Trustee

Operating result
Net (Loss) /Gain on disposal
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses on intangibles
Impairment losses on financial assets
Net result from continuing operations

4(a)
4(a)
4(a)
4(b)
24

Net result
Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods

Changes in revaluation surplus of property, plant
and equipment
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

11 October 2021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust

Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Equity

as at 30 June 2021
Notes
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories - Retail Stores
Other financial assets - Term deposits
Total Current Assets
Non Current Assets
Receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

6
7
9

10
11
12(a)
13

Total Assets

Actual
2021
$'000

Budget
2021
$'000

Actual
2020
$'000

28,282
4,551
74
1,411
34,318

5,666
2,390
85
9,328
17,469

41,600
2,731
87
1,401
45,819

8,985
935,524
356
4,159
949,024

9,644
933,034
261
2,700
945,639

8,157
881,850
322
2,942
893,271

983,342

963,108

939,090

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

16
17
8
12(a)
18(a)

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Total Non-Current Liabilities

16
17
8
12(a)
18(b)

Total Liabilities
Net Assets

8,809
3,423
4,760
111
2,577
19,680

3,626
2,913
2,419
78
1,500
10,536

25,595
3,020
2,175
95
1,568
32,453

93
760
249
193
1,295

877
67
745
183
1,871

78
1,397
230
282
1,987

20,975

12,407

34,440

962,367

950,701

904,650

564,655
397,712
962,367

557,459
393,242
950,701

521,857
382,793
904,650

EQUITY
Accumulated funds
Reserves
Total Equity
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

19
19

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Notes

Asset
Accumulated
Funds Revaluation
Surplus
$'000
$'000

Total
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2020

521,857

382,793

904,650

Net result for the year

42,798

-

42,798

-

14,919
14,919

14,919
14,919

42,798

14,919

57,717

Balance at 30 June 2021

564,655

397,712

962,367

Balance at 1 July 2019
Changes in Accounting Policy AASB15
Changes in Accounting Policy AASB1058

502,824
(3,901)
(775)

373,060
-

875,884
(3,901)
(775)

Restated balance at 1 July 2019

498,148

373,060

871,208

23,510

-

23,510

Other Comprehensive Income
Net change in revaluation surplus of property, plant and equipment
Total other comprehensive income

11

Total comprehensive income for the year

Net result for the Year

Other Comprehensive income
Net change in revaluation surplus of property, plant and equipment
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year
Transfers between Equity Items
Transfers on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Total transfer between Equity Items
Balance at 30 June 2020

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

11

-

9,932
9,932

9,932
9,932

23,510

9,932

33,442

199
199

(199)
(199)

-

521,857

382,793

904,650
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Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Statement of Cash Flows

(a) Reporting entity

for the year ended 30 June 2021

Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust (the Trust) is a corporation constituted under the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust Act 1980 .
It is a NSW government entity and is controlled by the State of New South Wales, which is the ultimate parent. The Trust is a not-for-profit entity
(as profit is not its principal objective).

Notes

Actual
2021
$'000

Budget
2021
$'000

Actual
2020
$'000

43,119
36,545
4
79,668

32,497
53,899
86,396

8,375
22,025
5
30,405

87,677
6,257
6,247
587
278
22
2,265
3,849
107,182

77,438
5,875
7,517
59
11,154
102,043

52,006
12,626
5,786
726
306
63
150
262
71,925

27,514

15,647

41,520

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Proceeds from sale of financial assets
Purchases of financial assets

(40,917)
(10)

(43,526)
(7,927)

(9,070)
1,235
(26)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

204
(40,723)

(51,453)

23
(7,838)

Receipts
Grants and contributions
Sale of goods and services
Rent received
Retained taxes, fees and fines
Reimbursements from the Crown Entity
Interest received
Insurance recoveries
Other
Total Receipts
24

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

• To encourage the use and enjoyment of the Trust lands by the public by promoting the educational, historical, cultural and recreational value
of those lands.
These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 have been authorised for issue by the Board of Trustees on 11 October 2021.
(b) Basis of preparation
The Trust's financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared on an accrual basis and in accordance
with:
*

applicable Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian Accounting Interpretations) (AAS);

*

the requirements of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 (GSF Act) ; and

*

Treasurer’s Directions issued under the GSF Act .

Property, plant and equipment are measured using the fair value basis. Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the
historical cost convention.
Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management has made, are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.
Unless otherwise stated, amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency, which is the Trust's
presentation and functional currency.
(c) Going concern
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) a pandemic. The impacts of
COVID-19 have been significant, triggering both federal and state government fiscal and monetary stimulus, Health Orders, mandated closures,
social distancing and cancellation of both public events and sports. These measures have had a direct flow on effect to the Trust including:
rentals, major events, sports, parking, infringement and corporate partnerships revenues causing major disruption to business and significantly
effecting the Trust’s prior year and current year financial performance and cash flows.
To date the Trust has received Treasury funding of $5,745,000 for FY20 and $11,500,000 for FY21 to cover loss of self-generated revenue
associated with COVID-19. An ongoing insurance claim for COVID-19 losses is being assessed. The estimated claim is approximately
$8,080,000, with losses to increase as the current COVID-19 outbreak continues. Of this, claims totalling $3,238,000 have been submitted for
assessment with $1,691,000 of the claims submitted paid to date.
As part of both the federal and state government stimulus response to the outbreak, rent relief or rent deferrals have either been agreed or are
still under negotiation with tenants. The impact on rental income cashflow for the financial year was approximately $1,000,000 to $1,500,000.
With the latest COVID-19 outbreak and the current NSW Government restrictions and interstate border closures, the impact on rental cashflow
could be in the range of $1,000,000 to $2,500,000.
Given the ongoing uncertainty around COVID-19 impacts globally it is envisaged revenue and cashflows will continue to be impacted in the short
to medium term given the Trust’s reliance on the tourism sector and approval and timing of existing and new insurance claims.

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCE ACTIVITIES
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Opening cash and cash equivalents
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

• To maintain and improve the Trust lands (at the Royal Botanic Garden Sydney, the Domain, the Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan and
the Blue Mountains Botanic Garden Mount Tomah); the National Herbarium; and the collections of living and preserved life owned by the Trust.
• To increase and disseminate knowledge with respect to the plant life of Australia, and of New South Wales in particular, and

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Personnel services
Suppliers for goods and services
Grants and subsidies
Finance costs
Total Payments

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The Trust’s principle objectives are:

6

(109)
(109)

(126)
(126)

(112)
(112)

(13,318)

(35,933)

33,570

41,600
28,282

41,599
5,666

8,030
41,600

The Trust’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In making its assessment that this basis is appropriate the Trust
has taken into account and relied upon the letter of support provided by the Department of Planning Industry and Environment dated 6 October
2021 which states it will continue to provide financial and other support to the Trust for 12 months from the date of the signed audit opinion of the
Trust. This will be to the extent that such support is required, following best endeavours by management and the Accountable Authority to
minimise any such requirement, and subject to any intervening decision of the Government in relation to the Trust.
As the Trust is reliant on Government funding, the Trust is dependent on further funding from the Government to maintain operations. Should the
Trust not be successful in securing further funding, there may be uncertainty whether the Trust would continue as a going concern and therefore
whether it would realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.
The financial report does not include adjustments relating to the recoverability or classification of the recorded asset amounts or to the amounts
or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Trust not be able to continue as a going concern.
(d) Statement of compliance
The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Accounting Interpretations.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Significant estimates and assumptions

(e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except that the:
*

amount of GST incurred by the Trust as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is recognised as
part of an asset's cost of acquisition or part of an item of expense; and

*

receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. However, the GST components of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
(f) Comparative Information
Except when an AAS permits or requires otherwise, comparative information is presented in respect of the previous period for all amounts
reported in the financial statements.
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to ensure consistent presentation with the current year.
(g) Changes in accounting policy, including new or revised AAS
(i)

The preparation of the Trust’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities
affected in future periods.
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Trust
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of
the Trust. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value Policy and Guidelines
Paper (TPP 14-01). This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 116 Property, Plant and
Equipment .
The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of physical non-current assets are provided in Note 11.

Effective for the first time in FY2020-21

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors is effective for the first time. Service Concession Arrangements are contracts between
an operator and a grantor, where the operator provides public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of the grantor for a
specified period of time and manages at least some of those services.
Where AASB 1059 applies, the grantor recognises the service concession asset when the grantor obtains control of the asset and measures the
service concession asset at current replacement cost. At the same time the grantor recognises a corresponding financial liability or unearned
revenue liability or a combination of both.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables
The Trust has established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors. The assessment
of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of
ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Trust’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Trust’s
trade receivables is disclosed in Note 25.

The Trust does not have any service concession arrangments and hence AASB 1059 does not have an impact on the financial statements.
(ii)

Issued but not yet effective

NSW public sector entities are not permitted to early adopt new AAS, unless Treasury determines otherwise.
The following new Accounting Standards relevant to the Trust have not been applied and are not yet effective.
• AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material
• AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the Conceptual Framework
• AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
• AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral of Effective
Date
• AASB 2020-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards – Tier 2 Disclosures: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Phase 2) and Other Amendments
• AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates
The standards not yet effective have been assessed for their possible impact on the financial statements, if any, in the period of their initial
application. The assessment concluded that there will be no material impact.
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3.

REVENUES

2.

EXPENSES EXCLUDING LOSSES

(a)

Personnel services expenses

Recognition and Measurement

Personnel services are acquired from Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
and comprise of:
Salaries and wages (including recreational leave)
Superannuation - defined benefit plans
Superannuation - defined contribution plans
Long service leave
Workers' compensation insurance
Payroll and fringe benefits tax
Redundancy payments
Total

Income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities ,
dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer defined by AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Comments regarding the accounting policies for
the recognition of income are discussed below.

(b)

Notes

Other operating expenses
Fee for services
Fees for performer
Share services cost
Maintenance
Waste removal and cleaning
Volunteer and in-kind contributions
Stores and provisions
Security
Utilities
Contractors
Insurance
Consultants
Other
Total

2021
$'000
22,273
180
1,852
561
775
1,220
26,861

2020
$'000
22,338
192
1,880
1,553
558
1,387
64
27,972

2021
$'000
5,979
3,599
3,061
2,532
1,675
1,345
1,326
1,301
1,348
512
763
220
2,561
26,222

2020
$'000
3,830
105
3,061
3,204
1,825
1,665
1,674
1,325
1,195
652
401
157
3,486
22,580

(a)

2021
$'000
2,532
201
10,651
13,384

2020
$'000
3,204
126
11,365
14,695

323

324

Rendering of Services
- Use of recreational facilities
- Parking meter
- Fees received
- Provision of horticultural services
Subtotal of rendering of services

1,163
2,804
990
258
5,215

4,802
2,404
1,473
1,007
9,686

Total

5,538

10,010

Recognition and Measurement
Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised as when the Trust satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the promised goods. The Trust typically satisfies its
performance obligations at a point in time when control of the goods is transferred to the customers.
Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price agreed at the point of sale, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal will not occur. No volume discount or additional warranty is provided on sale of goods.
Rendering of services
The Trust has a range of heritage buildings and outdoor areas (such as the Domain) made available for community, charitable and ticketed events. In addition, the Trust
also facilitates a range of activities including weddings, team-building activities, picnics, sports, film and photography shoots. Some events will require an upfront payment
and revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the Trust satisfies the performance obligation by transferring the promised services. Any unsatisfied
obligations for the above revenue contracts with customers have been recognised as liabilities as at 30 June 2021. Refer to Note 8.
The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. No element of financing is deemed present as payments are due when service is provided.

(b)

Investment Revenue

2021
$'000
7,987
11
11
8,009

Rental income
Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost
Other
Total

Recognition and Measurement
Maintenance expense
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement or an enhancement of a part or
component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

2020
$'000
8,117
33
30
8,180

Recognition and Measurement
Rental income

Insurance

Rental income arising from operating leases is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Trust’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self-insurance for Government entities. The expense (premium) is
determined by the Fund Manager based on past claims experience.
(c)

2020
$'000

Sale of goods

Volunteer and in-kind contributions include: volunteer services received of $1,207,000 (2020: $1,398,000) and in-kind contributions received from vendors and sponsors
of $138,000 (2020: $267,000). Also refer to Note 3(d).

Maintenance Reconciliation:
Maintenance expense, as above
Maintenance expense contracted labour
Personnel services maintenance expense included in Note 2(a)
Total maintenance expenses included in Note 2(a) and 2(b)

2021
$'000

Sale of goods and services from contracts with customers

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Notes

Depreciation
Buildings
Infrastructure systems
Plant and equipment

11
11
11
12

Right of use assets
Total

2021
$'000
3,476
2,583
1,184
7,243
110
7,353

2020
$'000
3,106
2,208
837
6,151
110
6,261

All leases are classified as operating leases as the lease payments do not represent substantially all the fair value of the leased asset and as a result the lessee does not
substantially hold all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(c)

Retained taxes, fees and fines

2021
$'000
587

2020
$'000
726

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Recurrent grant - Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
Other grants with sufficiently specific performance obligations

32,606
6,861

38,622
3,012

Grants to acquire/construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the Trust
- Capital grant - Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
- Other capital grants
- National Herbarium of NSW (The Herbarium)
- Seed Bank collection
- Assets acquired free of charge
Donations
Volunteer and in-kind contributions
Total grants and contributions

13,991
30,522
501
1,272
626
946
1,207
88,532

2,903
6,496
949
579
5,344
842
1,665
60,412

Parking fine and penalty income

Amortisation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total

13

239
239

200
200

Total depreciation and amortisation

24

7,592

6,461

Recognition and Measurement
Refer Note 11 for depreciation policy related to Property, Plant and Equipment, Note 12 for rights of use assets and Note 13 for amortisation policy related to Intangible
assets.

Page 10
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Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021

REVENUES (continued)

5.

Recognition and Measurement

The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust operates as one program group. The Trust incorporates the Australian Institute of Botanical Science which brings together
the people, with the physical and virtual scientific collections, research, services and facilities of the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust. The Institute is one of the
nation’s premier botanical research organisations and helps ensure the survival of plants and build more resilient ecosystems for future generations. The Institute also
incorporates the National Herbarium of NSW, the Research Centre for Ecosystem Resilience, the Australian PlantBank, the Centre for Education and Engagement, and
the historic Daniel Solander Library. Additionally, the Trust manages the living collections across the three Gardens while supporting community, cultural, sporting and
recreational events.

Income from grants to acquire/construct a recognisable non-financial asset to be controlled by the Trust is recognised when the Trust satisfies its obligations under the
transfer. The Trust satisfies the performance obligations under the transfer to construct assets over time as the non-financial assets are being constructed.
Revenue from grants with sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised as when the Trust satisfies a performance obligation by transferring the promised
goods such research programs. The Trust typically satisfies its performance obligations when milestone are completed. Revenue from these grants is recognised based
on the grant amount specified in the funding agreement/funding approval, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. No element of financing is deemed present as funding payments are usually received in advance or shortly after the relevant obligation is satisfied.

PROGRAM GROUP OF THE TRUST

6.

CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Notes

Revenue from grants without sufficiently specific performance obligations is recognised when the Trust obtains control over the granted assets (e.g. cash).
Cash at bank
Petty cash
At call deposits
Total

Receipt of volunteer services is recognised when and only when the fair value of those services can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased
if not donated. Volunteer services are measured at fair value. Volunteer services received amounted to $1,207,000 (2020: $1,398,000) as well as in kind contributions
received from vendors and sponsors $138,000 (2020: $267,000) also refer to Note 2 (b).
The Herbarium contributions of $501,000 (2020: $949,000) and seed bank contributions of $1,272,000 (2020: $579,000), reflect the in-kind contributions of Herbarium
specimens and seed collections specimens from other institutions and field collections. In addition, the assets acquired free of charge included renovation work by
tenants on Trust's assets at Botanic House & Farm Cove Eatery and Terrace on Domain Restaurant in 2020. In 2021, the assets acquired free of charge are related to
library collections and artefacts.

(e)

Notes

26

Other income

Notes

Insurance recoveries
Other
Total
4.

GAIN / (LOSSES)

(a)

Gain/ (Losses) on disposal

Notes

Proceeds from the sale of assets
Written down value of assets disposed - P&E
Written down value of assets disposed - Intangibles
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses on intangibles
Total
(b)

Restricted assets listed in Note 15 are included in the cash and cash equivalents amounts.
Refer Note 25 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk arising from financial instruments.

The following liabilities and / or expenses have been assumed by the Crown Entity or other government entities:

(f)

11
13
11
13
24

2021
$'000
173
517
8
698

2020
$'000
182
1,442
10
1,634

2021
$'000
2,265
154
2,419

2020
$'000
150
212
362

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

204
(572)
(17)
(212)
(597)

23
(596)
(58)
(631)

(1,663)
(46)
(1,709)

(155)
(10)
(165)

Other Gain/ (Losses)
7

Impairment losses on receivable
Bad debt write off
Total

2020
$'000
40,554
1
1,045
41,600

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank, cash on hand and short term deposits with maturities of three months
or less and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilities

Superannuation – defined benefit
Long service leave provision
Payroll tax
Total

2021
$'000
27,236
1,046
28,282

24

7.

CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES

Notes

Retained taxes - GST receivable
Prepayments
Total

2021
$'000
1,598
2
2,406
(1,912)
2,094
1,847
610
4,551

2020
$'000
447
15
1,540
(249)
1,753
853
125
2,731

* Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses
Balance at the beginning of the year
Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
Increase in allowance recognised in net results
Balance at the end of the year

2021
$'000
(249)
46
(1,709)
(1,912)

2020
$'000
(93)
10
42
(208)
(249)

Trade receivables from contracts with customers
Contract assets
Rent receivable
Less Allowance for expected credit losses

8

Recognition and Measurement
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
are measured at the transaction price.
Subsequent measurement
The Trust holds receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any impairment. Changes are recognised in the net result for the year when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process.
Impairment

Recognition and Measurement

The Trust recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt financial assets. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
and the cash flows that the Trust expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Impairment losses
Impairment losses may arise on assets held by the Trust from time to time. Accounting for impairment losses is dependent upon the individual asset (or group of assets)
subject to impairment. Accounting Policies and events giving rise to impairment losses are disclosed in the following notes:

For trade receivables and rent receivables, the Trust applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The Trust recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Trust has established a provision matrix based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
receivable.

Note 7 – Receivables
Note 9 – Other financial assets
Note 11 – Property, plant and equipment
Note 12 – Leases
Note 13 – Intangible assets
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8.

CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Notes
7

Contract assets - current
Contract liabilities - current
Contract liabilities - non-current
Total Contract Liabilities

2021
$'000
2

2020
$'000
15

4,760
760
5,520

2,175
1,397
3,572

Recognition and Measurement
Contract assets relate to the Trust's right to consideration in exchange for goods transferred to customers/works completed, but not billed at the reporting date in respect
of event recoveries. Contract assets is included in Note 7.
Contract liabilities relate to consideration received in advance from customers in respect of grants with sufficiently specific performance obligations. The balance of
contract liabilities at 30 June 2021 was impacted by the recognition of grant and unearned revenue from the satisfaction of the performance obligations.

9.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS - TERM DEPOSITS

Notes

Term Deposits

2021
$'000
1,411

2020
$'000
1,401

11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)

Total property, plant and equipment
Land and
buildings
$'000

Plant and
equipment
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Collection
assets
$'000

Work in
Progress
$'000

$'000

As at 1 July 2020 fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

431,845
(35,657)
396,188

10,538
(7,974)
2,564

124,321
(38,090)
86,231

381,572
381,572

15,295
15,295

963,571
(81,721)
881,850

As at 30 June 2021 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

451,316
(39,120)
412,196

11,602
(8,813)
2,789

129,048
(41,310)
87,738

386,214
386,214

46,587
46,587

1,024,767
(89,243)
935,524

Note

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current and prior reporting period is set out below.

Recognition and Measurement
Other financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus any transaction cost.

Note
As at 30 June 2021
Net carrying amount at start of year

Subsequent measurement

Land and
buildings
$'000

Plant and
equipment
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Collection
assets
$'000

Work in
Progress
$'000

Total
$'000

396,188

2,564

86,231

381,572

15,295

881,850

11,456
8,028
(3,476)
412,196

(88)
13
1,484
(1,184)
2,789

1,285
2,805
(2,583)
87,738

2,334
2,178
130
386,214

44,171
(484)
52
(12,447)
46,587

44,171
(572)
2,399
14,919
(7,243)
935,524

Land and
buildings
$'000

Plant and
equipment
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Collection
assets
$'000

Work in
Progress
$'000

Total
$'000

392,084

2,492

81,512

373,548

13,367

863,003

(307)
4,322
1,376
1,819
(3,106)
396,188

(40)
949
(837)
2,564

(249)
256
607
2,237
4,076
(2,208)
86,231

1,687
6,319
18
381,572

8,848
(58)
(6,862)
15,295

8,848
(596)
(58)
256
6,616
9,932
(6,151)
881,850

Financial assets at amortised cost
The Trust's financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost as they are held for collection of contractual cash flows solely representing
payments of principal and interest. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of comprehensive income. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in net results and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment
The Trust recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt financial assets. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
and the cash flows that the Trust expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Additions
Disposals
Capital donation/contribution
Net revaluation increment
Transfer
Depreciation expense
Net carrying amount at end of year

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are based on default
events possible within the next 12-months (i.e. a 12-month ECL). If there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (i.e. a lifetime ECL). In addition, the Trust considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
The Trust's term deposits are with National Australia Bank (NAB) which has been rated 'A-1+' by Standard and Poor's. Such financial institution is regarded as having a
strong credit rating and therefore considered to have negligible credit risk. The Trust does not expect any credit losses on these term deposits and thus makes no
allowance for a such loss.

10.

NON CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES

Notes

Straight lining of operating leases
Rent receivable
Total

2021
$'000
8,802
183
8,985

2020
$'000
8,157
8,157

4
3(d),24
2(c)

Note
Year ended 30 June 2020
Net carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Impairment losses
Assets recognised first time
Capital donation/contribution
Net revaluation increment
Transfer
Depreciation expense
Net carrying amount at end of year

4
4
3(d),24
3(d),24
2(c)

Non current receivables relating to the straight lining of the income for the leased assets is accounted for in accordance with the requirements of AASB 16 Leases (refer
to Note 3(b)) and non current trade receivables is accounted for as described in Note 9 above.
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11.

11.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment held and used by the Trust

Recognition and Measurement
Land and
buildings
$'000

Plant and
equipment
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Collection
assets
$'000

Work in
Progress
$'000

$'000

As at 1 July 2020 fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

364,310
(31,901)
332,409

10,538
(7,974)
2,564

122,635
(37,963)
84,672

381,572
381,572

15,295
15,295

894,350
(77,838)
816,512

As at 30 June 2021 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net carrying amount

389,885
(34,982)
354,903

11,602
(8,813)
2,789

127,329
(41,093)
86,236

386,214
386,214

46,587
46,587

961,617
(84,888)
876,729

Note

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Total

(i) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of
cash or cash equivalents paid, or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the
amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the specific requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at measurement date.
Where payment of an asset is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent; i.e. deferred payment amount is effectively discounted over the
period of credit.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition.
(ii) Capitalisation thresholds
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually (or forming part of a network costing more than $5,000) are capitalised.

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment held and used by the Trust at the beginning and end of the reporting period is set
out below:

Note
As at 30 June 2021
Net carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Disposals
Capital donation/contribution
Net revaluation increment
Transfer
Depreciation expense
Net carrying amount
(c)

Land and
buildings
$'000

Plant and
equipment
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Collection
assets
$'000

Work in
Progress
$'000

Total
$'000

332,409

2,564

84,672

381,572

15,295

816,512

-

(88)
13
1,484
(1,184)
2,789

1,256
2,805
(2,497)
86,236

2,334
2,178
130
386,214

44,171
(484)
52
(12,447)
46,587

44,171
(572)
2,399
20,491
(6,272)
876,729

-

17,057
8,028
(2,591)
354,903

Property, plant and equipment where the Trust is lessor under an operating lease

At 1 July 2020 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount
As at 30 June 2021 - fair value
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount

When a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.
(iv) Restoration costs
The present value of the expected cost for the restoration or cost of dismantling of an asset after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition
criteria for a provision are met.
(v) Maintenance
Day-to-day servicing costs or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred. However, where they relate to the replacement of a component of an asset, which
restores the service potential and extends the life of the asset beyond that which it had originally, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
(vi) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Except for certain non depreciable assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount of each
asset as it is consumed over its useful life to the Trust. Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets including original artworks and collections such as
herbarium and seed collections, may not have a limited useful life because appropriate curatorial and preservation policies are adopted. Such assets are not subject to
depreciation. The decision not to recognise depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually.
All material separately identifiable components of assets are depreciated over their useful lives.
Depreciable assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition.

Land and
Buildings
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Total
$'000

67,535
(3,756)
63,779

1,686
(127)
1,559

69,221
(3,883)
65,338

61,431
(4,138)
57,293

1,719
(217)
1,502

63,150
(4,355)
58,795

Reconciliation
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment subject to an operating lease at the beginning and end of the reporting period is set
out below:

As at 30 June 2021
Net carrying amount at beginning of year
Revaluation increment/ (decrement)
Depreciation expense
Net carrying amount

(iii) Major inspection costs

Useful life years
2021
4-100 years
N/A
5-100 years
N/A
3 to 30 years

Buildings
Buildings Heritage
Infrastructure
Infrastructure Heritage
Plant and equipment

Useful life years
2020
4-100 years
N/A
5-100 years
N/A
3 to 30 years

(vii) Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value Policy and Guidelines Paper (TPP 14-01). This
policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is measured at the highest and best use by market participants that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. The
highest and best use must be available at a period that is not remote and take into account the characteristics of the asset being measured, including any socio-political
restrictions imposed by government. In most cases, after taking into account these considerations, the highest and best use is the existing use. In limited circumstances,
the highest and best use may be a feasible alternative use, where there are no restrictions on use or where there is a feasible higher restricted alternative use.

Land and
Buildings
$'000

Infrastructure
systems
$'000

Total
$'000

Fair value of property, plant and equipment is based on a market participant's perspective, using valuation techniques (market approach, cost approach, income
approach) that maximise relevant observable inputs and minimise unobservable inputs. Also refer Note 14 for further information regarding fair value.

63,779
(5,601)
(885)
57,293

1,559
29
(86)
1,502

65,338
(5,572)
(971)
58,795

Revaluation is made with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of each asset in the class does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date. The
Trust conducts a comprehensive revaluation at least every three years for its land and buildings (except infrastructure and land under infrastructure) where the market or
income approach is the most appropriate valuation technique and at least every five years for other classes of property, plant and equipment.
Interim revaluations are conducted between comprehensive revaluations where cumulative changes to indicators suggest fair value may differ materially from carrying
value. The Trust uses an external professionally qualified valuer to conduct interim revaluations. For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Trust's land holdings, building and
infrastructure system assets were revalued using an indexation based on movement in relevant prices in the past 12 months.
Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost as an approximation of fair value. The Trust has assessed that any difference
between fair value and depreciated historical cost is unlikely to be material.
For other assets valued using other valuation techniques, any balances of accumulated depreciation at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited to the
asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or decrements.
Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to revaluation surplus in equity. However, to the extent that an increment reverses a
previously recognised decrement for the same class of assets, ie. a loss in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as a gain in the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as a loss in the net result, except to the extent that it offsets an existing revaluation surplus of the same class of
assets, in which case, the decrement is debited directly to the revaluation surplus.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

12.

LEASES

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of non-current asset, but not otherwise.

(a)

Trust as a lessee

When revaluing non-current assets using the cost approach, the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation are separately restated. Where the income
approach or market approach is used, accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued
amount of the asset.

The Trust only has motor vehicles leases. The lease contracts are typically for fixed periods between one to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. The Trust does not provide residual value guarantees in relation to leases.

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is being disposed of, any balance remaining in the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is transferred to
accumulated funds.

The Trust does not have any short-term leases or low value leases.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year end.

The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of Financial position:

(viii) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
As a not-for-profit entity, impairment under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets is unlikely to arise. As property, plant and equipment is carried at fair value, impairment can
only arise in the rare circumstances where the costs of disposal are material. Specifically, impairment is unlikely for not-for-profit entities given that AASB 136 modifies the
recoverable amount test for non-cash generating assets of not-for-profit entities to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and depreciated replacement cost, where
depreciated replacement cost is also fair value.
The Trust assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required, the Trust estimates the asset recoverable amount. When the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
As a not for-profit entity, an impairment loss is recognised in the net result to the extent the impairment loss exceeds the amount in the revaluation surplus for the class of
asset.
Description of asset classes
- Land
Land comprising Royal Botanic Garden Sydney & Domain, the Australian Botanic Garden Mt Annan and Blue Mountains Botanic Garden Mt Tomah totalling 731.9
Hectares was independently valued by E Ferdinands AAPI (Val). The valuation was formulated on the basis of market buying price or the best available market evidence
where market prices cannot be observed. The valuation is dated 31 March 2021.
- Buildings and Infrastructure system - Other
Valuation of building and infrastructure systems (including Farm Cove Sea Wall, roads, landscaping and fences) was independently undertaken by Gregory C. Rowe
B.Bus. FAPI Certified Practicing Valuer on 31 March 2021. The basis of valuation was depreciated replacement cost other than heritage assets which are valued at
replacement cost.
- Domain Car Park
Valuation of the Domain Multi Storey Car Park was independently undertaken by Gregory C. Rowe B.Bus. FAPI Certified Practicing Valuer under a methodology using an
income approach with secondary support for the value provided by a market approach. The valuation is dated 31 March 2021.

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

2021
$'000
514
(158)
356

2020
$'000
411
(89)
322

111
249
360

95
230
325

Lease liabilities
The following table presents liabilities under leases:

The liabilities can be broken into:
Current Lease Liabilities
Non Current Lease Liabilities
Balance at end of period

The following amounts were recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021 in respect of leases where the Trust is the lessee:
2021
2020
$'000
$'000
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Total amount recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

110
4
114

110
5
115

Recognition and measurement
The Trust assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
The Trust recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets

- Collection Assets
The Herbarium consists of 1.440 million specimens. There are 0.781 million specimens databased with the remaining 0.658 million yet to be databased, which makes it a
complex and difficult asset to value. An independent valuation of the Herbarium was carried out as at 30 June 2018 by James Munroe BComm, AAPI, MPINA Certified
Practising Valuer using a recollection cost approach. The valuer was provided with a stratification of the Herbarium by broad geographic areas sourced from the database
with the stratification of the remaining specimens derived from a sampling and statistical methodology developed by an external consultant. Recollection costs were then
applied based on the cost to recollect in the field plus processing costs on the assumption that the Herbarium would be fully recollected. A premium was added to type
specimens to reflect the additional time of scientific staff to elevate a specimen to a type. This methodology explicitly recognises that the value obtained does not reflect its
historic or cultural significance, the value of the specimens for evolutionary history nor genetic value embodied in the Herbarium which, as an example, includes
specimens collected during Captain Cook’s voyage to Australia in 1770. The digitisation of the Herbarium will confirm specimen population and enhance stratification of
the database leading to adjustments of some valuation inputs in future years. The valuation is dated 31 March 2018 and has been updated by applying indexation to 31
March 2021.

i. Right-of-use assets
The Trust recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are initially
measured at the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability (refer ii below), adjusted by any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and
lease incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
• Plant and equipment which has an useful life between 4 to 10 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Trust at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using
the estimated useful life of the asset.

The Seed Collections consists of 12,230 accessions (each accession is a packet of seeds) and which comprise more than a 100 million seeds. An independent valuation
of the seed collection was carried out as at 30 June 2019 by, Cameron Dunsford BBus FAPI (P&M) MRICS SPINZ Chartered Valuer using a recollection cost approach.
The valuer was provided with a stratification of the Seed Collection by broad geographic areas sourced from the database. Recollection costs were then applied based on
the cost to recollect in the field plus processing costs on the assumption that the Seed Collection would be fully recollected.

ii. Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Trust recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. Lease
payments include:

The valuer took into account the viability of the seeds in the collection i.e. the possibility that over time a seed may decline in viability to the point where it was not capable
of germination. The valuer made no adjustment for this factor on the basis that:
• A significant part of the collection consists of species that are known to have a long storage lifespan.
• Whilst the pre 2000 collection was processed/dried under less stringent conditions and stored at 5°C, testing indicates high viability rates.
• If seeds are found not to be viable they are usually retained in the collection on the basis that future advances such as DNA extraction could be available.

• fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;
• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees;
• exercise price of a purchase options reasonably certain to be exercised by the Trust; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Trust exercising the option to terminate.

The valuation is dated 30 Jun 2019 and has been updated by applying indexation to 31 March 2021.
A comprehensive valuation of the Trust's Library, Artwork and Heritage Furniture Collection was conducted by Peter Tinslay NCJV (Fine Arts Division) and Helen Miller
BA SYD AVAA CPV NCJV (Fine Arts Division) Certified Practicing Valuer as at 31 March 2021. The valuation basis used was a comparable sales approach.
The valuation basis used was a comparable sales approach.
- Work in progress
Included in property, plant and equipment are the following amounts of work in progress which will not commence to be depreciated until construction is completed or the
items are installed ready for use:
2021
$'000
33,539
1,270
11,769
9
46,587

Buildings
Plant and equipment
Infrastructure systems - roads, fences, gates and underground services
Collections
Total

Page 18

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for the Trust’s leases,
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Trust would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
Interest on lease liabilities is included in Finance costs.

2020
$'000
4,409
1,109
9,777
15,295
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12.

LEASES (continued)

(b)

Trust as a lessor

14.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Trust leases properties to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease payments for some contracts include CPI increases, but there are no
other variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate.

When measuring fair value, the valuation technique used maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable inputs. Under AASB
13, the Trust categorises, for disclosure purposes, the valuation techniques based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

Although the Trust is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of current leases, the Trust typically enters into new operating leases and therefore will not
immediately realise any reduction in residual value at the end of these leases. Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in the fair value of the
properties.
The Trust does not have any finance leases.

(i) Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets / liabilities that the Trust can access at the measurement date.
(ii) Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
(iii) Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Lessor for operating leases
(a)

Future minimum rentals receivable (undiscounted) under non-cancellable operating lease as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 are, as follows:

Future minimum lease payments receivable
Within one year
One to two years
Two to three years
Three to four years
Four to five years
Later than five years
Total (excluding GST)

Fair value hierarchy
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Note 11)

The Trust has entered into a number of agreements whereby land and buildings owned by the Trust are leased to third parties for the purpose of operating various
commercial enterprises. The term of these agreements run from one to twenty-one years. COVID-19 has had an adverse impact on a number of the Trust's tenants who
continue to seek modifications to their existing lease terms. The following table represents current contracted terms however discussions with tenants remain ongoing,

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

6,804
6,876
6,994
7,070
7,316
51,230
86,290

7,121
7,290
7,512
7,131
7,086
56,500

2021
Land and Building
Infrastructure Systems
Collection Assets
Total

Level 1
$'000
-

Level 2
$'000
321,362
23,746
345,108

Level 3
$'000
90,834
87,738
362,468
541,040

Total fair
value
$'000
412,196
87,738
386,214
886,148

Level 1
$'000
-

Level 2
$'000
311,711
22,395
334,106

Level 3
$'000
84,477
86,231
359,177
529,885

Total fair
value
$'000
396,188
86,231
381,572
863,991

There were no transfers between Level 1 or 2 during the period.
2020
Land and Building
Infrastructure Systems
Collection Assets
Total

92,640

There were no transfers between Level 1 or 2 during the periods.

Recognition and measurement - lessor for operating leases

Level 2 Measurements

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.
13.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Land
Land has been valued using the market approach. The rates per square metre of land sold for open space purposes have been directly compared to the subject property
having regard to matters such as heritage restrictions, zoning, location, topography, aspect, frontage, size, shape, date of contract execution and current market
condition.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

2021
$'000
4,560
(401)
4,159

2020
$'000
3,185
(243)
2,942

Reconciliation
Net carrying amount at beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Impairment losses
Amortisation expense
Net carrying amount at end of period

2,942
1,686
(17)
(212)
(239)
4,159

2,324
818
(200)
2,942

Recognition and Measurement

Collections
Refer to the table in part b below for the description of the collections valuation approach.
(b)

Valuation techniques, inputs and processes
Asset class

Valuation Technique

Comments

Land

Market

Based on market evidence for Open Space land

Income

Derived from the direct comparison method and capitalisation of rental income.

Cost

These assets include heritage buildings, scientific buildings and other assets of a
specialised nature which do not trade in the market place. They are valued under
the cost approach based on actual cost information on more recent assets and
by utilising available costing guides to determine value based on the size and
condition of the relevant asset. It is difficult to comment definitively on quantitative
information given the diversity of the asset base.

Cost

Based on depreciated replacement costs based on their condition and structure.

- Level 2

Market

A number of statues and monuments, artwork, heritage furniture, rare books and
journals valued by comparing to known sales of similar assets.

- Level 3

Cost

Building
- Domain Car Park - Level 2

- Level 3

The Trust recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Trust and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Infrastructure - Level 3

All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only capitalised when certain criteria are met.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period.
Intangible assets are subsequently measured at fair value only if there is an active market. As there is no active market for the Trust's intangible assets, the assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Collections

A number of statues and monuments were based on depreciated replacement
costs and their condition and structure.
The Herbarium Specimen Collection is based on recollection cost and the inputs,
if varied, with the greatest sensitivity on the valuation are:

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is
reduced to recoverable amount and the reduction is recognised as an impairment loss. However, as a not-for-profit entity the Trust is unlikely to experience an
impairment loss (refer note 11(a)(viii)).
Useful lives of the Trusts intangible assets have been determined as follows:

Useful Life Years
2021
4
3 to 10

Computer Software
Other Intangible

*Stratification from a high collection cost to a low collection cost broad geographic
area (+50.0% change may result in a 2.9% decrement)

Useful Life Years

*Number of specimens collected per day (+25.0% change may result in a 13.0%
decrement)
*Specimen population size (+/- 10.0% change may result in a +/- 8.0%
movement)

2020
4
3 to 10

The Seed Collection was independently valued based on recollection cost and
the inputs, if varied, with the greatest sensitivity on the valuation are:
*Number of accessions collected per day (+25.0% change may result in a 15.0%
decrement)
*Number of accessions collected per day (-25.0% change may result in a 24.9%
increment)
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14.
(c)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS - (continued)

Fair value as at 1 July 2020
In kind contribution of assets
Revaluation (decrements)/increments recognised in other comprehensive income - included in line
item Net increase in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus
Transfer from Work in Progress
Depreciation expense
Fair value as at 30 June 2021

Year ended 30 June 2020
Fair value as at 1 July 2019
Disposals
Assets recognised first time
In kind contribution of assets
Revaluation increments recognised in other comprehensive income - included in line item Net
increase in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus
Transfer from Work in Progress
Depreciation expense
Fair value as at 30 June 2020

RESTRICTED ASSETS
Bequests
Grants & donations
- FACS Grant
- Capital grants & donations
- Other grants & donations
Total Restricted Assets

Building
$'000
84,477
-

Infrastructure
Systems
$'000
86,231
-

Collection
Assets
$'000
359,177
2,334

Total
Recurring
Level 3 Fair
Value
$'000
529,885
2,334

1,301
8,027
(2,971)
90,834

1,285
2,805
(2,583)
87,738

827
130
362,468

3,413
10,962
(5,554)
541,040

Building
$'000
82,481
(307)
4,322

Infrastructure
Systems
$'000
81,512
(249)
256
607

Collection
Assets
$'000
351,153
1,687

Total
Recurring
Level 3 Fair
Value
$'000
515,146
(556)
256
6,616

(1,298)
1,818
(2,539)
84,477

2,237
4,076
(2,208)
86,231

6,319
18
359,177

7,258
5,912
(4,747)
529,885

2021
$'000
2,777

2020
$'000
2,986

1,459
2,833
4,257
11,326

2,108
1,849
2,093
9,036

These contributions are held in cash, TCorp cash facilities and term deposits and are applied in accordance with the conditions stipulated on each of the contributions.
Bequests are applied to specific areas in accordance with the terms of the bequest.
Research grants are applied to areas of scientific endeavour sponsored by the grantors while other grants and donations are applied to various activities of the Trust as
stipulated by the contributors.
Department of Families and Community Services (FACS) provided a five year grant for the Community Greening Program to develop community gardens in public
housing estates and on unused public land.

CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PAYABLES

2021
$'000
8,444
10
355
8,809

Current Payables
Creditors
Personnel services
Accrued salaries
Total

Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements

As at 30 June 2021

15.

16.

2020
$'000
8,133
17,217
245
25,595

Personnel service payable includes outstanding payroll reimbursement to Department of Planning, Industry and Environment of $11,900 (2020: $17,195,000).
Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 25 Financial Instruments.
Recognition and Measurement
Payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Trust and other amounts. Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the
original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Payables are financial liabilities at amortised cost, initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs. These are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in the net result when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
17.

CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Employee benefits and related on costs
Annual Leave
Long Service Leave on-costs
Total
Current annual leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months

Reconciliation of aggregate employee benefits and related on-costs (refer to Notes 16 and 17)
Personnel services
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs
Provisions – current
Provisions - non-current
Total

2021
$'000
2,484
1,032
3,516

2020
$'000
2,123
975
3,098

226

193

10
355
3,423
93
3,881

17,217
245
3,020
78
20,560

Recognition and Measurement
(i) Salaries and Wages, Annual Leave and Sick Leave
Salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits) and paid sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the service are recognised and measured at undiscounted amounts of the benefits. These amounts were payable to Department of Planning, Industry
and Environment (refer to Note 1(a)).
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. As
such, it is required to be measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits . Actuarial advice obtained by Treasury has confirmed that the
nominal (undiscounted) annual leave balance plus the annual leave entitlements accrued while taking annual leave (calculated using 8.4% of the nominal value of annual
leave) can be used to approximate the present value of the annual leave liability. The Trust has assessed the actuarial advice based on the Trust’s circumstances and
has determined that the effect of discounting is immaterial to annual leave. All annual leave is classified as a current liability even where the Trust does not expect to
settle the liability within 12 months as the Trust does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement.
Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in
the future.
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17.

CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS - (continued)
(ii) Long Service Leave and Superannuation
The Trust’s liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the Crown Entity. The Trust accounts for the liability as having been
extinguished, resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as personnel services assumed by Crown Entity.
However, oncosts associated with long service leave remain with the Trust.
Long service leave is measured at present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided up to the reporting date. Consideration is given
to certain factors based on actuarial review, including expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of service. Expected
future payments are discounted using Commonwealth government bond rate at the reporting date.
The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the Treasurer’s Directions. The expense for certain superannuation
schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation
Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.
(iii) Consequential on-costs
Consequential costs to employment are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate have been recognised. This includes
outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax.

18.

CURRENT / NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - OTHER LIABILITIES

(a)

Current Other Liabilities
Liabilities under transfers to acquire or construct non-financial assets to be controlled by Trust

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

2,577
2,577

1,568
1,568

193
193

282
282

Reconciliation of financial assets and corresponding liabilities arising from
transfers to acquire or construct non-financial assets to be controlled by the
Trust

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Liabilities arising from transfers to acquire/construct non-financial assets to be
controlled by the Trust recognised upon initial application of AASB 1058

1,850

775

Add: receipt of cash during the financial year
Deduct: income recognised during the financial year
Closing balance of liabilities arising from transfers to acquire/construct nonfinancial assets to be controlled by the entity

1,414
(494)
2,770

1,227
(152)
1,850

Total
(b)

Non-Current Other Liabilities
Liabilities under transfers to acquire or construct non-financial assets to be controlled by Trust
Total

Refer to Note 3(d) for a description of the Trust's obligations under transfers received to acquire or construct non-financial assets to be controlled by the Trust. The trust
expects to recognise as income any liability for unsatisfied obligations 93% in 2020-2021 and the remaining in the future reporting periods thereafter, as the related
asset(s) are constructed/acquired.
19.

Equity
Recognition and Measurement
(i) Asset Revaluation Reserve
The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets. This accords with the Trust’s policy on the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment as discussed in note 11(a) (vii).
Separate reserve accounts are recognised in the financial statements only if such accounts are required by specific legislation or Australia Accounting Standards (e.g.
asset revaluation reserve).
(ii) Accumulated funds
The category 'Accumulated funds' includes all current and prior period retained funds.

20.

COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of goods contracted for at balance date and not provided for:
- Within one year
Total (including GST)

2021
$'000
18,784
18,784

2020
$'000
39,446
39,446

2021
$'000
82

2020
$'000
83

The total commitments above includes input tax credits of $1,708,000 (2020: $3,586,000) expected to be recoverable from the ATO.
21.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Audit Office of NSW - audit of financial statements*
* No other amounts were paid to the Audit Office of NSW
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

25.

The Trust’s principal financial instruments comprise financial assets (including cash and cash equivalents, current and non-current receivables, contract assets and term
deposits), and financial liabilities (including payables, current and non-current lease liabilities). All financial assets are held at 'Amortised cost' and all financial liabilities are
held as 'Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost'. These financial instruments arise directly from the Trust’s operations or are required to finance the Trust’s
operations. The Trust does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The loss allowance for rent receivables as at 30 June 2021 and 2020 was determined as follows:
30 June 2021
Rent receivable

The Trust's main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below, together with the Trust's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.
Further quantitative and qualitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

Current

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default
Expected credit loss

<30 days

>91 days

Total

936

81

59

85

1,428

2,589

(81)

(59)

(85)

(1,428)

(1,857)

30-60 days

61 to 90 days

>91 days

Total

2
(-)

22
(-)

1,540

30 June 2020
Current

It should be noted that prepayments and unearned revenue are not included as they are not considered to be financial instruments within the scope of AASB 7. While
contract assets are also not financial assets, they are explicitly included in the scope of AASB 7 for the purpose of the credit risk disclosures.
De-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the financial assets expire; or if the Trust transfers its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either:

<30 days

$000

Estimated total gross carrying amount at default

635

347

534

Expected credit loss

(48)

(48)

(48)

(144)

Included within current rent receivables above is $733,000 of receivables where tenants have negotiated deferred payment terms. Due to these amended terms
$183,000 of this amount is now classified as non-current rent receivables as it is due after one year but less than two years post year end.

* the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
* the Trust has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control.

The analysis above includes only rent receivables. The credit risk on the other receivable balances is not considered material.
Other financial assets - Term Deposits

When the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership. Where the Trust has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards or transferred control, the asset
continues to be recognised to the extent of the Trust’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Trust also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Trust has retained.

The Trust has placed funds on deposit with National Australia Bank (NAB) which has been rated A-1+ by Standard and Poor's. These deposits are similar to money
market or bank deposits and can be placed 'at call' or a fixed term. For fixed term deposits, the Term Deposits interest rate payable by both institutions are negotiated
initially and is fixed for the term of the deposit, while interest payable on at call deposits can vary. These deposits are considered to be low/negligible credit risk.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Trust could be required to repay.

The Trust does not expect any credit losses on this fixed term deposit and make no allowance for such loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the net result.
(b)

61 to 90 days

(204)

The Trust has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks. Risk
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Trust, to set risk limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is
reviewed by both management and Audit and Risk Committee on a continuous basis.

(a)

$000

30-60 days

(ii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due. The Trust manages risk through monitoring future cash flows. With
the exception of lease liabilities, the Trust had no loans or borrowings during the current or prior year. In this context, the Trust’s exposure to liquidity risk is considered to
be low.

Financial Risks
(i) Credit risks

Liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are
unsecured) are settled in accordance with the policy set out in NSW TC11/12. For small business suppliers, where terms are not specified, payment is made not later
than 30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice. For other suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month
following the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is not made within the specified time period, simple
interest must be paid automatically unless an existing contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person appointed by
the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple interest. No payment of this nature has been made during the reporting period.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Trust’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Trust. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is generally represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets (net of any allowance for impairment).
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Trust, including cash, receivables, authority deposits and bank term deposits. No collateral is held by the Trust. The Trust
has not granted any financial guarantees.
Credit risk associated with the Trust’s financial assets, other than receivables is managed through the selection of counterparties and establishment of minimum credit
rating standards. Authority deposits held with NSW TCorp are guaranteed by the State.

Financial liabilities as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 comprised accruals, creditors and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities are non-interest bearing and with the
exception of lease liabilities mature within less than one year.

Cash on hand and cash equivalents

(iii) Market risk - Interest rate risk

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances within the NSW Treasury Banking System. Interest is earned on restricted daily bank balances at the Reserve Bank
cash rate. Interest is not paid on unrestricted cash balances with the NSW Treasury Banking System. The TCorp cash facility is discussed in market risk below.

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. The Trust's exposures to market
risk is solely through interest rate risk on Cash and cash equivalents primarily in relation to Term deposits. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Receivables - Trade Receivables and Rent Receivables
Collectability of trade and rent receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Procedures as established in the Treasurer’s Directions are followed to recover outstanding
amounts, including letters of demand.

The following table details the effect of a reasonably possible change in interest rates on profit and equity based on risk exposures in existence at the Statement of
Financial Position reporting date and assumes that all other variables remain constant. A reasonably possible change in interest rates of +/- 1% has been used,
determined after taking into account current trends in interest rates.

The entity applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and rent receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and rent receivables are grouped based on shared credit characteristics and the days past due. Expected loss
rates are based on historical observed loss rates adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information affecting the ability of customers to settle the receivables.

-1.0%

Trade receivables and rent receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 90 days past due.

Net result
Equity

(c)

(297)
(297)

2021
$'000

+1.0%

-1.0%

297
297

(430)
(430)

2020
$'000

+1.0%
430
430

Fair value measurement
Fair value compared to carrying amount
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either In the principal market for the asset
or liability or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
Fair value recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
Management assessed that cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, other current liabilities and other non current receivables approximate their
fair values, largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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26.

RELATED PARTIES
The key management personnel (KMP) compensation is as follows:
2021
$'000
344
61
405

Short-term employee benefits:
Salaries
Trustee fees
Total Remuneration

2020
$'000
344
47
391

Prior to the establishment of Greater Sydney Parklands on 2 October 2020, '60% of the salaries paid to key management personnel above were allocated to the Trust
and the balance allocated to Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust. The Trust amount is included in the Personnel Services expenses as disclosed in note 2(a).

Based on advice provided by KMP's, and transactional reviews undertaken, the Trust did not enter into any transactions with key management personnel, their close
family members and any entities controlled or jointly controlled thereof during the year.
During the year, the Trust entered into transactions with other agencies that are controlled/jointly controlled/significantly influenced by the NSW Government. These
transactions are primarily in the form of fees for services, grants paid and received, provision of personnel services and corporate services, and are disclosed in notes
1(a), 2(a), 3(a), 3(d) and 3(e).
The Trust provided Horticultural support to Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust until 2 October 2020 following the establishment of the Greater Sydney Parklands.
Expenses relating to the services are recovered and disclosed as below and also included in notes 3(a).
Department of Planning. Industry and Environment provides corporate and specialist support to Trust. Expenses and provisions relating to these transactions are also
disclosed below and in notes 2(a) and 17.

Expenses
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment

2021
$'000

2020
$'000

Provide Personnel Services
Provide Shared Services

26,861
3,061

27,972
3,061

Provide horticultural contract labour
Capital Grant
Recurrent Grant

258
13,991
32,606

1,007
2,903
38,622

LSL and Super assumed by Crown

698

1,634

Amounts to be reimbursed to the Trust

23

-

Personnel services
Shared Service fees
Amounts to be reimbursed by the Trust

10
-

17,217
5,405
54

Notes

Nature

2(a)

3(a)
3(d)
3(d)
3(e)

Income
Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
Crown Entity
Receivable
Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust
Payable
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust
27.

16

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The continued uncertainty in relation to COVID-19 may have an adverse impact on both the operations and financial performance of the Trust for the twelve month period
to 30 June 2022.
Restrictions on community movement, inbound tourism and retail trading were reintroduced in NSW on 26 June 2021 in response to the COVID-19 outbreaks and have
had a significant impact upon the Trust, in particular property rental income and event revenue. The full impact of COVID-19 on the Trust’s future financial performance
continues to be uncertain.
On 13 August 2021, the Retail and Other Commercial Leases (COVID-19) Amendment Regulation 2021 (Amendment) was legislated in NSW requiring landlords to
renegotiate rent and other terms with eligible tenants impacted by COVID-19. Eligible tenants have a turnover of up to $50 million in the 2021 financial year and qualify for
one or more of the 2021 COVID-19 Micro-business Grant, the 2021 COVID-19 Business Grant or the 2021 JobSaver Payment, which includes a requirement to
demonstrate a revenue decline of 30 per cent or more. The Amendment requires landlords to renegotiate rent for the period from 13 July 2021 to 13 January 2022 where
requested by eligible tenants having regard to the National Cabinet’s Mandatory Code of Conduct (the Code), as well as prohibits landlords from increasing rent or taking
actions in relation to certain breach actions for eligible tenants. The Code requires landlords to provide relief in the form of rent waivers and rent payment deferral. The
relief is to reflect a proportionate sharing of the revenue impact experienced by the eligible tenant as a result of COVID-19, with at least 50 per cent of the relief in the form
of an abatement. With an implementation date of 13 July 2021, the Trust will assess any impact of this legislation on expected credit loss provisioning for the 12 month
period to 30 June 2022.
On 27 September 2021, the NSW Government released the ‘Roadmap to recovery’ that details the easing of restrictions once NSW hits the 80 per cent (aged 16 and
over) double dose vaccination target along with further changes from 1 December 2021. These changes will increase visitation of the Trust’s sites including restaurants,
cafes, events and school and community programs.
Other than disclosed in this note or elsewhere in this report, there has not arisen in the period between the end of the current financial year and the date of this report any
item, transaction or event of a material or unusual nature, likely, in the opinion of the Trustees, to affect significantly the operations, the results of operations, or the state
of affairs in future years of the Trust.

(END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)
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Principal legislation and legal matters

Trustees

The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust (the Trust) is a
statutory body established by the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain
Trust Act 1980 (the Act). The legislation defines the objects, powers
and functions of the Trust and its Board of Trustees and vests certain
land and property in the Trust.

Philip Marcus Clark AO (Chair)

The Act governs the regulations relating to all three Botanic Gardens
and the Domain under the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
Regulation 2020. The Regulation was remade under the Subordinate
Legislation Act on 1 September 2020.
There were no significant judicial decisions in 2020-21 affecting
the Trust.
There are no controlled entities or subsidiaries.

Corporate governance
The Trust is formally accountable to the Minister for Planning and
Public Spaces in fulfilling its statutory obligations. The Minister is
responsible for overseeing the management and policy direction of
the Trust. In meeting the Trust objects and setting a clear strategic
direction, Trustees are committed to best practice in corporate
governance.
In accordance with the Act, there are seven Trustees who are
appointed by the Governor on recommendation by the Minister.
All Trustees are independent non-executives, appointed in accordance
with Appointment Standards – Boards and Committees in the NSW
Public Sector.
The Trust has an Audit and Risk Committee which assists the Trust
in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, the
application of accounting policies, regulatory compliance and risk
control and management systems.
In February 2021, the Trust also established the Australian Institute
of Botanical Science Advisory Council to advise the Trust on matters
relating to the strategic direction, objectives and activities of the
Institute.

Philip was Managing Partner and CEO of Minter Ellison and worked
with that firm from 1995 until June 2005. Prior to joining Minter
Ellison, Philip was Director and Head of Corporate with ABN Amro
Australia and a Managing Partner of Mallesons Stephen Jaques.
Philip is a member of the JP Morgan Advisory Council and now serves
on a number of boards and advisory boards. His appointments include
listed and private companies, government and university boards.
His current roles include Chair of SCA Property Group (SCP),
Australian Antarctic Science Council, NSW Skills Board and NSW
Public Purpose Fund, a Director of Food Agility CRC and a Council
Member of Charles Sturt University. Philip has also worked with
various organisations in the not-for-profit sector.
He was appointed as a Member in the General Division of the
Order of Australia in 2007 for his contribution to the development
of national law firms and encouraging corporate involvement in
community programs, and was appointed as an Officer of the Order
of Australia in 2019 for distinguished service to education, research
and infrastructure investment and to the not-for-profit sector.
Appointed: 11 July 2018
Position Expiry: 1 November 2023

Penelope Diamantakiou

Tony Pearson

Penny is an accomplished corporate executive with 20-plus years
of experience extending across multiple sectors including digital
media, e-commerce, broadcast, telecommunications, manufacturing,
government and professional services. She is a transformative and
visionary leader experienced in spearheading whole-of-company
turnarounds and driving executive vision with a view to delivering to
the bottom line. Penny has extensive experience in both B2B and B2C
business models with a strong passion to leverage digital technology,
customer data and insights to transform the future of business.
Penny has operated in highly complex multinational environments
with corporate ownership structures extending across ASX-listed
companies, US global multinationals, wholly owned subsidiaries and
Asian and US operated headquarters.

Tony is an experienced strategic and financial advisor, with a career
of over 20 years across banking, corporate, infrastructure funds
management, regulatory and board roles. He is currently Chair of ASX
listed Peak Resources, ASX listed Cellnet, and a non-executive director
of ASX listed Xanadu Mines, as well as a non-executive director of
Communicare and the Foundation & Friends of the Botanic Gardens.

Penny was a winner of the 2015 Telstra Women’s Business Awards
NSW (Corporate & Private). She is a graduate of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors (GAICD), holds an MBA from the
University of Adelaide where she earned Dean’s List and Top Law
Student accolades (Norman Waterhouse annual achievement). She
also holds a Graduate Diploma in Management, is a FCPA and has a
Bachelor of Economics majoring in Accountancy.
Appointed: 5 September 2018
Position Expiry: 1 November 2023
Mark Fleming

Giselle Collins
Giselle is a company Director with significant executive experience in
property, tourism and financial services. Giselle has previously chaired
the boards of Aon Superannuation Pty Ltd (as Trustee for Aon Master
Trust), the Travelodge Hotel Group and the Heart Research Institute,
and served on the boards of Big4 Holiday Parks, Minjerribah Camping
and the Royal Australian Institute of Architects.
She is currently Chair of Darwin Hotel as nominee for Indigenous
Business Australia. Giselle also sits on the ASX listed boards of Hotel
Property Investments Limited (HPI), Peak Resources Limited (PEK)
and Cooper Energy Limited (COE). She also sits on the board of
APRA regulated subsidiary of GDG being Generation Life.
Giselle has a Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of
Sydney and a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance & Investments
from the Securities Institute of Australia. Giselle is a Graduate
Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and
New Zealand.
Giselle is also member of the Advisory Council of the Australian
Institute of Botanical Science (AIBS) as nominated by the RBGT.
Appointed: 1 January 2019
Position Expiry: 1 January 2024

Mark is an experienced finance executive, with over 25 years’
experience in investment banking and senior finance roles for major
ASX listed companies. Mark is currently Chief Financial Officer and an
Executive Director of SCA Property Group, an ASX200 listed A-REIT
and the largest owner of convenience-based shopping centres in
Australia.
Previously, Mark was the Chief Financial Officer of Treasury Wine
Estates and prior to that held senior finance roles with Woolworths
Group Limited, including General Manager Supermarkets Finance
and General Manager Corporate Finance. Prior to these corporate
roles Mark was an investment banker, advising companies both in
Australia and overseas in relation to mergers, acquisitions and capital
raisings. Mark has Law and Economics (honours) degrees from the
University of Sydney.
Appointed: 31 October 2018
Position Expiry: 31 October 2025
Distinguished Professor Michelle Leishman
Michelle is an internationally recognised scientist with research
interests in plant ecology, plant conservation biology, climate change
adaptation and urban greening. She is a highly cited scientist with
over 170 published papers and book chapters. Michelle has previously
served as the Chair of the NSW Scientific Committee, Deputy
Director of the Biodiversity Node of the NSW Adaptation Hub and
member of the Australian Research Council College of Experts.
She currently serves as a Councillor of the Australian Flora Foundation
and as a Director of Bush Heritage Australia. She is the Director of
Macquarie University’s Smart Green Cities and leads a consortium
of researchers and industry on the Which Plant Where project to
facilitate climate-smart species selection for urban greening.
Appointed: 11 January 2017
Position Expiry: 31 December 2024

Tony was recently a Commissioner at the Independent Planning
Commission, and held non-executive positions with Regnan,
International Grammar School and Aspire Mining. He was previously
a Managing Director at HSBC, and prior to this held various senior
executive roles with SouthGobi Resources and the Australian
Securities & Investments Commission. Tony has been admitted as a
Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and holds a
B Comm (with Merit) from the University of NSW.
Appointed: 5 September 2018
Position Expiry: 31 December 2024
Debra Townsend
Debra is a Partner at King Wood Mallesons law firm specialising in
environment and planning. Debra has over 30 years’ experience
in both litigation and commercial property work, and significant
experience acting for State government entities and private land
owners on matters including land acquisition for road and rail
projects, heritage, biodiversity conservation, water and wastewater,
major infrastructure projects, planning and environmental approvals,
contaminated land, enforcement and compliance issues, waste and
liability issues.
Debra also advises on governance, conflicts, pecuniary interest and
code of conduct issues. Debra holds both Bachelor of Laws and
Bachelor of Science degrees from the University of NSW.
Appointed: 28 November 2018
Position Expiry: 31 October 2025

Audit & Risk Committee
The former integrated Audit & Risk Committee (ARC) for the former
Botanic Gardens and Centennial Parklands organisation ceased
operating in July 2020, as part of the decoupling of management
responsibilities for the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust and
the Centennial Park and Moore Park Trust.
In compliance with NSW Treasury Guidelines, an ARC was established
for the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust to replace the
integrated committee that had been in operation since 2015.
The present members of the ARC are also Trustees.

90

91

A N N UA L R E P O R T 2 02 0 -21
R OYA L B O TA N I C G A R D E N S A N D D O M A I N T R U S T

Australian Institute of
Botanical Science Advisory Council
Prior to the global launch of the Australian Institute of Botanical
Science in March 2021, the Trust established the Australian Institute
of Botanical Science Advisory Council (AIBSAC) in January 2021.

APPENDICES

Meetings of Trustees and committees

Internal audit and risk management

The number of meetings of the Trustees, the ARC and the AIBSAC
held in the year ended 30 June 2021, and the number of meetings
attended by each Trustee, ARC and AIBSAC member are as follows:

Internal Audit and Risk Management Attestation Statement for 2020-2021

Number of
meetings
attended

The AIBSAC was established to advise the Trust on matters relating to
the strategic direction, objectives and activities of the Institute with
a view to creating collaborative opportunities and ensuring that the
scientific, education and other relevant programs of the Trust are at
the forefront of national and international initiatives in plant science
and conservation, living collection management relating to the
conservation of plants, and science, technology, engineering,
and mathematics (STEM) education and learning.

Number
of meetings
held*

Trustees

We, the Trustees, are of the opinion that the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust has internal audit and risk management processes in
operation that are, excluding the exceptions or transitional arrangements described below, compliant with the seven (7) Core Requirements
set out in the Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy for the General Government Sector, specifically:

Core Requirements
Risk Management Framework
1.1	The Accountable Authority shall accept ultimate responsibility and accountability for risk
management in the agency.

Compliant

1.2	The Accountable Authority shall establish and maintain a risk management framework that
is appropriate for the agency. The Accountable Authority shall ensure the framework is
consistent with AS ISO 31000:2018.

Compliant

Philip Marcus Clark
(Chair)

10

10

Giselle Collins

10

10

Penelope Diamantakiou

10

10

Mark Fleming

10

10

8

10

2.1	The Accountable Authority shall establish and maintain an internal audit function that is
appropriate for the agency and fit for purpose.

Compliant

Michelle Leishman
Tony Pearson

10

10

2.2	The Accountable Authority shall ensure the internal audit function operates consistent
with the International Standards for Professional Practice for Internal Auditing.

Compliant

Debra Townsend

9

10

2.3	The Accountable Authority shall ensure the agency has an Internal Audit Charter that is
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’.

Compliant

Number of
meetings
attended

Number
of meetings
held*

Mark Fleming (Chair)

5

Ian Breedon

4

Audit and Risk Committee
Compliant

5

3.2	The Accountable Authority shall ensure the Audit and Risk Committee has a Charter that is
consistent with the content of the ‘model charter’.

Compliant

4

Membership

Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
Financial Statements

Internal Audit Function

3.1	The Accountable Authority shall establish and maintain efficient and effective
arrangements for independent Audit and Risk Committee oversight to provide advice
and guidance to the Accountable Authority on the agency’s governance processes,
risk management and control frameworks, and its external accountability obligations.

ARC Members

Adam Boyton for the year ended230 June 2021

2

Penelope Diamantakiou

1

1

John Hunter

4

4

The independent chair and members of the Audit and Risk Committee for the 2020-21 Financial Year were:
Position

Pursuant to Part 7.6 of the Government Sector Finance Act 2018 , we state that:

Independent Chair

(a) the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordanceIndependent
with Australian
Member
specified by the Act, the regulations or the
Tony Pearson Accounting Standards1 and any other requirements
1
Independent Member
Treasurer's directions.
(b) the statements
exhibit of
a true and fair
view of the financial position, and theIndependent
financial
Chair
Number
Number
performance and cash flows of the year then ended; and

meetings
of meetings
Independent Member
*
attended
held
we are not aware of any circumstances
that would render any particulars included in the

(c)
financial statements to be materially misleading or inaccurate.

Independent Member

AIBSAC Members

2

2

Linda Broadhurst

2

2

Giselle Collins

2

2

Richard Nun#

2

2

Trust Chairman

2

*	Number of meetings held during the time the Trustee held office or was a member of the
committee during the year
Term commenced or expired during the period

Name

Start term date

Finish term date

31 October 2018

31 October 2025

Penelope Diamantakiou

25 February 2021

1 November 2023

Tony Pearson#

25 February 2021

31 December 2024

Ian Breedon^

21 August 2017

25 February 2021

Adam Boyton

29 November 2018

27 September 2020

John Hunter

29 November 2018

25 February 2021

Mark Fleming*#
#

* Appointed as Independent Chair effective from 1 March 2021

Michelle Leishman
(Chair)

Graham Ross Philip Marcus Clark AO
2

#

Compliant, non-compliant,
or in transition

#

Trustee

^

Chair of the ARC

Mark Fleming
Trustee

In accordance with a resolution of the Trustees
of the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
7 October 2021

Agency Contact Officer:
Daniel Rockett
Chief Audit Executive
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Cyber security

Workplace safety

Information access and privacy

Consumer responses

Cyber Security Annual Attestation for 2020-2021

The Trust is committed to ensuring the safety of everyone, including
employees, contractors, visitors and tourists. The Trust operates
under the requirements of SafeWork NSW.

Standing Order 52

76 written complaints/suggestions were received by the Trust.

I, Denise Ora, Chief Executive, am of the opinion that the Royal
Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust have an Information Security
Management System in place via the Department of Planning,
Industry and Environment (DPIE) Cluster Corporate Services and
have managed cyber security risks in a manner consistent with
the Mandatory Requirements set out in the NSW Government
Cyber Security Policy and in alignment with DPIE’s enterprise risk
management framework.
Governance is in place to manage the cyber security maturity and
initiatives of DPIE.
Risks to the information and systems of DPIE have been assessed and
are managed.
There exists a current cyber incident response plan for DPIE which
has been tested during the reporting period.
The DPIE Cluster Corporate Services has maintained certified
compliance with ISO 27001 Information technology - Security
techniques - Information security management systems –
Requirements by an Accredited Third Party (BSI) during the
2020/2021 financial year (Certificate Number: IS 645082).
The DPIE Cluster Corporate Services has a Cyber Security Strategy in
place to ensure continuous improvement and management of cyber
security governance and resilience.

Denise Ora
Chief Executive
Royal Botanic Gardens
and Domain Trust
9 September 2021

There were 32 near misses and incidents reported in 2020-21
involving staff, volunteers and contractors.
There were 67 incidents resulting in injury. Body stressing accounted
for 34% of the incidents, with slips, trips and falls accounting for 19%
and hitting objects with a part of the body also 19%.
During the period there was one incident notifiable by the Trust to
SafeWork NSW. No infringement penalties or improvements notices
were imposed.

Insurance
The Trust insurance coverage is held with the NSW Treasury
Managed Fund and includes policies for workers compensation,
public liability, directors and officers liability, and motor vehicle,
property and miscellaneous insurance.

Ethics and integrity

During the reporting period, the NSW Legislative Council did not
compel the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust to produce
any documents.

13

Rangers, fines and enforcement

12

Asset maintenance

12

Events and bookings

8

Wildlife and environmental issues

6

Dogs, cyclists and cars

4

Green maintenance

3

Privacy

Education programs

2

Under Clause 6 of the Annual Reports (Departments) Regulation
2010, the Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust must provide
a statement of its actions to comply with the requirements of the
Privacy and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 (PPIP Act).
It must also provide statistical details of any reviews conducted by
or on behalf of the Department, under Part 5 of the PPIP Act.

Other

16

Public access to information
The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust has delegated its
functions under section 9 of the Government Information (Public
Access) Act 2009 (GIPA Act) to the Information Access and Privacy
Unit of the NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment.
Therefore, all statistical information about access applications
required to be included in an annual report regarding the Trust,
in compliance with s125 of the Government Information (Public
Access) Act 2009 and Clause 8 of the Government Information
(Public Access) Regulation 2018, is included in the annual report
for the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment.

The Trust complies with the Privacy Management Plan for the
Department of Planning, Industry and Environment. The Plan
outlines how the Department and is cluster agencies comply
with the principles of the PPIP Act and the Health Records and
Information Privacy Act 2002. Officers in the Department’s
Information Access & Privacy unit also provide specialist
privacy advice and training to departmental cluster staff.

The Code underpins the Department’s compliance framework,
which was supported by:

In 2020-21, the Trust received no applications for review under
Part 5 of the PPIP Act.

• T
 he new Ethics Portal which manages declarations concerning
conflicts of interest, code of ethics and conduct, senior executive
private interests, and gifts, benefits and hospitality, as well as
approvals of secondary employment

Access and external complaints

• t he Public Interest Disclosures Policy and Procedure
(which includes access to an anonymous reporting tool)
• the Lobbying of Government Officials Policy
• t raining and resources to assist with the management of ethics
related workplace issues.
The Department worked in collaboration with the NSW
Ombudsman to ensure a robust framework that supports staff to
raise workplace concerns and make reports of wrongdoing.

2020-21

Restaurants and other third-party operators

In 2020-21, the Department launched the Ethics Portal in which
provides an on-line, centralised and up-to-date resource for all
employees to declare and comply with their obligations under
the Code of Ethics and Conduct (the Code). In its development
the Ethics Branch undertook comprehensive consultation and
engagement with all the business units within the Cluster to ensure
the Ethics Portal was both accessible and relevant to the compliance
needs to all employees across the Department. The Ethics Portal
has strengthened reporting capabilities to ensure the Department is
committed to the highest standards of ethical conduct and integrity.

• the Fraud and Corruption Control Framework and Policy

Topic

Feedback, questions and external complaints can be submitted to:
The Royal Botanic Gardens and Domain Trust
Mrs Macquaries Road
Sydney NSW 2000, Australia
Ph: (02) 9231 8111
Email: feedback@rbgsyd.nsw.gov.au

The Trust welcomes feedback on our sites and services, and views
constructive feedback on our performance as an opportunity to
improve the service we offer every day, in line with our Customer
Charter. During 2020-21, customer feedback was key to informing
our response to the changing conditions brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic.
If complaints about the Trust are received through DPIE Feedback
Assist platform, they will be managed under the Department’s complaint
handling process and will be included in the Department’s statistical
information.
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Number of officers and employees

Multicultural Plan and Disability Inclusion Action Plans

Numbers of employees as at 30 June

2020-21

2019-20

189

222

Temporary

41

40

Casual

15

32

7

6

252

300

Ongoing

Executive
Total

All Multicultural Plan and Disability Inclusion Action Plan initiatives for the Trust now fall under the Department of Planning, Industry and
Environment and will be reported in its annual report.

Workforce diversity
All Workforce Diversity strategies and achievements for the Trust now fall under the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment
and will be reported in the DPIE Annual Report 2020-21.

Trends in the Representation of Workforce Diversity Groups
Workforce Diversity Group

Senior executives
Numbers and remuneration
of senior executives
as at 30 June
Band
Band 2 Executive Director

2020-21

2019-20

Female

Male

Total

Female

Male

Total

1

0

1

1

0

1

Benchmark

2019

2020

2021

Women

50%

45.0%

47.0%

48.1%

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People

3.3%

2.6%

2.4%

3.7%

People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English

23.2%

13.6%

14.1%

13.9%

People with Disability

5.6%

3.7%

4.1%

3.7%

People with Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment

N/A

0.9%

0.9%

1.1%

Note 1:

The benchmark of 50% for representation of women across the sector is intended to reflect the gender composition of the NSW community.

Band 1 Director

3

3

6

3

2

5

Note 2:	The NSW Public Sector Aboriginal Employment Strategy 2014-17 introduced an aspirational target of 1.8% by 2021 for each of the sector’s salary bands. If the aspirational target of 1.8%
is achieved in salary bands not currently at or above 1.8%, the cumulative representation of Aboriginal employees in the sector is expected to reach 3.3%.

Total

4

3

7

4

2

6

Note 3:	A benchmark from the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) Census of Population and Housing has been included for People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English.
The ABS Census does not provide information about first language, but does provide information about country of birth. The benchmark of 23.2% is the percentage of the NSW
general population born in a country where English is not the predominant language.
Note 4:	In December 2017 the NSW Government announced the target of doubling the representation of people with disability in the NSW public sector from an estimated 2.7% to 5.6%
by 2027. More information can be found at: Jobs for People with Disability: A plan for the NSW public sector. The benchmark for ‘People with Disability Requiring Work-Related
Adjustment’ was not updated.

Average remuneration
of senior executives
as at 30 June
Band

2020-21
Range

2019-20

Average Remuneration

Range

Average Remuneration

$345,528

$274,701-$345,550

$345,528

$241,920

$192,600-$274,700

$240,171

Trends in the Distribution Index for Workforce Diversity Groups
Benchmark
Distribution Index

2019

2020

2021

Women

100

106

105

105

7.2% of the Trust’s employee-related expenditure in 2020-21 was related to Senior Executives (2019-20: 4.3%)

Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander People

100

N/A

N/A

N/A

Exceptional movements in wages, salaries or allowances were Nil in 2020-21 (2019-20: Nil)

People whose First Language Spoken as a Child was not English

100

100

102

102

People with a Disability

100

N/A

N/A

N/A

People with a Disability Requiring Work-Related Adjustment

100

N/A

N/A

N/A

Band 2 Executive Director
Band 1 Director

$231,572 - $252,102

Workforce Diversity Group

Note 1:	A Distribution Index score of 100 indicates that the distribution of members of the Workforce Diversity group across salary bands is equivalent to that of the rest of the workforce.
A score less than 100 means that members of the Workforce Diversity group tend to be more concentrated at lower salary bands than is the case for other staff. The more pronounced
this tendency is, the lower the score will be. In some cases, the index may be more than 100, indicating that members of the Workforce Diversity group tend to be more concentrated at
higher salary bands than is the case for other staff.
Note 2:	The Distribution Index is not calculated when the number of employees in the Workforce Diversity group is less than 20 or when the number of other employees is less than 20.
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Payment of accounts

Accounts paid on time – small suppliers

Payments to all suppliers
Quarter $’000

Measure

September

December

Mar

Jun

Number of accounts
due for payment

77

81

88

131

43

34

31

30

By due date

Less than 30
days overdue

Between 30 and 60
days overdue

Between 61 and 90
days overdue

More than 90
days overdue

September

37,332

654

140

70

59

Number of accounts paid on time

December

13,475

640

197

74

88

56%

42%

35%

23%

March

23,122

1,250

370

56

195

Actual percentage of accounts paid
on time (based on number
of accounts)

June

39,095

4,806

195

393

333

Accounts due for payment
‘000

$422

$274

$534

$850

Accounts paid on time
‘000

$263

$171

$205

$156

Actual percentage of accounts
paid on time (based on $)

62%

62%

38%

18%

Number of payments for
interest on overdue accounts

-

-

-

-

Interest paid on overdue accounts

-

-

-

-

Payments to small business suppliers
Quarter $’000

By due date

Less than 30
days overdue

Between 30 and 60
days overdue

Between 61 and 90
days overdue

More than 90
days overdue

September

263

122

0

6

31

December

171

58

5

13

27

March

205

255

12

15

46

Accounts due for payment
‘000

-

-

-

-

June

156

393

203

37

60

Accounts paid on time
‘000

-

-

-

-

Payment performance in 2020-21 was affected by slower IT network performance due to most staff in government working from home and the
increase in the volume of transactions reflecting NSW Government stimulus measures.

Accounts paid on time – all suppliers
Measure

September

December

Mar

Jun

Number of accounts
due for payment

1,760

1,921

2,179

3,271

Number of accounts paid on time

1,450

1,640

1,762

2,619

Actual percentage of accounts
paid on time (based on number
of accounts)

82%

85%

81%

80%

Accounts due for payment
‘000

$38,255

$39,179

$38,525

$38,384

Accounts paid on time
‘000

$37,332

$13,475

$23,122

$39,095

98%

34%

60%

102%

Number of payments for
interest on overdue accounts

-

-

-

-

Interest paid on overdue accounts

-

-

-

-0

Accounts due for payment
‘000

$38,255

$39,179

$38,525

$38,384

Accounts paid on time
‘000

$37,332

$13,475

$23,122

$39,095

Actual percentage of accounts
paid on time (based on $)

Investment performance
Annual compound rate of return

2020-21

Treasury Corporation cash facility

0.10%

Bank term deposits

0.71%

Benchmarks

2020-21

Treasury Corporation cash facility

0.10%

RBA Cash Rate

0.10%
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Funds granted to non-government community organisations

Engagements less than $50,000

The Trust made no grants to non-government community organisations.

Nature/Type

Major projects
In 2020-21 we continued to deliver a diverse range of projects funded by NSW Government, the Trust and other external funding sources.

Project

2020-21

Construction of the new National Herbarium of New South Wales at the
Australian Botanic Garden Mount Annan Year 3 of 5

$30,245,856

Capitalised Asset Maintenance Program

$2,605,019

COVID-19 Stimulus project funding

$5,455,000

Tarpeian Precinct Heritage Safety Works Stage 1 of 2

$2,250,000

Minor Works funding for IT, plant and equipment fleet renewals

$1,379,000

Total of all Major and Minor Capital Works

$41,934,875

2020-21
$’000

Curation

1

3

Electrical

1

2

Environmental

1

50

Finance and accounting

2

55

Geotechnical

1

24

Heritage and archeological

1

16

Indigenous

2

17

Procurement

1

1

Transport engineering

1

16

Urban planning

1

11

Overseas travel

Consultants

There were nil overseas visits by employees and officers in the year ended 30 June 2021.

Engagements equal to or greater than $50,000
Nature/Type

No. of engagements

Consultant

2020-21
$’000

Finance and accounting

Castle Wyatt Consulting

117

Valuation

Preston Rowe Paterson

56

Business planning

SGS Economics and Planning

107

Annual report production costs
External costs incurred in the production of this annual report totalled $7,150.
This annual report may be accessed at: botanicgardens.org.au
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